Proton exchange membrane fuel cells: processes-materials-design in current trends

Andrey A. Belmesov,[®] Lyubov V. Shmygleva,[®] Alexander A. Baranov,[®] Alexey V. Levchenko[®]

Federal Research Center of Problems of Chemical Physics and Medicinal Chemistry, Russian Academy of Sciences,

prosp. Academica Semenova 1, 142432 Chernogolovka, Moscow Region, Russian Federation

Over the last decade, the potential of proton exchange membrane fuel cells (PEMFCs) for use in a range of applications, including automotive transport, has attracted the attention of scientific groups and industry representatives worldwide. The active development of PEMFCs is already enabling them to compete with internal combustion engines and lithium-ion batteries in a number of applications. However, significant improvements in a number of PEMFCs characteristics are required to expand the scope of their applications. This review is intended to bridge the gap between existing reviews, which are either overly general or overly specific, and provide a comprehensive overview of the current state of the art and potential future applications of PEMFCs. It will focus on the main components of PEMFCs,



including proton exchange membranes, catalytic and gas diffusion layers, bipolar plates, and cooling systems, and the factors affecting the PEMFC performance. The bibliography includes 428 references.

Keywords: fuel cell, PEMFC, hydrogen, proton exchange membrane, electrocatalyst, gas diffusion layer, bipolar plate, cooling system.

Contents

| 1. Introduction | 1 |
|--|----|
| 2. Operating principle of fuel cells. Proton exchange membrane fu | el |
| cells: types, design features | 2 |
| 2.1. Main operating principles | 2 |
| 2.2. Water balance | 4 |
| 2.3. Requirements for materials of proton exchange membrane fuel cells | 5 |
| 2.4. Types of proton exchange membrane fuel cells | 5 |
| 3. Materials for proton exchange membrane fuel cells | 7 |
| 3.1. Membrane materials | 7 |
| 3.1.1. Membrane materials for low temperature proton | 8 |
| exchange membrane fuel cells | |
| 3.1.2. Membrane materials for high temperature proton exchange membrane fuel cells | 9 |
| 3.2. Materials for electrocatalysts and catalytic layers | 10 |
| 3.2.1. Catalytic layers | 11 |
| 3.2.2. Cathodic catalysts | 12 |
| 3.2.3. Anodic electrocatalysts | 12 |
| 3.3. Gas diffusion layer materials | 14 |
| 3.4. Bipolar plate materials | 16 |
| 3.4.1. Composite bipolar plates | 16 |
| 3 4 2 Non-porous graphite bipolar plates | 16 |
| 3.4.3. Metal bipolar plates | 17 |
| ···· · r · · · · r | |

1. Introduction

In recent years, there has been a trend to reduce the consumption of carbon-containing fuels due to their negative impact on the environment and to switch to alternative energy sources. Renewable energy sources (in particular, solar or wind energy) can be used for a number of tasks, but insufficient power density

| 4. Influence of material properties and various factors | 17 |
|--|----|
| on current-voltage characteristics, efficiency and power | |
| of proton exchange membrane fuel cell | |
| 4.1. Proton exchange membrane resistance | 17 |
| 4.2. Catalytic layer properties | 17 |
| 4.3. Gas diffusion layer properties | 20 |
| 4.4. Operating temperature | 20 |
| 4.5. Temperature and humidity of input gases | 21 |
| 4.6. Gas pressure and stoichiometry | 22 |
| 5. Methods of cooling and air supply in proton exchange | 22 |
| membrane fuel cells | |
| 5.1. Open cathode channels. Air cooling | 24 |
| 5.2. Closed cathode channels | 24 |
| 5.2.1. Passive cooling | 25 |
| 5.2.2. Evaporative cooling | 25 |
| 5.2.3. Liquid cooling | 26 |
| 6. Conclusion | 26 |
| 7. List of abbreviations and symbols | 27 |
| 8. References | 28 |

prevents their use for transport, portable and mobile applications. For these purposes, internal combustion engine (ICE) systems and electrochemical devices such as batteries are actively used, but they are inferior to fuel cells (FCs) and power plants based on them in a number of parameters. FCs are one of the elements of the hydrogen energy technology, which has been actively developed and implemented in recent years.^{1–5} To date, FCs

have been developed in a wide power range, from a fraction of a watt to hundreds of kilowatts, and the scope of their application is gradually expanding due to improved technology and reduced cost.

There are various types of FCs. Due to the lack of a universal classification system for FCs, they are usually first classified according to the type of electrolyte. This feature makes it possible to distinguish the following main types of FCs: with proton exchange membrane (solid-polymer), solid oxide, alkaline, phosphoric acid and melt-carbonate. Secondly, the classification is made according to the type of fuel reagents used, such as hydrogen-air, alcohol, etc. In recent years, a significant number of articles have been published on the principles of operation, advantages and disadvantages of each of these devices, including reviews (e.g. publications $^{6-21}$). This review will not describe in detail all existing types of FCs. Instead, it will focus on hydrogen-air proton exchange membrane fuel cells (PEMFCs), also known as solid polymer fuel cells. PEMFCs are regarded as the most promising in terms of their application in various fields, including stationary (power plants, backup power sources, autonomous power supply)^{20,22-25} and transport (cars, buses, aviation, railway transport).19,25-33 Various global corporations are already commercially producing cars, trucks and buses using PEMFCs. The main advantages of PEMFCs over other types of FCs are as follows: high technology, relatively high lifetime, fast start-up, wide power scalability, and high specific power. Consequently, the specific power of the fuel cell stack (FCS) (without consideration of the coolant and associated equipment) in passenger cars exceeds 4 kW kg⁻¹.

Specific power and lifetime are among the key characteristics of PEMFCs. Despite large-scale developments in the field of PEMFCs, the required power of 5 kW kg^{-1} and lifetime of 50 000 hours for these devices have not yet been attained. These parameters are determined by the complex properties of each of the components that make up the PEMFCs, and therefore further research into efficient materials is required to achieve them.

Most existing reviews on PEMFCs are either too general (*e.g.* works^{32,34,35}) or too specialised (focusing on only one component of PEMFCs^{36,37} or, for example, on degradation mechanisms³⁸ or water balance³⁹). Furthermore, there is a lack of focus in the literature on the mutual influence of the material properties of the components, especially under different device operating conditions. This is an important factor for achieving the required PEMFC performance.

This review is designed to address a specific information gap. It collates and categorises information on all components and factors affecting the efficiency and lifetime of PEMFCs. The

A.A.Belmesov. PhD, Researcher at the Laboratory of Technologies of Materials and Devices of Electrochemical Energy Sources in the Federal Research Center of Problems of Chemical Physics and Medicinal Chemistry of the Russian Academy of Sciences.

E-mail: a.a.belmesov@icp.ac.ru

Current research interests: chemical current sources, fuel cells, electrode/electrolyte interface, catalysts for the electroreduction of oxygen and the electrooxidation of hydrogen and alcohols.

L.V.Shmygleva. PhD, Head of the Laboratory of Technologies of Materials and Devices of Electrochemical Energy Sources in Federal Research Center of Problems of Chemical Physics and Medicinal Chemistry of the Russian Academy of Sciences.

E-mail: shmygleva@icp.ac.ru

Current research interests: solid (including polymer) ion-conducting systems and their usage in electrochemical devices such as PEM fuel cells, metal-ion batteries and potentiometric sensors for hydrogen and carbon monoxide.

review will be of interest to a wide range of readers, including specialists in the field, early career scientists and industry representatives. It will provide a comprehensive overview of recent developments and help to understand future research directions.

This review does not address the degradation of PEMFC components, 'cold starts', the influence of mass and dimensions, geometry, and other technological aspects (*e.g.*, methods of controlling PEMFC operation^{40–42} or power management⁴³), as their description would have required a much longer review.

2. Operating principle of fuel cells. Proton exchange membrane fuel cells: types, design features

2.1. Main operating principles

Fuel cells are electrochemical devices that convert chemical energy (Gibbs free energy) of reactants directly into electrical energy (direct current). At such conversion there are no typical for ICE limitations in efficiency determined by the Carnot cycle and intermediate thermomechanical processes of energy conversion (Fig. 1), which makes it possible to increase the efficiency of FCs in comparison with ICE. The FC is an energy conversion device, not a storage device. Fuel and oxidiser are stored outside the FC and supplied into it as they are consumed.



Figure 1. Scheme for converting chemical energy into electrical energy in two ways (in ICE and in FC).

A.A.Baranov. Junior Researcher at the Laboratory of Solid-State Electrochemical Systems in Federal Research Center of Problems of Chemical Physics and Medicinal Chemistry of the Russian Academy of Sciences.

E-mail: sbaranov1997@mail.ru

Current research interests: fuel cells, heteropolycompounds, catalysts for hydrogen electrooxidation.

A.V.Levchenko. PhD, Head of the NTI Competence Center and Laboratory of Solid-State Electrochemical Systems in Federal Research Center of Problems of Chemical Physics and Medicinal Chemistry of the Russian Academy of Sciences.

E-mail: a.levchenko@icp.ac.ru

Current research interests: electrocatalysts, solid electrolytes, ionic conductivity, electrochemical sensors, fuel cells, chemical current sources, impedance spectroscopy.



The fuel in the PEMFCs under review is hydrogen, while the oxidising agent is aerial oxygen. The main functional part of a single FC (Fig. 2) is the membrane-electrode assembly (MEA), which consists of three main elements:

1) the polymer electrolyte membrane (PEM), the main functions of which are to transport protons from one electrode to another and to separate the electrode spaces;

2) the catalytic layer where electrochemical oxidation and reduction reactions take place;

3) the gas diffusion layer (GDL), which provides supply of the reagents to the area of electrochemical reaction, as well as water balance and current carrying.

Another essential component of the PEMFC is the bipolar plate (BP), which fulfils several functions. These include facilitating the serial connection of multiple MEAs to boost the total electrical voltage of the FCS, providing hydrogen and air supply through channels, and also participating in the process of heat exchange with the environment. Further details on the PEMFC components can be found in the following sections.

The operating principle of PEMFC is based on electrochemical reactions. The hydrogen electrooxidation reaction (HOR) occurs in the anode space:

$$\begin{array}{l} H_2 \longrightarrow 2 \, \mathrm{H}^+ + 2 \, \mathrm{e}^- \\ (E^0_{\mathrm{HOR}\, 25 \ \mathrm{\circ C}} = 0 \, \mathrm{V} \, (vs. \, \mathrm{HBO}, \, \mathrm{NHE})) \end{array}$$

where E^0 is the electrode potential relative to the normal hydrogen electrode (NHE) for the electrochemical process occurring at the electrode. The protons and electrons formed during this reaction, after passing through the PEM and the external electric circuit, participate in the oxygen electroreduction reaction (ORR) of air in the cathode region. The main product of this process is water:

$$\frac{1/2 O_2 + 2 H^+ + 2 e^- \longrightarrow H_2 O}{(E_{ORR 25 \circ C}^0 = +1.229 V (vs. HB3))}$$
(2)

A by-reaction with the formation of hydrogen peroxide is possible: $^{\rm 44}$

$$O_{2} + 2 H^{+} + 2 e^{-} \longrightarrow H_{2}O_{2}$$
(3)
($E^{0}_{ORR 25 \ \circ C} = +0.682 V (vs. HB\Im)$)

The general reaction in a PEMFC is:

$$H_2 + 1/2O_2 \longrightarrow H_2O \tag{4}$$

A number of thermodynamic parameters are used to describe all chemical reactions, including electrochemical reactions. In the case of electrochemical reactions, it is more convenient to pass from thermodynamic parameters to electrochemical parameters. The relationship between them is defined by the fol

$$V = \frac{\Delta Q}{zF} \tag{5}$$

where V is the voltage between the electrodes, ΔQ is the change in heat, z is the number of electrons involved in the reaction (z=2 for reaction (4)), F is the Faraday constant. The thermoneutral voltage is calculated from the change in enthalpy of

$$V_{\rm t} = -\frac{\Delta H^0}{zF} \tag{6}$$

However, in reality V_t is unachievable. Under standard conditions (1 atm. pressure and 25 °C), the open circuit voltage (V_0) for an electrochemical system is determined by the change in Gibbs free energy (ΔG^0).

$$V_0 = -\frac{\Delta G^0}{zF} \tag{7}$$

The liquid and gaseous water formation has a standard Gibbs energy change of -237.34 and -228.74 kJ mol⁻¹ respectively.⁴⁵ For the water formation process (4) occurring in PEMFC:

$$V_0 = E_{\rm PBK}^0 - E_{\rm POB}^0 = 1.23 \text{ B}$$
(8)

In real conditions, the value of the open circuit voltage $V_{\rm OC}$ will be lower than 1.23 V (V_0) due to the HOR and ORR occurring under conditions other than standard conditions (this process corresponds to the equilibrium value of the FC open circuit voltage, $V_{\rm N}$, determined by the Nernst equation) and the diffusion of reagent gases from one electrode space to another (gas permeation, crossover) (Fig. 3*a*).

As in any electrochemical system, when an electric current of density i flows, the voltage between the electrodes differs from



Figure 3. Typical view of the FC voltammetric characteristic (*a*); and typical voltage, efficiency, and specific power (*P*) dependences of PEMFC on current density (*b*).

 $V_{\rm OC}$ due to polarisation (overvoltage, voltage loss) of the electrodes. This leads to the power and efficiency losses during PEMFC operation. There are three main types of polarisation: activation ($\eta_{\rm act}$), ohmic ($\eta_{\rm Ohm}$) and concentration ($\eta_{\rm conc}$). In general, the voltage between the electrodes can be expressed by the following equation:

$$V = V_{\rm N} - \Delta E_{\rm L} - \eta_{\rm act} - \eta_{\rm Ohm} - \eta_{\rm conc}$$
⁽⁹⁾

where $\Delta E_{\rm L}$ is the voltage loss due to the leakage through the electrolyte (due to crossover and electronic component of conductivity).

In practice, the real efficiency of the FC is calculated from the volt-ampere curve.

$$\text{Efficiency}_{\text{fact}} = \frac{\Delta W}{\Delta G} = \frac{V}{V_0} 100\% \tag{10}$$

where ΔW is the net electrical energy, V is the FC voltage at a certain current density. Currently, the achievable efficiency of PEMFCs exceeds of 60%.^{46,47}

The dependence of the FC specific power (*P*) on the current density has an extreme character (Fig. 3 *b*). The operating range of PEMFCs lies in the region of voltages at which the efficiency is 80-50% (below the maximum value of specific power). The upper limit is constrained by the increase in the PEMFC

degradation rate at low current densities, and the lower limit is constrained by the fuel utilisation efficiency.

2.2. Water balance

Water has one of the key impacts on the performance of a PEMFC. Specific power, stability and lifetime of a fuel cell depend on the amount of water present in its components. The formation and transport of water in a PEMFC occurs in a number of ways. These include synthesis by the cathode reaction, electroosmotic transfer from anode to cathode, removal by air flow and hydrogen discharge, diffusion from cathode to anode, supply with humidified air and hydrogen, and return by hydrogen recirculation (Fig. 4).^{39,48–51}

During PEMFC operation, water is introduced to the device along with hydrogen and air from the electrode side, and reaches the electrocatalyst through the GDL. The protons formed during HOR at the anode (equation (1)) are hydrated to form oxonium ions H_3O^+ , hydroxonium ions $H_5O_2^+$ or higher hydrates:

$$H^{+} + n H_2 O = H_{2n+1} O^{+}$$
(11)

where $n \ge 1$. Furthermore, these hydrated protons move through the membrane to the cathode electrocatalyst by electroosmosis. The remaining water not transferred from anode to cathode



Figure 4. Scheme of water movement inside a PEMFC in operation.

electroosmotically is removed from the anode section by purging.

When the ORR is carried out in accordance with equation 2, two water molecules are formed for each oxygen molecule in the cathode electrocatalytic layer. Furthermore, each proton involved in the reaction (equation (2)) transfers one to three water molecules. This indicates that for one reacted oxygen molecule up to 14 water molecules are produced in the cathode catalytic layer. If the efficiency of water removal is insufficient, flooding of the cathode region of the PEMFC can occur leading to a significant reduction in its performance characteristics. There are two methods to remove water from the cathode region. Some of the water due to its concentration gradient between anode and cathode diffuses through the PEM back to the anode part of the PEMFC. The remaining portion of the water (including that supplied with air) is removed with the air flow, as it is always supplied in a superstoichiometric amount.⁴⁹

The stoichiometry of the gases supplied to the PEMFC ($\lambda_{\rm H_2}$) and λ_{0} is the ratio between the amount of input gas and the amount of gas required for HOR and ORR to occur, as calculated for the current drawn from the PEMFC (when air is used as the oxidant, the stoichiometry is calculated for oxygen). The stoichiometry of the input hydrogen and air has a significant impact on the PEMFC performance, including the water balance. Superstoichiometric amounts of the gases provide a more efficient supply of the reagents to the reaction zone, but more water is removed, which can lead to drying of the electrodes and the membrane. The optimal value of stoichiometry, λ_{opt} , depends on the electrical load of the PEMFC^{41,52-54} and its design characteristics. It is important to note that diffusion and migration water fluxes can occur in both directions due to the presence of a pressure gradient. Consequently, at PEMFC operating temperatures below 70 °C and in the absence of an external pressure gradient, the main causes of water molecule migration across the membrane are electro-osmosis and reverse diffusion (see Fig. 4).55

A lack of water leads to a decrease in the degree of polymer hydration both in the membrane and in the catalytic layer (where the polymer is added to provide proton conductivity). This results in a reduction in the proton conductivity of the polymer, which is a key factor in the performance of the PEMFC. Furthermore, the appearance of mechanical damage accelerates the degradation of the entire device. The high degree of dehydration during the FC operation causes irreversible mechanical degradation of the PEMFC also accelerate the degradation of the membrane and catalytic layer. Excess water in the device causes flooding (water blocking) of the catalytic layers, flow channels and pores of the GDL, which in turn causes a lack of the reagent gases (so-called 'fuel starvation')⁵⁷ and degradation of the anode catalytic layer.⁵⁸

The water balance is the term used to describe all the processes of water formation, transport and removal in the fuel cell. The effective management of the water balance within the device involves maintaining sufficient water content in the membrane and catalytic layers to ensure high proton conductivity, while avoiding flooding of the catalytic and gas diffusion layers with liquid water.

2.3. Requirements for materials of proton exchange membrane fuel cells

The United States Department of Energy (DOE) has identified the key characteristics that each PEMFC component should possess (presented in Table 1). The DOE has first set the standard for defining technical requirements and targets for PEMFC and related components.⁶⁶ In order to achieve high power density and efficiency of PEMFCs, the following conditions must be met:

— absence of gas diffusion (fuel permeation, crossover) and electron transfer through the PEM;

— high rate of HOR and ORR (high efficiency of the used electrocatalytic materials and their stability under PEMFC operating conditions);

— high conductivity of all the PEMFC components, including structural ones (high material conductivities, low transition resistances between dissimilar materials);

— free mass transfer through the porous electrodes;

— chemical and mechanical stability in a suitable chemical environment (oxidation or reduction–determined by accelerated test methods, the most commonly used are those proposed by DOE⁵³);

- low cost and ease of manufacture (for commercial use).

An additional requirement for the materials used in the cathode region of the PEMFC is that they must be stable to hydrogen peroxide and the free radicals HO' and HOO' formed during its decomposition (see equation (3)). It is essential that all components in contact with the PEMFC cathode catalyst, primarily the catalyst materials and the membrane, are stable to hydrogen peroxide. For polymers, the Fenton test has been developed to assess the feasibility of use in PEMFCs. This involves exposing the membrane to hydrogen peroxide in the presence of iron and fluorine ions.^{44,72,73} In addition, hydrogen supplied to the anode can also chemically interact with metals and their oxides in the PEMFC components, altering their functional properties.

One of the most important factors in successful PEMFC operation is the operating temperature. As the operating temperature increases, the HOR and ORR flow rates increase, the heat exchange efficiency improves, the amount of hydrogen peroxide formed decreases, and the poisoning of platinum by carbon monoxide, which also becomes a fuel at temperatures above 120 °C, decreases. By reducing the need to purify the hydrogen from carbon monoxide, the cost of the electricity produced can be significantly reduced. In other words, operating the PEMFC at temperatures above 120 °C can improve a number of operating parameters.

2.4. Types of proton exchange membrane fuel cells

PEMFCs are divided into low temperature (LT-PEMFC) (optimum operating range 70–80 °C) and high temperature (HT-PEMFC) (operating range 120–200 °C).^{74,75} These two types of PEMFC differ in the type of PEM used and the need for different auxiliary equipment. It should be noted that the specified operating temperature ranges are conditional. A number of researchers have suggested that the operating temperature of HT-PEMFCs could be increased to 110 °C and HT-PEMFCs to 250–300 °C.^{77,78} In practice, however, such elevated temperatures have not been achieved in industrial samples of either HT-PEMFCs or HT-PEMFCs.

In LT-PEMFCs, a copolymer of perfluorosulfonic acid and tetrafluoroethylene (Nafion[™] and its analogues) is typically used as the membrane.^{79,80} As the temperature rises, this type of membrane loses water rapidly (Fig. 5),^{14,81–83} which leads to a decrease in proton conductivity. Consequently, it is only suitable for use in low-temperature PEMFCs. The limiting temperature depends on the polymer type and structure and can range from 70

| Table | 1. | DOE's target | (2025) | PEMFC | component | characteristics. |
|-------|----|--------------|--------|-------|-----------|------------------|
|-------|----|--------------|--------|-------|-----------|------------------|

| Characteristic | Value |
|--|--------------------|
| PEM ^{5,32,59–61} | |
| Maximum fuel permeability (according to method ⁶²), mA cm ⁻² | <2 |
| Proton conductivity, S cm ⁻¹ | >0.1 |
| Resistivity at 30 °C (excluding PEM thickness), mOhm cm ² | <30 |
| Mechanical stability (according to method ⁵⁹), cycles | ≥ 20000 |
| Chemical stability (according to method ⁵⁹), hours | ≥ 500 |
| Cost reduction (%) | ≥ 50 |
| Electrocatalyst ^{32, 59, 61} | |
| Catalytic activity in ORR at 0.9 V, A g_{Pt}^{-1} | ≥440 |
| Resistance to degradation, loss of catalytic activity (according to method ⁵⁹),% | <40 |
| Cost reduction, % | >15 |
| GDL ^{36,61,63–65} | |
| Gas permeability (commercial samples), 10 ⁻¹² m ² | 0.35-170 |
| Porosity | 0.4 - 0.88 |
| Surface roughness with MPL, µm Sa | < 8 |
| Surface roughness without MPL, µm Sa | <40 |
| Thermal conductivity, W m ⁻¹ K ⁻¹ | 0.2 - 0.6 |
| Specific resistance (commercial samples, excluding POM thickness), mOhm cm ² | 1 - 20 |
| Contact angle (commercial samples), deg | 60 - 140 |
| Optimal thickness, mm | 0.1 - 0.4 |
| Cost reduction (%) | >50 |
| BP ^{32, 59, 66–71} | |
| Maximum permeability for H ₂ , cm ³ s ⁻¹ cm ⁻² | 2×10^{-6} |
| Electronic conductivity, S cm ⁻¹ | >100 |
| Contact resistance with carbon materials, mOhm cm ⁻² | <10 |
| Corrosion current, µA cm ⁻² | <1 |
| Bending strength, MPa | >40 |
| Thermal conductivity, W m ⁻¹ K ⁻¹ | >10 |
| Weight, kg kW ⁻¹ | 0.18 |
| Cost reduction (%) | >75 |
| MEA and catalytic layer ^{32,59,61} Specific power at 0.8 V, mW cm ⁻² | ≥ 300 |
| Voltage loss at 0.8 A cm ^{-2} (according to method ⁵⁹). mV | ≤ 30 |
| Chemical stability during cycling (according to methods ^{59,61}), cycles | ≥ 30 000 |
| Pt content, g kW ⁻¹ (mg _{Pt} cm ⁻²) | ≤ 0.172 |
| Optimal porosity | 0.3-0.5 |
| Optimal thickness, um | 0.1-50 |
| Cost reduction (%) ECS 32,59,61,65 | >30 |
| Specific power W ko-1 | >2700 |
| Specific power (target for 2040) $W I^{-1}$ | 9000 |
| Lifetime (at power loss <10% and >80°C) hours | > 25,000 |
| Cost reduction (%) | > 20 000 |
| | ≠ 00 |

to 95 °C. This is the main disadvantage of this type of PEMFCs, as further increase of the operating temperature could increase the rate of electrochemical reactions at the electrodes (and therefore



Figure 5. Temperature dependences of ionic conductivity of the NafionTM and PBI membranes (yellow areas indicate the operating temperature ranges of PEMFCs).

the operating power). An advantage of such materials is that they have sufficient proton conductivity even at sub-zero temperatures (>0.01 S cm⁻¹ at -20 °C).⁸⁴ This allows for fast start-up of LT-PEMFCs without additional heating, which is crucial for mobile power sources. For instance, a power plant using a car PEMFC can be started at temperatures as low as -30 °C.⁸⁵

When commercialising PEMFC technology, researchers and manufacturers must consider the cost and durability of the product. Infrastructure development is also crucial for the practical use of PEMFCs on a large scale. Another significant challenge is the high cost of hydrogen production, which makes the use of LT-PEMFCs in many applications unfeasible. It is typical that inexpensive hydrogen produced by steam reforming of natural gas or coal gasification contains carbon monoxide impurities. The presence of even small amounts of CO impurities leads to a significant reduction in the operating currents of LT-PEMFCs due to poisoning of the anode electrocatalyst, especially the Pt/C-based electrocatalyst.^{38,83,86,87} This is described in more detail in Chapter 3.

One potential solution to the issues currently facing LT-PEMFCs is to increase the operating temperature of the PEMFC to 120-180 °C.83,88 The main component limiting the operation of PEMFCs at higher temperatures is the membrane. Therefore, nitrogen-containing polymers (e.g. polybenzimidazole (PBI)) doped with phosphoric acid or other low molecular weight inorganic acids are used as the membrane in HT-PEMFCs (discussed in more detail below).79,88,89 A lower operating temperature limit of 120 °C is recommended to achieve minimum proton conductivity of the membranes and to avoid the formation of liquid phase water which can wash out phosphoric acid from the membrane. The low current carrying capacity and the acid washing out at low temperatures mean that the HT-PEMFC cannot be started without preheating, and that the cooling system (heat balance control) of the device must be complicated. The upper limit in practice is set to 180 °C to reduce the degradation rate of the HT-PEMFC components (see Fig. 5).

The advantages of HT-PEMFCs are:

1) the absence of liquid phase water due to the temperature of HT-PEMFCs operation, which eliminates the problem of the cathode flooding; possible flooding by phosphoric acid is significantly lower than flooding by water;

2) the proton conductivity of PBI-based membranes is largely unaffected by the relative humidity of the input gases (allowing operation without their humidification) and increases with temperature (the resistance to proton transfer across the membrane decreases with increasing temperature).⁸⁸



Figure 6. Dependences of specific power of LT-PEMFC (NafionTM117 membrane, Pt content is 1 mg_{Pt} cm⁻², 80 °C) (*a*) and HT-TPFC (Celtec®-P1000 MEA membrane, Pt content is 0.8 and 1 mg_{Pt} cm⁻² on the cathode and anode sides of the MEA, respectively, 160 and 180 °C) (*b*) on the content of carbon monoxide in hydrogen at 0.6 V.

| Table 2. CharacteristicsofPEMFCs.85, 86, 88, 90, 96, 97 | industrially | manufactured |
|--|---------------|-----------------|
| Parameter | LT-PEMFCs | HT-PEMFCs |
| Operating temperature, °C | ≤80 (±) | 120-200 (±) |
| Start without preheating even at sub-zero temperatures | Fast (+) | Impossible (-) |
| Pt consumption, $mg_{Pt} cm^{-2}$ | 0.2-0.8 (+) | 1.5-2 (-) |
| Component degradation rate | Low (+) | High (–) |
| Permissible CO content in hydrogen | <5 ppm (-) | <3 vol.% (+) |
| Thermal balance (cooling) system | Simple (+) | Complicated (-) |
| Dependence of characteristics on humidity of input gases | Available (-) | Absent (+) |
| AX | | |

Note. (+) is an advantage, (-) is a disadvantage.

This results in more efficient operation of HT-PEMFCs. As the operating temperature increases, the power characteristics of PEMFC generally improve due to the increase in the rate of all processes. Furthermore, at higher temperatures (above 140 °C), the sustainability of the platinum catalyst to CO increases (Fig. 6),^{90,91} which leads to an increase in CO tolerance to 3 vol.% depending on temperature and HT-PEMFC load.^{90,92,93} Some researchers have suggested that the CO content in hydrogen could be increased to 5 vol.% or above.^{94,95} This would enable the use of a simple reforming device, such as the steam reforming of methanol, to produce hydrogen.

The main characteristics of LT-PEMFCs and HT-PEMFCs are presented in Table 2. It is important to note that the range of operating temperatures largely determines the main advantages and disadvantages of PEMFCs and the main sphere of their application. LT-PEMFCs are typically used as mobile energy sources, while HT-PEMFCs are utilized as stationary ones. While HT-PEMFCs offer numerous advantages, their specific power characteristics are considerably lower than those of LT-PEMFCs.⁹⁸ The power characteristics of these two types of PEMFCs will be discussed in more detail below.

The performance of PEMFCs is influenced by a number of factors, including operating conditions and the properties of the used components. These factors are discussed in more detail below.

3. Materials for proton exchange membrane fuel cells

3.1. Membrane materials

PEM in PEMFC serves as an electrolyte with proton conductivity, closing the electrochemical circuit. Another key function of the

membrane is to separate the fuel and oxidant, preventing their direct chemical interaction (combustion). Furthermore, it separates the electrode spaces, preventing short-circuiting of cathode and anode.

The high chemical stability and mechanical strength requirements for PEM (see Table 1) severely limit the range of possible polymers for their manufacture. Various polymers with high ionic conductivity component have been under development for several decades. The nature of the macromolecules of polymers for PEMFCs can be different (aliphatic, aromatic, heterocyclic, *etc.*): perfluorinated (partially fluorinated) polymers, polyethylene, polystyrene, polyvinyl alcohol, polybenzimidazole, polyimides, polyether ketones, polyaryl ether sulfones, polyphenylquinoxalines, polyphenylene sulfides, *etc.*^{99–108} The membranes based on perfluorinated (PF) or fully aromatic polymers, which are currently produced commercially (Table 3), offer the greatest chemical stability to HO[•] and HOO[•] radicals (formed at the PEMFC cathode).

A key factor is the nature of the ionogenic groups, which can vary significantly (*e.g.*, $-SO_3^-$, $-PO_4^-$, $-COO^-$, *etc.*). Sulfonic acid groups are strong electron acceptors with a low dissociation constant, making them the most suitable for use as functional groups in PEM, particularly in LT-PEMFCs. The main disadvantage of sulfonated polymers is that they have a narrow range of operating temperatures. This is why acid-base complexes are used as PEM in HT-PEMFCs (the polymer matrix is doped with low molecular weight inorganic acids). In addition to the synthesis of the polymer itself, the method and conditions of production of the polymer film are of great importance. The following section will provide a more detailed overview of the main types of PEM for PEMFCs.

By increasing the membrane thickness, the mechanical strength of the PEM can be improved, thereby increasing the reliability and lifetime of the PEMFC.¹⁰⁹ However, as the membrane thickness increases, so does its resistance,⁸⁵ increasing ohmic losses in the membrane. Reducing the thickness of the PEM not only increases conductivity, but also improves water diffusion between the cathode and anode. This, in turn, together with the BPs optimization, indirectly affects the overall device size (through the design optimisation). However, if the PEM thickness is reduced too much, the mechanical properties will deteriorate and gas permeability will increase. Consequently, when reducing the thickness, it is important to ensure that the other requirements of the PEM (see Table 1) are met. Therefore, for systems where maximum specific characteristics are important and a limited lifetime is acceptable, and for PEMFCs operating under low humidity conditions, the thinnest PEMs are used. If, however, the maximum lifetime of the device is required, thicker membranes are used.

| Membrane brand ^a | Polymer type ^b | Side chain length | Membrane thickness, µm | Exchange capacity, mmol $H^+ \cdot g_{polymer}^{-1}$ | Reinfor- cement | <i>T</i> , °C ^c | Application |
|-----------------------------|------------------------------|-------------------|---------------------------|---|--------------------|----------------------------|-------------|
| Nafion TM | PF | Long | 25-254 | 0.91-1.10 | + | <80 | LT-PEMFC |
| 'Yuan Bo Engineering' | PF | Long | 8-200 | 1.0-1.05 | - | <80 | LT-PEMFC |
| YUNJI | PF | Long | 51-360 | 1.0-1.05 | _ | <80 | LT-PEMFC |
| GP-IEM | PF | Long | 50-175 | 1.0-1.05 | - | <80 | LT-PEMFC |
| Nepem® | PF | Long | 50-360 | 0.95-1.05 | + | <80 | LT-PEMFC |
| Flemion [™] | PF | Long | 20-300 | 0.91-1.10 | + | <80 | LT-PEMFC |
| GORE-SELECT® | PF | Short | 8.5-18 | 0.91-1.30 | + | <110 | LT-PEMFC |
| Aquivion® | PF | Short | 8-90 | 0.98-1.43 | + | <110 | LT-PEMFC |
| Fumapem® | PF | Short | 10-30 | 1.24-1.52 | + | <110 | LT-PEMFC |
| Pemion [®] | SF | - | 33-80 | 3.47-3.7 | - | <80 | LT-PEMFC |
| Celazole® | PBI | _ | 55 | - | _ | 120 - 180 | HT-PEMFC |
| Celtec® | PBI | - | 350-450 | - | - | 120 - 180 | HT-PEMFC |
| 'Jiangsu Yanchang' | PBI | _ | 40 | _ | _ | 120-180 | HT-PEMFC |

Table 3. Characteristics of commercially available membranes for different types of PEMFCs.

Note. The table data is collected from open sources of manufacturers. ^a Membrane manufacturers who do not have their own trade mark are indicated in inverted commas. ^b PF is perfluorinated polymer, SF is sulfophenylated polyphenylene, PBI is polybenzimidazole.

3.1.1. Membrane materials for low temperature proton exchange membrane fuel cells

PEM for LT-PEMFC is manufactured using perfluorinated polymers with side chains of varying lengths, ending in the sulfonic group (–SO₃H).¹¹⁰ This type of polymer is distinguished by its exchange capacity (a quantitative estimation of the number of sulfonic groups), which is expressed in mmol of H⁺ per gram of polymer. The hydrophobic perfluorinated main chain of the polymer provides mechanical strength and chemical stability, while the hydrophilic sulfonated side chains promote water absorption by forming hydrated clusters. The Nafion[™] membrane is most commonly used in LT-PEMFCs. It is a copolymer of tetrafluoroethylene (main chain) and perfluorovinyl ether with sulfonic acid end groups (side chain) (Fig. 7a). The Nafion[™] membrane, originally developed for other applications (in chlor-alkali electrolysis cells¹¹¹⁻¹¹³), has an exchange capacity of $0.9-1.1 \text{ mmol g}^{-1}$ (see Table 2) and high proton conductivity (0.13 S cm⁻¹ at 75 °C and ambient relative humidity (RH) 100%),96 a lifetime of more than 60 000 h (at RH >70%, at RH <45% the lifetime is reduced by orders of magnitude¹¹⁴) and chemical stability.^{96,115} The works^{56,67,116-118} provide an in-depth analysis of the degradation aspects of this type of membrane. The disadvantages of Nafion-like membranes include the high production cost and the limited range of ambient RH during operation (only high values of ambient RH $>70\%^{14,19,21}$).

The acceptable proton conductivity of Nafion-like membranes is achieved only in the hydrated state, 60,99,119,120 while the water content of the membranes depends on the RH of the surrounding environment.⁹⁶ At low humidity (less than 70%), the membrane dehydrates,⁸¹ resulting in a decrease in its proton conductivity and a significant increase in ohmic losses. To achieve the required specific conductivity during the PEMFC operation, the membrane must contain approximately 15 water molecules per sulfonic group.⁹⁶ It is therefore necessary to humidify the hydrogen and air supplied into the LT-PEMFC.^{121,122} It is evident that the water content of the input gases has a significant impact on the overall capacity and efficiency of the LT-PEMFC. So, it is always necessary to include a water balance control system in their design (*e.g.*, humidification of the reagent gases,



Figure 7. General structural formula of Nafion-like polymers with long (a) and short (b) side chain, and of the Pemion[®] membrane (c).

their countercurrent input into the LT-PEMFC to maximise water exchange by diffusion, or channels of a certain shape to supply gases into the BPs). In addition to humidity, the membrane conductivity and characteristics of the PEMFC are also influenced by its temperature,^{14,19,21,81} the magnitude of the electric current flowing through the PEMFC, the flow rates and pressures of the reagent gases, and their stoichiometry.¹²³

To maintain proton conductivity when the humidity of the input gases decreases or when the temperature increases above 80 °C, Nafion-like membranes are modified in order to retain water and/or increase the concentration of charge carriers in the polymer. This is achieved by changing the polymer architecture, additional processing, or introducing various additives. As a result, perfluorinated membranes with short side chain lengths have been developed (Fig. 7*b*). Such membranes are available to purchase from a number of manufacturers under various brands, including Aquivion[®], GORE-SELECT[®] and

Fumapem®. Some researchers have proposed that this type of short chain perfluorinated membranes should be considered a separate class of Aquivion-like membranes. However, this distinction is not made in this review. Due to their higher exchange capacity (up to 1.5 mmol of $H^+ g_{polymer}^{-1}$, Table 3), they have higher proton conductivity and are also able to retain water up to higher temperatures (about 110 °C) than membranes with a long side chain.⁷⁶ As a result, they are occasionally tested for use in HT-PEMFCs (for example, in the work ¹²⁴), but such a temperature is insufficient to achieve the full potential of HT-PEMFCs.

Another method of improving the proton conductivity of Nafion-like membranes is to modify them by introducing various additives (*e.g.*, SiO₂, TiO₂, ZrO₂, Al₂O₃ oxides, inorganic heteropoly compounds (*e.g.*, $Cs_{3-x}H_xPW_{12}O_{40}$), zirconium phosphates, low molecular weight acids, ionic liquids, carbon materials or other polymers), including with subsequent additional treatment (ultrasonic, magnetic) or additional crosslinking, *etc*.^{60,79,99,102,120,125-143}

Modification of Nafion-like membranes is also carried out in order to increase stability to HO[•] and HOO[•] radicals by doping the polymer with CeO₂, MnO₂, ZrO₂ oxides^{125,126} and to improve mechanical properties of thin membranes by introducing reinforcing layers, including reinforcement with polytetrafluoroethylene (PTFE). The modification can be done in a complex way, and the technology is already implemented in the PEM production. For example, perfluorinated composite reinforced membrane GORE-SELECT[®] with increased mechanical strength, the use of which increases the stability of PEMFC, has been developed and commercially produced.¹¹⁰

The latest trend in the field of PEM for LT-PEMFCs is the development of non-perfluorinated membranes. The gradual abandonment of the use of Nafion-like membranes is driven not only by their high cost,¹⁴⁴ but also by the complex, non-environmentally friendly method of synthesising the perfluorinated polymer. However, to date, it has not yet been possible to obtain a PEM with a ratio of characteristics (chemical stability, proton conductivity, and durability) that is better than that of Nafion-like membranes. The only promising membrane is Pemion[®], which is based on sulfophenylated polyphenylene (Fig. 7 *c*)^{145,146} and is commercially available. In terms of performance, Pemion[®] is comparable to Nafion-like membranes are required to fully replace perfluorinated ones.

3.1.2. Membrane materials for high temperature proton exchange membrane fuel cells

For HT-PEMFCs operating at temperatures above 120 °C, the above-described membranes are not suitable. This is because above 80 °C, there is a rapid decrease in water content, which in turn results in a reduction in proton conductivity. To avoid this, alternative polymeric membranes based on acid-base complexes are being developed to provide good conductivity at high temperatures. In recent years, there has been an increasing focus on membranes based on PBI and its functionalised derivatives, including: meta-PBI [poly(2,2'-(1,3-phenylene)5,5'-bibenz-imidazole)] (*m*-PBI), para-PBI [poly(2,2'-(1,4-phenylene)5,5'-bibenzimidazole)] (*p*-PBI), ABPBI [poly(2, 5-benzimidazole), ABPBI], PPBI [pyridine-based PBI, PyPBI], 2OH-PBI [poly-(2,2'-(2,2'-(2,5-dihydroxy-1,4-phenylene)5,5'-bibenzimidazole)], *etc.* (Fig. 8 *a*).^{100,147,148}

The main chain of PBI polymer features a rigid aromatic group that provides a high glass transition temperature (430 °C),

good chemical stability and mechanical strength. The latter is further enhanced by polymer chain modification.^{148–152} However, the polymer matrix itself has low proton conductivity, with a value of approximately 10^{-12} S cm⁻¹.¹⁵⁰ Due to the presence of a benzimidazole unit in the polymer chain, PBI has an acidity constant $pK_a = 5.5$, which ensures the ease of its doping with strong acids such as sulfuric, nitric, hydrochloric and phosphoric acids. It is important to note that acid doping in the case of PBI actually means impregnation of the polymer matrix, while in Nafion-like membranes the molecules of the polymer matrix itself already have acid groups. The resulting acid-base complex (Fig. 8 *b*) offers high proton conductivity, regardless of the presence of water, making it suitable for use in HT-PEMFCs.

The permeability of PBI-based electrolytes is dependent on the type of acid and its concentration. It is understood The proton conductivity of the acid-doped PBI membranes under equivalent conditions is known to increase in the order of the acids used: H₂SO₄>H₃PO₄>HClO₄>HNO₃>HCl. Although the maximum value of proton conductivity of PBI membrane is achieved when it is doped with sulphuric acid, this is not a practical solution. This is due to the fact that the maximum conductivity of sulphuric acid is observed in aqueous solutions, and it is also a strong oxidant under the conditions of HT-PEMFC operation. It is therefore recommended that H₃PO₄ be used in HT-PEMFCs, as phosphoric acid-doped PBI-based membranes can to operate under anhydrous conditions due to the reaction between the acid and the N-H group of the imidazole ring (Fig. 8,b).^{100,147,152} Furthermore, H₃PO₄ is a weak oxidising agent, which is advantageous compared to H₂SO₄ for the stability of the materials used to manufacture HT-PEMFCs. Therefore, membranes based on PBI doped with phosphoric acid will be discussed next.

An important issue is the doping level (DL) of the membrane with an acid. The DL is defined as the number of acid molecules per repeating fragment of the polymer matrix, with measurements taken on the membrane mass before and after doping. The dependence of the DL of the PBI-based membrane on the concentration of phosphoric acid has a non-linear character (Fig. 9).¹⁵³ The DL of the membrane, which refers to the bound acid (as in the case of Nafion-like membranes), is constant and equal to 2, since there are two –NH groups per polymer unit. The increase in DL > 2 is due to the presence of free acid in the polymer volume.¹⁵³ As a result of acid doping, the thickness of the polymer membrane increases by 60-110%.¹⁰⁰

High proton conductivity of PBI-based membranes is only observed for materials with free acid molecules, *i.e.*, at DL > 2. It is important to note that PBI-based membranes with different molecular weights exhibit approximately the same proton conductivity at the same DL value.^{154,155} An increase in the DL of a PBI-based membrane leads to an increase in its proton conductivity, but a decrease in its mechanical strength.⁸⁹ To enhance both proton conductivity and mechanical properties, these membranes, as well as Nafion-like membranes, are subjected to various modifications (altering the polymer backbone architecture, introducing various additives, undergoing additional treatment), enabling them to achieve proton conductivity values of 1.8 S cm⁻¹ at 190 °C.89,151,154,156-161 While PBI-based membranes offer numerous advantages, they do have one significant drawback: the proton conductivity is provided by phosphoric acid, which can be washed out by water formed during the operation of the PEMFC. This issue is not a significant concern for HT-PEMFC, as there is no liquid-phase water present. In the case of LT-PEMFC membranes based on



Figure 8. Various types of PBI-based membrane main chain $(a)^{148}$ and example of acid-base complex based on *m*-PBI and phosphoric acid (b).



Figure 9. Dependence of DL of PBI-based membrane on the concentration of phosphoric acid.

PBI, they are not practical due to the rapid washing out of phosphoric acid.

3.2. Materials for electrocatalysts and catalytic layers

A variety of materials are used as catalysts in ORR and HOR, including pure metals, various alloys, conducting polymers, *etc*. According to the complex of properties in acidic medium, the most effective catalysts are based on noble metals, with platinum

demonstrating the highest activity and maximum stability.^{162–166} At present, platinum-based electrocatalysts are the main materials used in PEMFCs.^{80,162–165,167,168} For this reason, further consideration will be given to this issue in more detail.

Due to the high price of platinum, the cost of the electrocatalyst has a significant impact on the overall cost of PEMFCs. One solution to this problem is to reduce the amount of Pt while maintaining its catalytic activity. This is achieved by using high surface area nanoparticles of Pt on a support rather than bulk metal.¹⁶⁴ The most common platinum supports are carbon materials with a high surface area of 100 to 2600 m² g⁻¹ (*e.g.* VULCAN[®] XC72 carbon black).^{164,169–172} Such catalytic materials are defined by the quantity of electrocatalytically active metal (typically platinum) per gram of material.

There is a significant number of manufacturers of platinumcontaining catalysts globally. Table 4 provides an overview of the main commercially available electrocatalysts for PEMFCs. It should be noted that the majority of these materials are used for other purposes (such as hydrogenation reaction catalysts), so they are not optimised for use in PEMFCs. The most widely available catalyst on the market is the traditional Pt/C catalyst offering a wide range of material characteristics.

A comparison of Pt/C electrocatalysts from different manufacturers shows that at comparable platinum particle sizes and platinum content, the electrocatalysts have very close catalytic activity in PEMFC. However, their stability can vary greatly and depends largely on the type of support. Carbon materials fulfil all the requirements⁸⁶ except one — they are subject to oxidation under the conditions of TPTE operation.¹⁷³

Table 4. List of major commercially produced electrocatalysts forPEMFCs.

| Electrocatalyst brand ^a | ECSA, $m^2 \cdot g_{Pt}^{-1}$ | Pt content (wt.%) | Electrocatalyst type |
|------------------------------------|----------------------------------|----------------------|--------------------------------------|
| 'Prometheus' | 50-105 | 5-70 | Pt/C |
| HiSPEC TM | 60-105 | 10 - 74 | Pt/C, PtRu/C |
| 'Premetek' | 60-200 | 5-80 | Pt/C, PtRu/C, PtNi/C, PtCu/C, PtSn/C |
| 'ACS Material' | 73-83 | 40-60 | Pt/C, PtCu/C, PtCo/C |
| 'American Elements' | - | 5 - 80 | Pt/C, PtRu/C, etc. |
| 'BASF' | - | 5 - 80 | Pt/C, PtRu/C, etc. |
| 'Umicore' | - | 20 - 50 | Pt/C, PtCo/C |
| 'Jiangsu Yanchang' | 90-100 | 20 - 70 | Pt/C, PtRu/C |
| 'UIV Chem' | - | 30 - 70 | Pt/C |
| 'Tanaka' | - | 40 - 70 | Pt/C, PtRu/C, PtCo/C |
| 'Vineeth Chemicals' | - | 1 - 50 | Pt/C |
| 'Indian Platinum' | - | 1 - 5 | Pt/C |
| 'Merck' | _ | 1 - 10 | Pt/C |

Note. The table data is collected from open sources of manufacturers. ECSA is electrochemically active surface area. ^a Electrocatalyst manufacturers who do not have their own trade mark are indicated in inverted commas.

Consequently, research is underway to explore the use of noncarbon materials as Pt supports, including transition metals, their oxides, nitrides, carbides, sulfides and their composites,^{165,174,175} which offer enhanced stability against oxidative degradation.^{86,165,174–180} Furthermore, the specific characteristics of anodic and cathodic catalysts are being identified.

3.2.1. Catalytic layers

The catalytic layers are designed to be porous to allow the transport of reactants in the gas phase. Their electronic conductivity is provided by the catalyst support or conductive additives.^{127,164} To guarantee proton transport, a dispersion of

an ionic conductor (typically similar to the membrane material) is incorporated into the catalytic layer, and hydrophobic additives are added to enhance water removal and prevent flooding of the PEMFC.^{43,181–184}

The electrochemical reactions that occur in the catalytic layers of PEMFCs take place at the three-phase boundary of the solid electrolyte, the electron conductor, and the gas phase.⁴³ The properties of PEMFC are largely determined by the morphology of this boundary and its physical and chemical properties.³⁷ To achieve the maximum possible current output from the PEMFC, it is essential to ensure that the area of the three-phase boundaries is as close as possible to the theoretical value for the electrocatalyst used. To achieve this, a protonconducting polymer similar to that used in the membrane is added to the catalytic layers. The addition of the polymer takes place at the stage of preparation of the catalytic ink (or paste) before application to the substrate. The characteristics of the three-phase interface will be significantly influenced by the composition of the catalytic ink/paste and the method and conditions of its application.¹⁸⁵ Fig. 10 provides a scheme of the three-phase interface in catalytic layers. The efficiency of the electrocatalyst is highly dependent on the extent of the threephase interface, which is determined by the ratio of surface area to volume.

The size of Pt particles affects the specific activity of the electrocatalyst and degradation processes, which are significantly accelerated with decreasing the size of Pt nanoparticles, and with increasing the operating temperature of PEMFC.^{186,187} The optimal diameter of active metal nanoparticles deposited on carbon particles is between 2 and 5 nm, with the shape of these particles also influencing the activity.^{120,164,183,188} Particles smaller than the optimal size (less than 1 nm) are unstable in water, which is always present in the cathode catalytic layer. As the particle size of platinum increases, its stability improves. 4 nm Pt particles are less susceptible to degradation than 2 nm particles.¹⁸⁹ Consequently, despite the high activity of single-atom electrocatalysts that have been studied in the literature,^{190–194} it is doubtful whether they will be used in practice in PEMFCs.

It is important to note that not all of the surface area of the platinum particles in the catalytic layer is available for the



electrochemical reaction. For instance, part of the surface may be blocked by the support or other factors, which may prevent it from accessing the three-phase boundary. Consequently, one of the key characteristics of catalyst activity is the electrochemically active surface area (ECSA) of platinum. This is determined through experimental testing under model conditions or directly in the catalytic layer of PEMFC (in m² g⁻¹_{Pt}, Table 4).

One of the most important characteristics of the catalytic layer is the amount of platinum per 1 cm² of the electrode's geometric area (catalyst content, mg cm⁻²). Due to simpler kinetics, the electrode polarisation for HOR is much smaller than for ORR. It is therefore standard practice to have a lower electrocatalyst content on the anode side of the PEMFC than on the cathode side. In line with DOE requirements for 2025, the platinum content on the cathode should be 0.100 mg cm⁻², while on the anode it should be 0.025 mg cm⁻².¹⁹⁵ The following section will examine the characteristics of anodic and cathodic electrocatalysts in more detail.

3.2.2. Cathodic catalysts

The ORR at the cathode is typically a slower process (exchange current density $i_0 \approx 10^{-7} - 10^{-8} \text{ A cm}_{Pt}^{-2}$) than most anodic reactions $(i_0 \approx 0.01 - 0.3 \text{ A cm}_{Pt}^{-2})^{.83,196-198}$ In essence, the energy conversion efficiency of a PEMFC is directly dependent on the kinetic challenges associated with the ORR process.^{199,200} The mechanisms of ORR on platinum include several distinct reactions with different rate constants (k) (Fig. 11). Oxygen can be directly reduced to H₂O with the addition of four electrons (direct ORR), but there is a risk of by-reactions, in particular the reduction of O₂ by a two-electron mechanism to form hydrogen peroxide. Although the electroreduction of oxygen on platinum proceeds mainly by a four-electron mechanism, the formation of peroxide is not completely avoided. This is because the desorption stage of peroxide from the platinum surface is not electrochemical, and therefore its rate does not depend on the electrode polarisation. Consequently, the rate of peroxide formation is never equal to 0.

Incomplete reduction of O_2 to H_2O_2 not only results in lower efficiency of fuel energy conversion to electricity, but also poses a risk of free OH[•] radicals reacting with the materials of electrode, membrane and structural components, leading to their degradation.^{118,201}



Figure 11. Scheme of the mechanism of oxygen reduction on Pt catalysts.

At present, research is being conducted to enhance the activity of catalysts in ORR. At the same time, the logical end of reducing the size of Pt particles to achieve optimal activity has been reached, so researchers are now exploring alternative approaches. A number of research groups have proposed alternative catalysts to monoplatinum, including 1) platinumbased alloys and 2) particles with a shell of platinum and a core of less noble metal (core-shell structures).163,168,183,202-204 The use of a core of a less noble metal allows to obtain large particles that are resistant to degradation, while consuming much less platinum. Bimetallic electrocatalysts are exemplified by Pt@Cu systems.²⁰⁵⁻²⁰⁹ The oxygen adsorption energy and oxygen electroreduction kinetics of platinum alloys (e.g., PtCu, PtRu, PtCo) can vary significantly, with both positive and negative effects.²⁰⁴ To date, bimetallic catalysts are less commercially widespread, but there is a wide range of options available, both in terms of composition and manufacturer.

Both approaches (alloys and core-shell structures) have a similar disadvantage: the reactivity of the alloying (additional) metal is much higher than that of platinum, so its dissolution occurs at a much higher rate. This causes the characteristics of the catalyst to change during the PEMFC operation and reduces the conductivity of the electrolyte (both the membrane and the ionomer in the catalytic layer) due to the substitution of protons for other cations. This leads to an increase in ohmic losses, which in turn causes a decrease in the power characteristics of PEMFC. Despite these drawbacks, alloy-based catalysts are already used in industry, with examples including PtCo catalysts used in PEMFCs installed in hydrogen cars.²⁰³

As mentioned above, the cost of the platinum electrocatalyst represents a significant proportion of the total cost of the final device. In addition to reducing the platinum content in the catalyst, another method of cost reduction is the use of non-noble metals^{174,210–214} and even metal-free electrocatalysts.^{174,214,215} These electrocatalysts exhibit reduced power characteristics compared to Pt/C materials, for example, for the Fe–N–C-based electrocatalyst, up to 480 mW cm^{-2,211} To date, Pt-free electrocatalysts have not been widely used in practice due to their rapid degradation under PEMFC operation conditions,^{147,214} and the low values of maximum power (2–4 times) compared to standard Pt/C-catalysts. This creates the need to increase the size of the PEMFC and level out their efficiency to reduce the cost of the finished device.

3.2.3. Anodic electrocatalysts

Unlike ORR, the mechanism of HOR in acidic media is simple²¹⁶ (equation (1)), which means that despite the presence of 2-3 reaction stages,²¹⁷ the rate of HOR on platinum is several orders of magnitude higher than that of ORR.^{83,196–198} Furthermore, the intermediate products do not lead to oxidative degradation of materials. Consequently, in PEMFCs operating on pure hydrogen, a standard Pt/C catalyst with reduced loading is typically used as an anode catalyst. A number of research groups are currently engaged in the development of alternative Pt/C catalysts. It should be noted that other metals (not platinum) have less activity in HOR and less stability in acidic media. Furthermore, research is being conducted on the use of bioanodes, but thus far, the activity in such systems is insufficient for practical application.^{218,219}

The use of pure hydrogen is a significant cost factor in energy production. The use of hydrogen with a high content of impurities produced by the reforming of organic compounds can lead to a significant reduction in costs. The main impurity in this method is CO, which is a catalytic poison for platinum. The presence of carbon monoxide, even in trace amounts (10-100 ppm), significantly reduces the power characteristics of LT-PEMFC.^{38,83,86} The best systems for reforming organic compounds allow the production of hydrogen with carbon monoxide admixture at the level of 10-60 ppm. Despite the preferential adsorption of CO on Pt, the rate of hydrogen oxidation on small remaining free areas of Pt is so high that it sets the potential at the anode. Unfortunately, this potential is below the value required for CO oxidation, and the filling of the surface with carbon monoxide is determined by the CO adsorption isotherm. HT-PEMFCs do not have this problem. As the operating temperature increases, CO begins to oxidise at potentials close to the hydrogen oxidation potential. Consequently, at 160 °C, HT-PEMFCs can operate on hydrogen with 3% CO practically without any power reduction,83 which presents an opportunity to use reformed hydrogen directly without additional purification.

Let's take a closer look at the mechanism of CO oxidation on the platinum catalyst. The apparent activation energy of hydrogen oxidation increases with increasing CO concentration, indicating increasing difficulties for this process.²²⁰ This may be due to the fact that CO is preferentially adsorbed on the 'most favourable' centers for hydrogen oxidation, or hydrogen is involved in the CO oxidation process. A number of different approaches have been employed to enhance the activity of hydrogen oxidation catalysts and improve their CO tolerance, as outlined below.

The electrochemical behaviour of CO on platinum has been the subject of extensive research for considerable period of time.^{221–224} It is understood that adsorbed carbon monoxide exists on platinum in two forms — bridged and linear.^{225,226} It has been demonstrated that the electrochemical activity of these two forms is almost identical. It is postulated that the oxidation of adsorbed CO on platinum occurs *via* the mechanism of reaction pairs.²²³ Schematically, the oxidation reaction can be written as follows:

$$CO_{adc} + H_2O \longrightarrow CO_2 + 2 H_{ads}^+ + 2 e^-$$
(12)
(E⁰ = -0.1 V (vs. HB3))

The mechanism of CO electrooxidation includes a number of stages:

$$H_2O + * \leftrightarrow OH_{ads} + H^+ + e^-$$
 (13)

$$CO_{auc} + OH_{ads} \longrightarrow COOH_{ads}$$
 (14)

$$COOH_{ads} \longrightarrow CO_2 + H^+ + e^- + 2^*$$
(15)

where * is the vacant adsorption site,

$$COOH_{ads} + OH_{agc} \longrightarrow CO_2 + H_2O_{ads}$$
(16)

This process requires the presence of CO and –OH groups on neighbouring platinum atoms. However, the much higher adsorption energy of CO compared to water leads to the fact that the platinum surface at room temperature is covered with a layer of CO, and there are no free active centers for water adsorption (Fig. 12*a*). This results in a blockage of the CO electrooxidation process at the equilibrium potential. Further details on the mechanism can be found in the works.^{223–225,227–229}

At present, there are two most promising directions for further improving the properties of anode catalysts. The first is the development of nanoscale catalytic systems based on alloys of transition metals with platinum^{182,225,230} (including singleatom catalysts), which are as effective as platinum catalysts in



Figure 12. Schematic representation of platinum poisoning process by carbon monoxide (*a*) and the bifunctional mechanism of CO electrooxidation on the mixed catalysts (*b*).

terms of electrocatalytic characteristics. PtRu/C catalysts are the most extensively researched and commercially available (see Table 4). However, when using non-noble metals in alloys, the same problems are encountered as with their use as the cathode electrocatalysts. Therefore, they require further development in terms of improving chemical stability in acidic media.

The second method for enhancing the catalysts is to develop highly active, corrosion-resistant and carbon monoxide-resistant catalysts by using metal-oxide nanostructured materials as a support.^{86,165,174,176,231} Despite the increased number of studies on catalyst resistance to CO, the reasons for the efficiency of metal-oxide systems remain the subject of scientific dispute.

The dominant mechanism determining the stability of the catalyst to CO is considered to be the bifunctional mechanism proposed in early works^{232,233} for the bimetallic electrocatalyst PtRu and subsequently extended to other catalysts consisting of both PtM alloys (M = Sn, Mo, *etc.*)^{234–238} and metal-oxide systems (the metal here means not only platinum but also its alloys).^{165,235,237} It is worth noting that the majority of metals on the surface of alloy-based catalysts in the presence of water are in the oxidised state (MO_nH_m) at almost all potentials.²³⁵ This does not prevent the authors of these works from classifying such heterogeneous systems of variable composition as alloys.

The bifunctional mechanism involves the activation of water chemisorption by the base metal or its oxide and the subsequent electrooxidation of CO on the neighbouring Pt atom (Fig. 12 *b*).^{206,238} Consequently, the removal of CO_{ads} from the surface necessitates the presence of oxygen-containing groups on neighbouring sites that can oxidise the adsorbed carbon monoxide to CO_2 form, thereby releasing the sites on the Pt surface for further fuel oxidation reactions. The process can be written as follows:

$$M + H_2O \longrightarrow M - OH_{ads} + H^+ + e^-$$
 (17)

$$PtCO_{ads} + M - OH_{ads} \longrightarrow CO_2 + M + Pt + H^+ + e^-$$
(18)

Another mechanism for enhancing the stability of the catalyst to CO is attributed to the electron effect (often it is erroneously referred to in the literature as the ligand effect). This mechanism is based on a change in the energy of the d-orbital of platinum, which leads to a weakening of the Pt–CO bond and, consequently, to a decrease in the blocking of HOR.²³⁹ The interaction between Pt and CO is thought to occur in two steps.²⁴⁰ Firstly, the electronic orbitals of Pt hybridise with CO orbitals, and secondly, a strong chemical bond is formed (Fig. 13*a*). The strength of the bond formed is attributed to the presence of an empty *antibonding* orbital and the low energy of the *bonding* orbital.

In the case of mixed electrocatalysts, Pt atoms interact with atoms of another metal (alloy or support). This results in the Pt orbitals hybridising with increasing filling of d-orbitals.^{241–243} This fills the resulting *antibonding* orbital and increases the energy of the *bonding* orbital. This leads to a decrease in the strength of the formed Pt–CO chemical bond and consequently to a decrease in the desorption energy of CO from the Pt surface (Fig. 13,*b*).

The authors of the work²⁴⁴ note that the electronic structure of the catalyst is generally related to its adsorption properties. Consequently, it is possible that strengthening the bond between the catalyst and the OH group could also help the CO electrooxidation reaction *via* the bifunctional mechanism.

It is therefore possible that the two mechanisms of platinum resistance to CO poisoning described above may operate simultaneously. The relative contribution of each mechanism is dependent on a number of factors, including the catalyst composition, its morphology, *etc.*²⁴⁵ In general, the electronic effect is more prevalent at low electrical voltage (less than 0.2 V) when CO adsorption is favourable, while the bifunctional effect is more pronounced at higher voltage when CO oxidation occurs.²⁴⁶ It is important to note that at present, there is no ready solution for an ideal anode electrocatalyst resistant to CO poisoning at 80 °C. One solution is to increase the operating temperature of the LT-PEMFC, which is currently limited by the proton conducting properties of the PEM.

3.3. Gas diffusion layer materials

The GDLs are porous electron-conducting materials. Carbonbased materials are the most commonly used in PEMFCs, which are mainly in the form of carbon paper (nonwoven material) and carbon cloth (woven material), and less frequently carbon felts or aerogels.^{25,35,36,64,247–251} In addition to carbon, metal-based foamed materials (steel, titanium, *etc.*) can also be used for the manufacture of the GDLs.^{36,63,249} However, due to the fact that such GDLs have high contact resistance with carbon materials, high weight and tendency to oxidise, and the ability to poison the PEM with metal ions, we will not consider them in this



Figure 13. Scheme of platinum poisoning by CO (a) and the electronic mechanism of increasing the platinum electrocatalyst resistance to CO poisoning (b). The system erroneously referred to in the literature as «ligand» is highlighted by the dashed line.

review. Nevertheless, there is a potential for such metal GDSs to find an application in the future due to their high thermal conductivity. The porous structure, high electrical conductivity and thermal conductivity of *carbon* materials meet the conditions and requirements of the PEMFC operation (see Table 1). Furthermore, their manufacturing technology is relatively advanced, which greatly simplifies the production process.

Carbon GDLs are commercially available in a variety of properties and with a wide range of treatments for different environments.^{36,67,249,252} Carbon GDLs are manufactured using three distinct production techniques, namely paper, cloth and felt.³⁶ Carbon *paper* is produced by impregnating carbon fibres with a thermosetting resin. After the impregnation process, the carbon fibres are graphitised at temperatures above 2000 °C to achieve optimal electrical conductivity and mechanical properties. In carbon *cloth*, the carbon fibres are woven, eliminating the necessity for a binder. In the production of carbon fabric, graphitisation occurs after the spinning and weaving of the carbon yarns. In the felting process, the finished carbon *felt* is chopped into short pieces and mixed with a binder before undergoing graphitisation.

Due to the differing manufacturing methods used to produce the carbon GDLs, these materials exhibit varying structures and properties (stiffness, compressibility, porosity and roughness). This results in different performance under diverse conditions and PEMFC designs (Table 5). Consequently, the stiffness of the material increases in the following order: cloth < felt < paper. Higher stiffness provides greater stability of the porous structure under compression, but it is less convenient for mass production of PEMFCs by roll technology. Greater compressibility can also be an advantage, as it can compensate for dimensional changes during the PEMFC operation due to pressure and temperature changes, and the membrane swelling caused by hydration (or acid filling).^{36,249} For instance, the carbon cloth, due to its high compressibility, can penetrate the channels of the BP (this is particularly noticeable for channel widths above 1 mm), preventing the transport of the reagent gases. This has a negative impact on the performance of PEMFC. Consequently, when the channels are sufficiently wide (approximately 3 mm), it is advisable to use a stiffer carbon paper over the carbon cloth.²⁵³

Most of the research has focused on studying the GDL for the cathode side of PEMFCs, given its critical role in maintaining the water balance.²⁵⁴ Based on experimental and calculated data, many researchers agree that at high humidity of the input gases (60-100%), the carbon cloth shows better performance at high current densities (>800 mA cm⁻²), while the carbon paper performs better at lower current densities (<800 mA cm⁻²).^{36,249} The higher porosity and larger pore size of carbon cloth were identified as the primary factor contributing to the improved performance at higher current densities. The larger pores formed by the fibre weaves in the carbon cloth allow liquid-phase water to concentrate more effectively than in the paper, and this water is efficiently drained into the BP channel. Concurrently, oxygen can permeate the smaller pores within the cloth fibre bundles.²⁴⁹ Therefore, under 100% humidity conditions of the input gases and at high current densities (>800 mA cm⁻²), where concentration polarisation plays a dominant role due to the oxygen concentration gradient, the carbon cloth offers superior performance. It is also important to note that due to the higher compressibility of carbon cloth, the final porosity in the assembled PEMFC must be considered and compared. The carbon paper, due to its highly tortuous structure, retains more water than the carbon cloth, especially under the stiffening ribs of the BPs,²⁵⁵ resulting in a lower oxygen concentration in the

| | Scanning electron microscopy images ²⁵ | Thickness, μm | Stiffness | Compressibility | Pore type | Pore size distribution |
|--------------|---|------------------|-----------|-----------------|---------------------------|------------------------|
| Carbon paper | | >100 | High | Low | Micropores | Narrow |
| Carbon felt | | >100 | Medium | Medium | Micropores | Narrow |
| Carbon cloth | | >350 | Low | High | Micropores, macropores | Wide, irregular |

carbon paper compared to the carbon cloth. This is particularly important in low humidity conditions (below 45%) when membrane hydration is limited. The use of carbon paper, which exhibits superior water retention, enables the enhancement of PEMFC power characteristics.

To maintain the water balance and enhance the performance of PEMFC, the GDL is further modified, for instance, by increasing its hydrophobicity to cope with water flooding of the catalytic layers. To achieve this, the GDL is typically treated with hydrophobic agents such as PTFE or fluorinated polyethylene propylene. The addition of PTFE in an amount greater than optimal for the specific device conditions results in reduced porosity and partial insulation of the conductive material by PTFE. This in turn can inhibit the reagent transport and negatively affect the bulk conductivity and contact resistance of the GDL.²⁵⁶ As noted in the work²⁵⁷, the impact of wettability on the water distribution control and PEMFC performance is more indirect than the effect of the GDL porosity. A potential solution to enhance oxygen diffusion in highly hydrophobised GDL is to introduce perforations in the GDL layer.²⁵⁸ It is particularly important to consider additional hydrophobisation when the PEMFC is operating at low temperatures where water evaporation is low.

Another modification of the GDL is the application of a microporous layer (MPL) consisting of carbon black and PTFE. The addition of one or more MPLs to the GDL backbone is primarily intended to:^{249,250,255,259–261}

- improve mass transfer of the reagents,

- maintain water balance to avoid flooding of the GDL,

— reduce contact resistance between the catalytic layer and the GDL,

— stabilise the catalytic layer against penetration into the GDL volume.

The use of MPL also ensures the membrane hydration in conditions of decreasing humidity due to the formation of a hydraulic barrier by the hydrophobic MPL (water accumulated in the catalytic layer must reach a higher pressure to enter the pores of the MPL). At higher humidity levels, the MPL enhances and stabilises the removal of water from the MEA, thereby increasing the efficiency of PEMFC.²⁶²

The market offers a wide range of commercially available GDLs with varying properties and treatments for different operating conditions. Table 6 provides a comprehensive overview of the currently available GDLs. It is evident that all three carbon GDL production technologies are equally common among manufacturers, given their respective advantages and disadvantages. Additionally, it is noteworthy that all major manufacturers use both types of the GDL modifications in their products.

It should be noted that the industry optimises only GDLs manufactured using the felt and paper technology, which indicates that they are more suitable for use in the composition of LT-PEMFCs. All major manufacturers of the carbon papers offer a comprehensive range of the GDLs optimised for PEMFCs, suitable for use in a wide range of conditions. At the same time, GDLs from different manufacturers, optimised for operation in the same conditions (for example, as part of the PEMFC for transport), provide similar performance characteristics of the device.^{36,67,249,252} The primary objective in the production of GDLs is to enhance availability, which in turn reduces cost.

| GDL brand ^a | Material | GDL type | Thickness, µm | Porosity (%) | MPL ^b | Hydrophobisation |
|--------------------------|---------------|----------|---------------|--------------|------------------|------------------|
| E-TEK ELAT TM | Carbon | Cloth | 400-500 | 31-80 | Yes/no | Yes |
| AvCarb® | Carbon | Cloth | 356-6500 | _ | _ | No |
| | Carbon | Paper | 150-370 | _ | No | Yes/no |
| | Carbon | Felt | 184-283 | - | Yes | Yes |
| 'CeTech' | Carbon | Cloth | 360-410 | _ | Yes/no | Yes/no |
| | Carbon | Paper | 180-340 | 60-77 | Yes/no | Yes/no |
| | Ti | Felt | 250-800 | 60 - 70 | _ | - |
| ZOPIN-PCB | Carbon | Cloth | - | - | Yes/no | Yes/no |
| | Carbon | Paper | - | _ | Yes/no | Yes/no |
| | Металл | Felt | - | - | - | - |
| LINQCELL™ | Carbon | Paper | 190-2900 | _ | Yes | Yes |
| | Ni; Ti; steel | Fiber | 250-800 | 50-90 | - | |
| Sigracet® | Carbon | Paper | 215-280 | 75-90 | Yes/no | Yes/no |
| 'Freudenberg' | Carbon | Felt | 150-290 | 46-61 | Yes | Yes |
| Toravca TM | Carbon | Paper | 110-370 | 78-80 | No | _ |

Table 6. Characteristics of the main commercially available GDLs, indicating type, thickness, porosity, presence of MPL and hydrophobisation.

Note. the table data is collected from open sources of manufacturers. ^a GDL manufacturers who do not have their own trade mark are indicated in inverted commas. ^b 'Yes/no' indicates the presence of both modified and unmodified material.

3.4. Bipolar plate materials

Like other PEMFC components, BPs are produced on an industrial scale. The BP is as important a component of the PEMFC as the MEA. Each individual MEA is capable of producing less than 1 V under typical operating conditions, which is insufficient for most applications. Therefore, in practice, FCS is used — a stack of MEAs separated by BPs, which provide electrical conductivity between MEAs and physical strength to the assembly. The channels available on the surface of the BPs allow for the flow of gases through the MEAs. Additional channels within the BPs can be used to circulate liquid coolant, as the BPs play a key role in the heat transfer process within the PEMFC. Therefore, in addition to the requirements listed in Table 1, the materials of the BPs must be easy to machine. A significant number of studies have been conducted on the design of the internal channels of BPs.66,263-269

Over the past 15 years, the requirements for PEMFC components have been refined. This has involved raising and lowering some component property requirements due to a rethinking of factors affecting the performance of FCSs during operation. For instance, in accordance with the DOE's 2020 requirements, a number of the BP characteristics were already achieved in 2015, including the anodic and cathodic corrosion current parameters, the electrical conductivity, and the specific contact resistance.^{68,69} Currently, the BPs account for up to 80% of the weight of PEMFC, up to 50% of its volume and up to 40% of its cost, which presents a significant challenge to the largescale commercialisation of PEMFCs.68,270 Therefore, the cost of BPs must be reduced by a factor of 3.5 by 2025, which is one of the most challenging tasks.⁶⁹ It is also important to note that the cost of metal accounts for approximately half of the cost of BP, which makes it impossible to achieve the targets without a multiple increase in the specific power of the device.

BPs are manufactured using a variety of materials, including carbon, composite materials, and various metals.^{67,68,271–273} The following section will consider the advantages, disadvantages and production technology of the three aforementioned types of BPs.

3.4.1. Composite bipolar plates

A composite material is a material containing corrosion resistant polymeric materials and conductive fillers. Both thermoset and thermoplastic polymers (*e.g.* polyvinylidene fluoride, polypropylene, *etc.*) can be used as polymeric materials for the BPs.^{274–277} Thermoset materials are much more commonly used than thermoplastics.⁷¹ The main disadvantage of these materials is their low electronic conductivity. When incorporating conductive fillers such as metals or carbon materials, it is crucial to consider the impact on the mechanical properties of the resulting material.

Much of the research into BP-based composite systems has focused on carbon materials as fillers due to their low density and wide availability.^{68,70,71,278} Metal particles have higher electrical conductivity compared to carbon fillers, but they have higher density and are prone to corrosion under PEMFC operating conditions.⁶⁹

Typically, composite BPs are manufactured by compression or injection moulding, which allows the gas flow channels to be formed immediately, eliminating the costly machining stage.²⁷⁹ The advantages of this type of BPs are: high corrosion resistance, low volume and weight, high compressive strength; and the disadvantages are: low flexural strength, low electrical conductivity, difficulty for mass production, high cost.

3.4.2. Non-porous graphite bipolar plates

Non-porous graphite BPs are typically manufactured by graphitising a blend of carbon/graphite powder and graphite resin at high temperature. The graphitising temperature is usually in excess of 2000 °C. This process must be carried out at a low rate of temperature rise, and therefore takes a long time. Furthermore, during the graphitisation process, the evaporation of impurities can create new voids, resulting in 20-30% porosity on the surface of the graphite plates.⁶⁹ This can lead to the reagent leakage, reducing the power and efficiency of the PEMFC. Consequently, to reduce porosity and enhance surface quality, graphite plates require further processing (*e.g.* impregnation with sodium silicate solution⁷¹), which increases

their cost. Compared to other types of BPs, graphite plates are more susceptible to damage during the manufacturing process. Due to their low strength and brittleness, graphite BPs are not suitable for forming ultra-thin plates (<1.5 mm), which increases the mass and dimensional characteristics of the manufactured PEMFC.²⁷⁸

Graphite BPs offer a number of advantages, including excellent corrosion resistance, high thermal and electrical conductivity, and a sufficiently developed production technology. However, they also have a number of disadvantages, including poor mechanical properties (brittleness), high weight (due to the need to manufacture thick graphite BPs), poor machinability, and a high cost of processing. The high cost and mass-dimensional characteristics of this type of BP make it unsuitable for use in PEMFCs with high specific characteristics and low cost. However, the homogeneity of the material and high corrosion resistance allow it to be used in stationary devices where a very long lifetime (more than 30 000 hours) is required.⁷¹

3.4.3. Metal bipolar plates

Metallic materials (stainless steel, titanium, aluminium, nickel) are attractive due to their mechanical properties, high thermal and electrical conductivity, wide choice of alloys and the possibility of manufacturing ultra-thin BPs (<1 mm).^{280,281} However, such metals are susceptible to corrosion in PEMFC operation conditions due to the presence of acidic environments and humidity. Dissolved ions can poison the membrane and the catalyst, reducing the power of the PEMFC.²⁸² Furthermore, the natural oxide film on the surface of the metals increases the contact resistance between the BP and the GDL, thereby impairing electron and heat transfer, ion transport through the polymer membrane, and hence the efficiency of the PEMFC.²⁸³

To prevent the formation of oxides and contamination of the membrane and the catalytic layer with the metal ions, the BP surface is coated with a corrosion-resistant coating with a coefficient of thermal expansion close to that of the base metal of the BP. This is to avoid fracture when the operating temperature of the PEMFC changes. Carbon or polymeric materials, noble metals, metal nitrides and carbides can be used as protective coatings.^{280,284–289} It is important to note that the majority of the coatings proposed in the literature for BPs meet the DOE requirements for corrosion current and contact resistance. Furthermore, they can also contribute to reducing the cost of BPs in mass production.²⁸⁶

In general, metallic BPs offer the following advantages: high thermal and electrical conductivity, excellent mechanical properties, ease of fabrication, low cost, excellent resistance to shock and vibration, and the ability to fabricate ultra-thin BPs (and thus lighter than graphite BPs). A disadvantage is the need to apply a protective coating to fulfill the requirements for contact resistance and corrosion resistance (this is an additional production stage, increasing the cost of the finished device).

The significant advantages and relatively few disadvantages of metal BPs are driving their replacement of carbon and composite BPs in the market. However, due to the protective coating on the surface of the BPs, the guaranteed lifetime of such BPs < 10000 h (sufficient for mobile devices) is insufficient for stationary applications.

As a result, the commercial production of key components of PEMFC (membranes, electrocatalysts, GDL and BP) has been established on a global scale. At the same time, all materials are available in several variants, which can differ quite significantly in their properties. However, to date, there is no universal component that meets all the requirements for all types of PEMFCs. Consequently, despite the wide range of materials currently available for PEMFCs, further research and development is required to enhance the performance of all the key materials to ensure that they operate effectively under the diverse conditions encountered in commercial devices.

4. Influence of material properties and various factors on current-voltage characteristics, efficiency and power of proton exchange membrane fuel cell

As mentioned above, the efficiency of the PEMFC is defined as the ratio of the electrical voltage at which the PEMFC operates to the theoretical voltage at open circuit and at a given temperature. As the electrical current of the PEMFC increases, the electrical voltage losses increase, so the maximum efficiency of the PEMFC is achieved at the minimum current. The maximum power of the PEMFC often lies in the area of low efficiency values $(25-30\%)^{290}$ (see Fig. 3), so most often the focus is placed on the optimal power level at acceptable efficiency. The performance of the PEMFC is influenced by a number of factors: from the material of the components to the operating conditions,^{51,291–293} e.g. the water balance of the system (for which different techniques are developed),²⁹⁴ even the assembly pressure of the MEA.295,296 This section will discuss the main material properties and factors affecting PEMFC performance in more detail.

4.1. Proton exchange membrane resistance

The power characteristics of the PEMFC are primarily influenced by the internal resistance of the device, one of the components of which is the resistance of the PEM. The electrical resistance of the membrane, in turn, depends on its composition (membrane material and additional modifications), thickness, and ambient temperature and humidity.48,96,99,297-302 As mentioned earlier, the membrane determines the operating temperature range of the PEMFC.^{81,96,303} With increasing membrane thickness and water content, its mechanical strength increases and the crossover of reagent gases decreases.³⁰⁴⁻³⁰⁷ As the thickness of the PEM increases, its electrical resistance also increases, which in turn leads to a decrease in operating currents. For example, the electrical current of the LT-PEMFC at 0.5 V decreases in the following order of PEM materials: Nafion[™]112 (50 µm thickness, 1041 mA cm⁻²)>Nafion[™]115 (125 µm thickness, 736 mA cm⁻²)>NafionTM117 (175 µm thickness, 722 mA cm⁻²). In practice, even thinner membranes of 25 and 10 µm are often used. Some calculations indicate that the optimal membrane thickness is between 20 and 60 µm,^{17,290,308} as they are better wetted but may have increased hydrogen crossover.309

4.2. Catalytic layer properties

The catalytic layer represents the most complex aspect in terms of its influence on the power and lifetime characteristics of the PEMFC. The influence of the main factors is presented in Fig. 14. It should be noted that the list is not exhaustive.

The performance of the PEMFC is influenced by the electrocatalyst activity and various voltage losses. The primary objective of research in this field is to reduce the platinum



Figure 14. The main factors influencing the performance of PEMFC catalytic layers.

content while maintaining high PEMFC performance. In the 1980s, the most significant advancement was the applying of nanoscale platinum particles on a carbon support, which reduced the platinum content in the catalytic layer by 10 times to 0.4 mg_{Pt} cm⁻² while maintaining the power characteristics of the PEMFC.^{310,311} In most cases, a platinum content of $0.4-2 \text{ mg}_{Pt} \text{ cm}^{-2}$ is used. Further research has been conducted on even lower Pt contents (~0.1 $mg_{Pt} cm^{-2}$) to meet DOE requirements for the amount of catalyst on the cathode (Table 1).^{37,312–314} In the work³¹⁴, the catalyst content was varied at a fixed thickness of the catalytic layers (Fig. 15).³¹⁴ The results demonstrated that under the experimental conditions, a significant (more than twofold) increase in the specific power of the PEMFC was observed when the Pt content was increased from 0.025 to 0.1 mg_{Pt} cm⁻². However, further increases in the platinum content of the electrocatalyst had minimal impact on the P value. Therefore, it is not cost-effective to increase the platinum content excessively in the catalytic layer.³¹⁴

In addition to power performance, the catalyst content also has an impact on the cost of PEMFC. The contribution of catalyst to the cost of a PEMFC is estimated to range from 21% for production of 1000 units per year to 45% for production of



Figure 15. Dependence of specific power of PEMFC on Pt content in the catalytic layer at 0.65 V (input gas humidity is 100%, 80 °C, 150 kPa).

more than 500000 units per year.^{311,314} Accordingly, the DOE has set a target for the catalyst content of PEMFC anode of $0.025 \text{ mg}_{\text{Pt}} \text{ cm}^{-2}$ (although some work reported lower values³¹⁵). The target for the Pt content of the cathode is higher, $0.100 \text{ mg}_{Pt} \text{ cm}^{-2}$, but an even the lower content of 0.0625 mg_{Pt} cm⁻² is required for PEMFC cars to match the cost of ICE cars.²⁸⁶ However, as shown above, the lower Pt content leads to the lower power performance, necessitating the use of highly active catalysts to maintain the acceptable PEMFC power levels. PEMFC power characteristics for different Pt contents in the catalytic layers are shown in Tables 7 and 8. It should be noted that the evaluation of the influence of each catalyst on the power characteristics is problematic due to the fact that the measurements were carried out under different conditions and with different components of PEMFC. In the case of LT-PEMFC, high power can be achieved at low electrocatalyst contents (even below the DOE target of 0.125 mg_{Pt} cm⁻²),³¹³ while HT-PEMFC has very low power (insufficient for successful application) at low platinum contents.

To enhance the specific activity of the catalysts, they are manufactured with a low Pt content (below 20 wt.%).339 This requires an increase in the thickness of the catalytic layers to achieve the required activity, which, in turn, limits mass transfer. A reduction in the thickness of the catalytic layer improves the performance of the PEMFC in all three current density ranges (see Fig. 3b). This is due to the high electrocatalyst activity resulting from the large platinum surface area, the low proton transfer resistance in the catalytic layers, and the higher efficiency of O2 molecules to reach the Pt surface on the cathode side.^{340,341} As the platinum content in the catalyst increases, its activity per unit mass of Pt decreases, but the conductivity of the catalytic layer increases and diffusion losses decrease. Consequently, the optimal platinum content in the catalyst is determined by the balance of these properties and can range from 40 to 80 wt.%, depending on the type of PEMFC and its operational conditions.³⁴¹ The calculated optimum thickness of the catalytic layer is $10-40 \,\mu m.^{17,311}$

One of the most important factors is the catalyst lifetime, which is directly influenced by the size of the platinum particles. Larger platinum particles are less susceptible to degradation.¹⁸⁹

| Pt content, mg cm ⁻² | | Specific | ~ . | | | | | $p(H_2) = p(air).$ | |
|---------------------------------|---------|-------------------------------|------------|-------------------------|------|--------|---------------------------------------|--------------------|------|
| anode | cathode | power, mW cm ⁻² | Catalyst | Membrane brand | T, ℃ | RH (%) | $\lambda_{\rm O_2}/\lambda_{\rm H_2}$ | atm | Ref. |
| 0.5 | 1.0 | 889 | 30% Pt/C | Nafion [™] 112 | 80 | 100 | 3.5/4.5 | 4 | 316 |
| 0.4 | 0.4 | 330 | 20% Pt/C | Nafion [™] 112 | 80 | 100 | 2/2 | 3 | 316 |
| 0.05 | 0.1 | 780 | 50%Pt/C | Gore M835.18 | 80 | 65 | 20/15 | 2.5 | 292 |
| 0.05 | 0.05 | 550 | 50% Pt/C | Gore M835.18 | 80 | 65 | 20/15 | 2.5 | 317 |
| 0.05 | 0.1 | 1200 | 30% Pt/C | Gore M835.18 | 80 | 100 | 20/15 | 2.5 | 318 |
| 0.05 | 0.05 | 900 | 10% Pt/C | Gore M835.18 | 80 | 100 | 20/15 | 2.5 | 319 |
| 0.05 | 0.025 | 630 | 5% Pt/C | Gore M835.18 | 80 | 100 | 20/15 | 2.5 | 314 |
| 0.05 | 0.1 | 1050 | 50% Pt/C | Gore M835.18 | 80 | 100 | 20/15 | 2.5 | 314 |
| 0.05 | 0.05 | 840 | 50% Pt/C | Gore M835.18 | 80 | 100 | 20/15 | 2.5 | 314 |
| 0.05 | 0.025 | 540 | 50% Pt/C | Gore M835.18 | 80 | 100 | 20/15 | 2.5 | 314 |
| 0.065 | 0.065 | 560 | 40% Pt/C | Nafion [™] 212 | 70 | 100 | - | 3 | 314 |
| 0.1 | 0.2 | 670 | 50% Pt/C | Nafion [™] 212 | 80 | 100 | 2.8/1.5 | 2.3 | 314 |
| 0.1 | 0.3 | 480 | 46.4% Pt/C | Nafion [™] HP | 70 | 64 | 2.2/1.2 | - | 314 |
| 0.1 | 0.5 | 570 | 46.4% Pt/C | Nafion [™] HP | 70 | 64 | 2.2/1.2 | - | 314 |
| 0.1 | 0.7 | 630 | 46.4% Pt/C | Nafion [™] HP | 70 | 64 | 2.2/1.2 | - | 320 |
| 0.1 | 1 | 540 | 46.4% Pt/C | Nafion [™] HP | 70 | 64 | 2.2/1.2 | - | 321 |
| 0.1 | 0.4 | 846 | 30% Pt/C | Nafion [™] 212 | 70 | 100 | - | 2 | 322 |
| 0.08 | 0.12 | 720 | 60% Pt/C | Nafion [™] HP | 80 | 100 | 4/3 | 3 | 322 |
| 0.1 | 0.4 | 810 | 45% PtCo/C | Pemion | 80 | 50 | - | 2.5 | 145 |
| 0.1 | 0.4 | 1020 | 45% PtCo/C | Fumapem | 80 | 50 | - | 2.5 | 145 |
| 0.14 | 0.25 | 750 | 40% Pt/C | Nafion [™] HP | 80 | 100 | 2/2 | 1 | 323 |
| 0.14 | 0.25 | 400 | 40% Pt/C | Nafion [™] HP | 80 | 25 | 2/2 | 1 | 323 |
| 0.12 | 0.2 | 700 | 60% Pt/C | Nafion [™] 211 | 60 | 80 | 2.5/1.5 | 1 | 324 |
| 0.12 | 0.2 | 420 | 60% Pt/C | Nafion [™] 211 | 60 | 20 | 2.5/1.5 | 1 | 324 |
| 0.1 | 0.4 | 900 | 40% Pt/C | Gore M820.15 | 70 | 100 | 2.2/1.6 | 1 | 325 |

Table 7. Power characteristics of LT-PEMFC at 0.6 V, Pt content in catalytic layers and type of electrocatalyst (Pt content in wt.%), membrane brand, operating temperature (*T*), ambient humidity (RH), air (λ_{O_2}) and hydrogen (λ_{H_2}) stoichiometry, hydrogen ($p(H_2)$) and air (p(air)) pressure.

Table 8. Power characteristics of HT-PEMFC at 0.6 V, Pt content in catalytic layers and type of electrocatalyst (Pt content in wt.%), membrane brand, operating temperature (*T*), ambient humidity (RH), air (λ_{O_2}) and hydrogen (λ_{H_2}) stoichiometry, hydrogen ($p(H_2)$) and air (p(air)) pressure.

| Pt content, mg cm ⁻² | | _ Specific power, | | | T 0.0 | | $p(H_2) = p(air),$ | D C |
|---------------------------------|---------|---------------------|---------------------------|-------------------------|--------------|---------------------------------------|--------------------|------|
| anode | cathode | mW cm ⁻² | Catalyst | Catalyst Membrane brand | | $\lambda_{\rm O_2}/\lambda_{\rm H_2}$ | atm | Ref. |
| 1 | 0.8 | 200 | Pt/C | Celtec | 2/1/2 | 160 | 1 | 90 |
| 1 | 0.8 | 230 | Pt/C | Celtec | 2/1/2 | 180 | 1 | 90 |
| 1.5 | 1.5 | 270 | Pt/C, °C | Dapozol G77 | 3/3 | 150 | _ | 326 |
| 0.7 | 0.7 | 100 | 10% Pt/C | Advent HT TPS | _ | 160 | 1 | 327 |
| 0.7 | 0.7 | 80 | 20% Pt/C | Advent HT TPS | _ | 160 | 1 | 327 |
| 0.7 | 0.7 | 72 | 40% Pt/C | Advent HT TPS | _ | 160 | 1 | 327 |
| 0.5 | 0.5 | 180 | 10% Pt/C | Fumapem AM | 2/1.5 | 150 | 1 | 328 |
| 0.1 | 0.1 | 60 | 10% Pt/C | Fumapem AM | 2/1.5 | 150 | 1 | 328 |
| 1 | 1 | 130 | Pt/C | | 2.5/1.5 | 160 | 1 | 329 |
| 0.5 | 0.5 | 150 | 40% Pt/C | Fumapem®Ap-30 | — | 160 | 1 | 330 |
| 0.5 | 0.5 | 120 | 40% Pt/C | _ | 2.5/1.2 | 160 | 2 | 331 |
| 1 | 1 | 240 | 40% Pt/C | Fumapem | — | 160 | - | 332 |
| 1 | 1 | 150 | 40% Pt/C | Celtec | - | 160 | 1 | 333 |
| 0.3 | 0.3 | 90 | 40% Pt/C | _ | 2.5/1.2 | 160 | 1 | 334 |
| 0.5 | 0.5 | 120 | 40% Pt/C | _ | 2.5/1.2 | 160 | 1 | 334 |
| 0.75 | 0.74 | 150 | 40% Pt/C | - | 2.5/1.2 | 160 | 1 | 334 |
| 0.7 | 1.5 | 200 | 40% Pt/C | Fumatech AP 40 | _ | 160 | 1 | 335 |
| 0.5 | 0.5 | 170 | 40% Pt/C; 46.9% PtCo/C | _ | - | 160 | 1 | 336 |
| 0.72 | 0.72 | 380 | 40% Pt/C | Celtec | 2/2 | 180 | 1 | 337 |
| 1 | 1 | 150 | 60% Pt/C | Fumapem | 2.5/1.55 | 180 | 2 | 338 |

In addition, a high platinum content in the catalytic layers is used to extend the lifetime of PEMFCs (reducing the degradation of the catalytic layer). This is particularly evident in HT-PEMFCs, where degradation processes are accelerated due to the higher operating temperature. Consequently, it is often necessary to use a catalytic layer with a high platinum content $(1-2 \text{ mg}_{Pt} \text{ cm}^{-2})$, which is well above the DOE targets even for 2020 (0.125 mg_{Pt} cm⁻²).³¹³

In addition to the platinum content, the other components of the catalytic layer also affect the performance of the PEMFC: the type and content of the ionomer, the type of platinum support, the type of solvent used to prepare the catalytic ink, the method of preparation and application of the catalytic layer, including the application of several catalytic layers with different platinum contents or the application of the catalytic layer on the membrane instead of the GDL.^{260,293,312,313,342-348} For instance, there are developments in the production of ultra-thin catalytic layers (1 µm) due to the absence of ionomer, which allows for an increase in the active surface area of platinum and a reduction in the content of noble metals³⁴⁷ or the complete elimination of their use.³⁴⁸ However, such technologies are unlikely to be widely adopted in the near future due to the increased degradation rate of ultrathin layers and the lower specific capacity of the PEMFCs with non-platinum catalysts.

4.3. Gas diffusion layer properties

The operating mode and structure of the PEMFC (gas humidity, operating temperature and current magnitude, channel dimensions, *etc.*) require the selection of an optimised GDL:^{36,249,349}

— woven GDL is used for high current densities $(>800 \text{ mA cm}^{-2})$ and high humidity of the input gases, but it cannot be used for wide channels in the BPs,

--- non-woven GDL is better suited for dry operating conditions and any channels in the BPs,

— hydrophobisation is required for high humidity of the input gases (>70%) to avoid the cathode flooding,

- MPL improves the PEMFC performance in all conditions.

By varying the composition of the MPL and applying several functional layers to the carbon paper, we have achieved a specific PEMFC power of more than 1 W cm⁻².^{350,351} The authors of the works^{352–354} have demonstrated that MPL can boost the power of a PEMFC by up to two times at 0.6 V, depending on the measurement parameters. The high roughness of the GDL due to the MPL applied can have a negative impact on the PEMFC power characteristics in the case of non-uniform or insufficient pressing due to the increase in contact resistance.²⁶⁰ A reduction in porosity and an increase in the thickness of the GDL (Fig. 16),³⁵⁵ and the formation of cracks³⁵⁶ during the pressing of the MEA or in harsh operating conditions, can lead to a decline in the power characteristics. Consequently, a significant number of studies are focused on the mechanical properties of the GDL.^{64,357}

4.4. Operating temperature

The performance of a PEMFC is significantly affected by the operating temperature (Fig. 17).^{358,359} This is due to the fact that the rate of electrochemical reactions, the rate of mass transfer, and the membrane conductivity increase with temperature. The operating temperature is a function of the properties of the materials used, and its selection must consider the hydration



Figure 16. Dependences of the HT-PEMFC specific power (0.4 V, 180 °C) on thickness and porosity of the GDL.

level of the membrane. It should be noted that during operation, a PEMFC heats up due to voltage drop across its various elements (see Chapter 2). Additionally, heat distribution in both the single MEA and the FCS is non-uniform.²⁵ At low current densities, the main heat generation is in the catalytic layer due to activation polarization. However, as current density increases, the contribution of Joule heating increases due to the increased contribution of ohmic polarization.³⁶⁰

Under conditions of symmetric humidification of the reagent gases, operation of the LT-PEMFC at temperatures of ~70-80 °C leads to an improvement in power characteristics. This is due to an improvement in mass transfer, an increase in the diffusion coefficient in boundary layers and the membrane, a decrease in membrane resistance and an increase in the electrocatalytic activity of both electrodes. At the same time, there is an optimal humidity of the input gases, the value of which depends on the current density. However, further increases in temperature have a negative impact on the PEMFC performance due to a reduction in the membrane water content as a result of increased evaporation.88,292,304,361,362 An increase in operating temperature should be accompanied by an increase in hydrogen humidity (to avoid a loss of performance)³⁶³ or an increase in current density up to 400 mA cm⁻² (to self-humidify the membrane).³¹⁷ At low temperatures (below 60 °C), the PEMFCs is susceptible to cathode flooding, which can lead to and a reduction in the device oxygen deficiency performance.317,362



Figure 17. LT-PEMFC specific power vs. temperature with different brands of NafionTM membrane (0.5 V, humidity of the input gases is indicated in the legend in %).



Figure 18. Dependence of the specific power of the HT-PEMFC on the operating temperature (0.65 V, BASF Celtec P2100 MEA membrane).

HT-PEMFCs are operated at temperatures above 100 °C to prevent condensation of water, which can wash out phosphoric acid from the membrane. For HT-PEMFCs, there is also a welldefined temperature dependence of the performance characteristics (Fig. 18).^{17,74,149} However, it is important to note that the applied temperature is also a critical parameter. While the performance characteristics increase with increasing temperature, the durability of the PEMFC decreases rapidly with increasing temperature. It is therefore essential that the temperature within the FCS is maintained a consistent level and that it is not exceeded, as this can have a detrimental impact on the device and its components. Whit regard to the expected lifetime, various authors have identified 160-180 °C as the optimum operating temperature for HT-PEMFCs.^{74,364,365}

4.5. Temperature and humidity of input gases

As mentioned above, the electrical conductivity of the membrane is significantly influenced by its hydration level and the operating temperature. To ensure a high water content of the polymer electrolyte, it is essential to humidify the gases supplied into the PEMFC.^{366–368} To extend the lifetime of the FCS, it is essential to ensure uniform membrane humidification over its plane. It is important to prevent the formation of dry areas as this can affect the uniformity of current distribution, which in turn will have an adverse effect on the PEMFC lifetime.369 Furthermore, it is important to avoid the PEM swelling-drying cycles, as this can cause a change in size and further delamination from the catalytic/gas diffusion layer.¹²³ Increased gas humidity can raise the operating temperature of the PEMFC, which has a positive effect on reaction kinetics.³⁷⁰ For example, when the humidity of the gases supplied to the PEMFC is simultaneously reduced from 100% to 25-30%, the specific power of the PEMFC with the NafionTM membrane decreases by a factor of 3-4 due to increased activation and ohmic losses (Fig. 19).49,358,368,371,372

If simultaneous humidification of the cathode and the anode is not an economically viable option, it is necessary to determine which of the gases will be humidified. In the case of asymmetric humidification of hydrogen and air, it is crucial to determine which of the gases is supplied into the PEMFC in the dry state. The majority of researchers agree that air (cathode) humidification has a greater effect on PEMFC performance than hydrogen (anode) humidification, and that an acceptable performance can be achieved by reverse diffusion of water to the anode.^{48,292,359,361,366,368,372–375} Some



Figure 19. Dependence of the PEMFC specific power on the water content of the input gases at 0.6 V, 85 °C, $\lambda_{O_2} = 4$, $\lambda_{H_2} = 1.2$.

calculations indicate that hydrogen humidification has a greater effect on PEMFC performance.41,291,376 Hydrogen humidification is also an acceptable method, in which case water flows to the cathode together with protons due to electroosmotic movement. In the presence of current, reverse diffusion of water from the cathode to the anode under a pressure gradient is a more effective method of maintaining operating conditions than electroosmosis of water from the anode to the cathode. At medium to high levels of input air humidity (>45%), reverse diffusion of water is sufficient to maintain the membrane hydration, and further hydrogen humidification does not result in a significant improvement in performance. The lower humidity of the cathode side compared to the anode side in PEMFCs is necessary to maintain the water content of the membrane at high current densities due to the formation of large amounts of water.41 At high current densities (>800 mA cm⁻²), there is a degree of self-humidifying of the membrane with the formed water.³⁶¹ Therefore, the type of asymmetric humidification depends on the operating parameters of the device. In any case, to reduce the influence of humidity on the PEMFC operation, the humidification retention capacity of the PEM can be increased, for example by modification as described in Chapter 3.

Similar studies for the FCS have shown that an increase in the gas humidity leads to an improvement in its voltammetric characteristics (Fig. 20).³⁷⁷ The maximum power is achieved at symmetric gas humidification over 60%.^{375,377–379} At this humidity, the distribution of voltages across the MEA of the FCS is more uniform.



Figure 20. Dependence of the FCS specific power on air humidity at different hydrogen humidity (0.71 V, 70 °C).

It is evident that the optimal values of relative humidity of gases supplied to the cathode and the anode vary and depend on the conditions of thermal control, gas flow rate, and current density.^{368,380-383} For instance, the authors of the work³⁸⁴ provide the precise value of the optimal gas humidity, which is 70%. However, in order to optimise the PEMFC power characteristics, a number of other specifications must also be defined. It is therefore evident that another crucial parameter affecting the characteristics of PEMFCs is the temperature of the input gases at the inlet of the device. As the humidity of the gases decreases, the effect of the gas temperature increases.³⁷¹ In the work ³⁵⁹ it was demonstrated that lowering the temperature of fully humidified gases supplied into the PEMFC below the operating temperature of the device itself (from 80 to 50 °C) results in a decrease in the specific power from 488 to 130 mW cm⁻² at 0.6 V. This behaviour can be explained by the improved reaction kinetics and ionic conductivity at higher temperatures. With an overall operating temperature set at 80 °C in all cases, lowering the temperature of the input reagent gas below 80 °C has the effect of cooling the element and reducing the humidification of the PEMFC (e.g., the vapour pressure of water at 100% input gas humidity and its temperature of 50 °C corresponds to an input gas humidity of 26% at its temperature of 80 °C). This results in a reduction in the ionic conductivity of the electrolyte, an increase in ohmic losses and an uneven humidifying of the membrane, which has a detrimental impact on the lifetime of the PEMFC. It is therefore desirable to heat the input gases to the operating temperature of the PEMFC.

4.6. Gas pressure and stoichiometry

The performance of the PEMFC is significantly influenced by the pressure of input oxygen (air).^{80,385} As the pressure increases, the power performance improves due to enhanced mass transfer and elevated rates of electrochemical reactions (1) and (2), which are directly proportional to the partial pressure of hydrogen and oxygen (Fig. 21).385-387 The most commonly used pressure range is 1 to 2.5 atm.^{52,376,388} It is observed that an improvement in PEMFC performance is achieved when the pressure at the cathode is increased in comparison to the anode.389 However, in order to maintain the membrane durability, it is important to ensure that the pressure difference does not exceed 0.5 atm.41,48 The performance of the PEMFC can be increased by pulsing the gas pressure, which optimises the gas convection process.⁴¹ As the exhaust air pressure at the outlet of the PEMFC is higher than atmospheric pressure (exhaust air cannot spontaneously vent to the atmosphere if its



Figure 21. Dependence of the PEMFC specific power on air pressure (0.6 V, 80 °C, $\lambda_{O_2} = \lambda_{H_2} = 2$, input gas humidity is 100%).



Figure 22. Optimum air stoichiometry (grey dashed line) at different load currents.⁴¹

pressure is lower than atmospheric pressure), the turbines can be used for energy recovery, recovering up to 80% of the energy used by the compressor. It should be noted that increasing the pressure of the gases supplied to the PEMFC requires better sealing and the use of additional devices (compressors) to operate the device, which will be discussed in more detail below.

In addition to pressure, the stoichiometry of the input gases (λ) has a significant impact on the power characteristics of the PEMFC. For instance, for PEMFCs with closed cathode (will be discussed below), the optimal gas stoichiometry (λ_{opt}) is approximately 2 (Fig. 22).^{35,309,388,390,391} When λ is below the optimal value, the voltage loss associated with concentration polarisation increases due to the low water removal rate and lower oxygen concentration. When $\lambda > \lambda_{opt}$ due to excessive air flow, water removal is intense, leading to a decrease in the proton conductivity of the membrane and an increase in the ohmic voltage losses of the PEMFC, in addition, the power consumption of the compressor increases significantly.

The authors of the work ⁵² optimised the performance of a 30 kW PEMFC system by optimising the air pressure and λ at electrical loads of 100–250 A: the optimum gas pressure for maximum power is always in the region of lower values (1–2 atm), and λ_{opt} tends to increase gradually as the current increases. Based on the above, to maximise the efficiency of the PEMFC, an air compressor with an output pressure of up to 2.5 atm should be selected and λ should be varied depending on the current load. Excessive air flow rates can lead to water removal, which in turn causes the membrane to dry out and increase its electrical resistance.²⁹²

In summary, the PEMFC is a complex system with components that interact each other. External factors (operating conditions) also have a significant influence on the characteristics of the components and, consequently, on the power characteristics of the manufactured PEMFC. This must always be taken into account when creating and optimising such systems. In addition, the air supply method and the type of cooling system influence the performance of the PEMFC. Due to the significant impact these factors have on the design, they are discussed in a separate chapter.

5. Methods of cooling and air supply in proton exchange membrane fuel cells

The PEMFC generates electricity with simultaneous heat generation during the electrochemical reactions (1) and (2). The local and overall distribution of current density associated with

the reagent feed rate directly affects the temperature distribution inside the FCS, and hence the electrochemical reaction rate (the electrochemical reaction rate increases with temperature) and the performance of the PEMFC.

In PEMFCs, the amount of heat generated during operation is 45-60% of the total energy produced during hydrogen oxidation (Fig. 23).^{25,273,392,393} This heat can be removed from the PEMFC in various ways, *e.g.* with excess of the reagents, evaporation of water formed, convection from the external surface of the PEMFC. However, these methods of heat removal are inefficient and do not allow to achieve the high values of specific power of PEMFC. Consequently, all modern PEMFCs are equipped with an additional cooling system that removes up to 85% of the heat generated.

In LT-PEMFCs, temperature affects the water content of the PEM, which in turn affects the membrane conductivity. If the temperature is too high, the membrane loses water, causing increased membrane brittleness, which can lead to irreversible power loss. At low temperature, flooding of the cathode channels in the BP can occur, leading to difficulties in oxygen transport through the GDL. In HT-PEMFCs, the membrane conductivity is almost not affected by humidity of the input gases, but is strongly dependent on operating temperature. It is therefore clear that the performance of the PEM and, by extension, the PEMFC, is directly affected by the temperature and humidity of the environment and the input reagent gases. In general, the highest temperature in a PEMFC is in the center of the device. If the local current density is too high, local overheating points will also occur, which can lead to the PEM damage. $\overline{^{394}}$ It is therefore essential to ensure efficient and stable operation of the PEMFC by implementing effective temperature control and optimising the cooling system design, which must dissipate the majority of the heat generated. It is crucial to select the most appropriate system for maintaining the optimal temperature of the PEMFC.

The selection of cooling methodology typically depends on the PEMFC power (Fig. 24). For the small-scale PEMFCs (with the power less than 2 kW), air cooling is often the preferred option. For the large-scale PEMFCs (with the power more than 10 kW), liquid cooling is widely used, as it can remove more heat at the same power consumption per unit active area of the PEMFC.^{25,302,395} However, such cooling adds mass, size and design complexity. For the medium-scale devices (with power between 2 and approximately 10 kW), the type of cooling is selected according to the specific requirements. Air and liquid cooling have their own advantages and peculiarities, which are discussed in detail in the works^{98,273,396,397}. It is important to note that due to the higher operating temperature of



Figure 24. Cooling systems of PEMFC of different capacities.²⁷⁸

HT-PEMFCs, heat transfer occurs at a higher rate, which means that cooling systems for such PEMFCs are usually simpler than for LT-PEMFCs. The coolant circulation systems in the cooling system allow for the preheating of the PEMFC to facilitate a 'cold start'.

The main parameters affecting the cooling efficiency are the temperature difference between the coolant inlet temperature and the operating temperature of the PEMFC, the configuration of the flow field of both gases and the cooling reagent.³⁹⁶ It is essential to ensure the optimum design of the coolant flow field to achieve uniform temperature distribution within the cell. The performance of the coolant flow field is typically assessed using a number of performance indicators, including average and maximum coolant temperatures, coolant pressure drops and temperature uniformity index (TUI). The TUI indicates the deviation of the temperature of the surface involved in heat transfer, *T*, from the average temperature of the entire surface \overline{T} :³⁹⁸

$$TUI = \frac{\int_{A}^{|T - \overline{T}| \, dA}}{\int_{A}^{dA}}$$
(19)
$$\overline{T} = \frac{\int_{A}^{TdA}}{dA}$$



where A is the surface area. A surface with a perfectly uniform temperature distribution has a TUI value of 0. Therefore, the smaller the TUI value, the more uniform the temperature distribution and the higher the cooling efficiency.^{398–400}

Due to the fact that cooling and air supply to the cathode can be coupled, we will consider these systems together. There are two types of the cathode channels: open to the atmosphere from both sides (with a pressure equal to that of the surrounding atmosphere) and closed from both sides by systems regulating the flow and pressure of the gases.

5.1. Open cathode channels. Air cooling

The first method of air supply to the open cathode channels is passive. In this case, oxygen enters the reaction zone at the PEMFC cathode exclusively *via* diffusion, with no additional systems facilitating this process. This method eliminates the energy losses associated with air pumping, however, the rate of oxygen supply to the reaction zone is relatively low. This results in low specific power, so this method is only suitable for ultracompact devices with a power of no more than 10 W.³¹ This method of air supply eliminates the need for a cooling system, active air supply and humidifier, reducing costs and the PEMFCs with power up to 500 mW cm⁻² more compact.^{401,402} For more powerful PEMFCs, system of forced air supply to the cathode is required.

Unlike passively supplied PEMFCs, active supply requires the air flow to be controlled by an external force. The system comprises additional external devices, such as fans (blowers), which regulate the air flow to the cathode and provide the necessary cooling. Furthermore, the fans can be utilised to prevent flooding of the cathode by accelerating the evaporation of the resulting water. The additional devices consume net power and increase the size of the PEMFC with forced convection compared to passive convection. However, they provide a significant increase in power performance.⁴⁰²

The main challenge of the open cathode PEMFC configuration is the significant impact of environmental conditions on device performance. The open cathode channels make it practically impossible to supply air to the cathode with a given temperature and humidity, which has a significant impact on the characteristics of the PEMFC. To address these challenges, a comprehensive approach is used, encompassing the optimisation of PEMFC components (catalytic layers, membrane and GDL), operation algorithms, and other key elements. To ensure an even air supply to all the channels, the fan is set to blow out, creating low pressure. To achieve optimal PEMFC performance, it is necessary to supply the cathode channels with a higher air pressure. This requires the use of cathode channels that create a minimum pressure drop. The BPs with straight channels, with a length-to-width ratio of 10-20,⁴⁰³ and a trapezoidal cross-section are the most commonly used.⁴⁰⁴

With this method of air supply, the specific characteristics of the PEMFC and its operating efficiency depend on the efficiency of the air pumping. Radial fans of various types are typically used for these applications. The choice of fans depends on the application of the FCS. The net fan power, fan type, length and geometry of the cathode channels influence the efficiency of the PEMFC.^{402,405}

When air is supplied to the cathode channels by a fan, the most straightforward cooling method is to remove heat by the air flow, simultaneously acting as a coolant, which passes either through the cathode or through special cooling plates. The air cooling method is an attractive option due to its simplicity and the possibility to integrate cooling channels into the cathode, reducing the size, weight, cost and complexity of device control.^{406,407} However, air cooling is only suitable for low-power PEMFCs, as increasing the power leads to a significant increase in the size of the PEMFC and the entire system.⁷⁴

5.2. Closed cathode channels

To create pressure inside the cathode channel, it is necessary to have a closed system with adjustable inlet and outlet. This complicates the design of PEMFC, but allows to raise its productivity. As previously indicated, an air pressure of 1.0-2.5 atm is essential for the optimal operation of the PEMFC. Consequently, fans that generate a substantial air flow at a minimal pressure drop are used exclusively for low-power aircooled PEMFCs with augmented air flow. Medium and highpower PEMFCs require the use of compressors (blowers). It is necessary to use oil-free compressors for PEMFCs. The scheme of the main types of these blowers is shown in Fig. 25. A detailed description of the application of each type of compressor is given in the works^{408,409}. According to their operational principles, they can be divided into two main groups.

The first group comprises positive displacement compressors, including screw (Lysholm), lobe (Roots) and scroll types, which can provide pressures up to 4 atm. To enhance efficiency by reducing temperature and integrating the humidification process, water can be introduced into the working chamber of the blower. Due to their low rotational speed (not exceeding 10000 rpm),



Figure 25. Structural diagrams of compressors used in PEMFCs. Extended version of the Figure from the work⁴⁰⁸.

such compressors have a limited capacity and high weight, which negatively affects the mass-dimensional characteristics of the power plant (making them unsuitable for mobile devices).^{388,410}

The second group comprises dynamic compressors, which include radial and centrifugal compressors. They are probably more suitable for PEMFCs than volumetric compressors, due to their higher rotational speed (corresponding to lower volume and weight), low noise, high efficiency and reliability. The performance of dynamic compressors is influenced by the rotational speed and the degree of air compression.

The first type of compressor exhibits a linear relationship between air flow and drive shaft speed. It should be noted that pressure is not directly related to rotational speed. This means that maximum pressure can be achieved not only at maximum rotational speed. Furthermore, variable operating conditions have a minimal impact on changes in compressor efficiency.

The second type of relationship is more complex, as the relationship between pressure, flow rates and rotational speeds is not straightforward. Generally, an increase in the compressor rotation speed leads to an increase in the values of pressure and flow rate of reagents. The efficiency of such a system varies significantly depending on the operating conditions. Based on the advantages and disadvantages of the main oil-free compressors, the authors of the work ⁴⁰⁸ have concluded that the lobe, screw and radial compressors are the most suitable for PEMFCs. Although the radial compressor has lower mass and dimensional characteristics and can be used in a narrow power range of PEMFCs, a combination of compressors is desirable for a wide power range (Table 9).

The power consumption of the air supply system can be more than 20% of the electrical power of the FCS. The following cooling methods can be used for closed cathode systems: passive, liquid and evaporative cooling.

5.2.1. Passive cooling

The passive cooling method offers a number of advantages, including a simple design, no power loss to the cooling system and no need for coolant circulation in the system. This increases the overall efficiency of the FCS.²⁷³ PEMFCs utilise high thermal conductivity materials or heat pipes/vapour chambers as heat distributors. One disadvantage of the latter heat dissipation option is that it results in an increase in the mass and dimensional characteristics of the PEMFC.

The first method of passive cooling is to use high thermal conductivity materials as heat distributors. These materials absorb heat from the central region of the FCS and transfer it to the boundary regions of the device, where it is further dissipated into the surrounding air by means of natural convection.^{411,412} Copper, aluminium and carbon materials are used as heat

 Table 9. Features of scroll, screw and radial compressors.

| Dagagedatag | Compressor type | | | | | |
|-------------------|-----------------|--------|-----------|--|--|--|
| Parameter | scroll | screw | radial | | | |
| Rotation speed | Low | Medium | Very high | | | |
| Air flow rate | Low | Medium | Very high | | | |
| Output pressure | High | High | Medium | | | |
| Volume and weight | Large | Medium | Small | | | |
| Operating range | Wide | Wide | Narrow | | | |
| Stability | High | Highя | Low | | | |



Figure 26. Schematic representation of heat pipe operating principle.

spreaders.^{32,273} This cooling option is used in low-power devices.

For medium-power devices, the second passive cooling option is more suitable for use with heat pipes, which are highly efficient evaporative-condensation devices with high thermal conductivity in the range of $2100-50000 \text{ W m}^{-1} \text{ K}^{-1}$.²⁷³ This device can be thought of as a tube (made of copper, for example) from which air has been evacuated, containing a working fluid (e.g. alcohol, various nanofluids (see chapter 5.2.3, etc.) and a capillary layer (various porous materials) applied to the inner walls of the tube to return the condensed working fluid to the heating zone. As shown in Fig. 26,98,397,413,414 a capillary layer (various porous materials) is applied to the inner walls of the tube to return the condensed working fluid to the heating zone. During operation, when one end of the tube is heated, heat is transferred to the working fluid, converting it to vapour which condenses at the other end of the tube, releasing heat to the external environment. The capillary layer allows the cooling system to be used in both horizontal and vertical positions. The efficiency of a heat pipe is influenced by a number of factors, including the type of heat pipe, the nature of the used fluid, the shape and type of capillary material and the percentage of capillary material filling the tube volume.413,414

In recent years, heat pipes have been successfully used as cooling elements for a number of electronic devices, including PEMFCs of different power.^{54,397,415-418}

5.2.2. Evaporative cooling

Evaporative cooling (or two-phase cooling) is based on the principle of phase transition (vaporisation) of the coolant, which is an evolution of the heat pipe approach.^{419,420} In this method, the coolant is vaporised in the working zone of the PEMFC, providing excess heat removal. Evaporative cooling is more efficient than air cooling and is comparable to liquid cooling, which will be discussed later. This cooling method is particularly suited to PEMFCs with high cooling requirements, offering a number of advantages over liquid cooling methods. These include increased heat removal rates, reduced coolant requirements, reduced energy consumption of the cooling system, reduced coolant pumping requirements and more uniform temperature distribution.413,421 Two-phase cooling can be divided into two categories: closed cooling (a development of passive cooling of the PEMFC using heat pipes) and open cooling (using water as a coolant).

The closed type of two-phase cooling implies working fluids with relatively low boiling points, including organic fluids such as HFE-7100 (methylnonafluorobutyl ether ($C_4F_9OCH_3$), boiling point 61 °C)^{21,422} for LT-PEMFCs and water for HT-PEMFCs.⁹⁸ The coolants are supplied into separate cooling channels/plates. This method ensures a high level of uniformity in temperature distribution within the PEMFC. The main disadvantages of this method are: low reliability at critical heat flow and the mandatory presence of a condenser, which increases the size of the device.

In open type evaporative cooling, the temperature reduction of the PEMFC is achieved by injecting water, including directly into the reagent streams, rather than by circulating liquid in special channels.⁴¹⁹ In this instance, the injected liquid water evaporates, removing heat and humidificating the MEA of the PEMFC. The waste water vapour is then sent to a condenser for purification, where it is cooled and converted back to liquid water for reuse. The key benefits of this cooling method are that the injected water performs the dual function of cooling and humidification without the need for external humidifiers or separate cooling plates. Evaporative cooling can reduce the size of the heat sink by approximately 27% compared to the devices using liquid cooling.^{411,419}

5.2.3. Liquid cooling

The use of water and other liquids as a coolant instead of air increases the cooling efficiency and reduces the size of the heat exchanger due to the many times higher value of heat capacity compared to air. Liquid cooling is preferable for FCSs larger than 5 kW, such as those used in electric vehicles.^{423,424} The working fluid in this type of cooling is mainly deionised water-based solutions circulating in cooling channels inside the BPs or in special cooling plates. In a typical closed-loop cooling cycle, the fluid passes through the PEMFC, absorbing its heat, which is dissipated to the environment in the heat sink, and then pumped back into the PEMFC to repeat the cooling cycle.

As with air cooling, the configuration of the flow fields (cooling channels) plays a significant role in the efficiency of heat dissipation in liquid-cooled systems. Examples of these flow fields can be seen in Fig. 27. The search for the optimal geometry of the fluid flow fields is a pressing issue today.^{98,423,425} From the perspective of temperature distribution uniformity, the optimal cooling solution is a modified (multi-pass) serpentine-type flow field (Fig. 27 *c*).⁴²³ The simplest parallel flow field (Fig. 27 *a*) demonstrated a lower pressure drop, but also exhibited the greatest non-uniformity of temperature distribution.



Figure 27. Examples of coolant flow fields (channels) in BPs: flow field with parallel channels (*a*); single-pass (*b*) and double-pass (*c*) serpentine.

Nanofluids with excellent heat capacity and heat transfer are an alternative to water. They are prepared by dispersing nanoscale metallic and non-metallic particles in a liquid coolant (most often water, ethylene glycol, propylene glycol or various oils).^{423,426} Nanofluids offer a number of advantages:

— the suspended nanoparticles, which have very large values of specific surface area, significantly improve the thermal performance of nanofluids, including thermal conductivity (heat transfer, thermal diffusivity) and regulate viscosity, which can both increase and decrease with the addition of nanoparticles;

— the nanoparticles can immobilise negative and positive ions from the coolant, reducing the need for a deionising filter in the cooling cycle;

— some types of nanofluids have very low freezing points (below -40 °C), and this can be seen as an advantage for PEMFCs operating at sub-zero temperatures (*i.e.* in cold-start mode);

— the nanofluids, due to their higher heat transfer, allow to reduce the size of the heat exchanger and the energy consumption of the cooling system.

The effectiveness of nanofluids can be demonstrated by the following examples. 1) The frontal area of the heat exchanger for a 2.4 kW PEMFC can be reduced by 21% by using a 0.05 vol.% concentration of TiO₂ nanoparticles in a water/ ethylene glycol mixture (50/50 by weight).⁴²⁶ 2) The cooling rate is increased by 187% by using a 0.5 vol.% concentration of Al₂O₃ compared to a heat transfer fluid without nanoparticles based on a water/ethylene glycol mixture (60/40 by weight).⁴²⁷

It is important to note that nanofluids have a higher electrical conductivity than liquid coolants, which may result in electrical leakage and a subsequent decline in the electrical performance of the PEMFC. Furthermore, in certain instances, the incorporation of nanoparticles into a liquid coolant may result in an increase in viscosity, which may affect hydrodynamic losses.³⁹³ It is therefore of the utmost importance to select the correct nanofluid composition in order for the PEMFC to meet the required design constraints and high hydrodynamic, thermal and electrical characteristics.

In this way, clear recommendations can be made and the scope of application of one system or another can be defined for the selection of cooling systems and methods of air supply to the PEMFC cathode. As a result, these tasks are currently limited to engineering modifications of pre-existing solutions for a specific PEMFC sample, despite their significant impact on the final product characteristics.

6. Conclusion

The efficiency of PEMFC operation is determined by four main parameters: (1) the conductivity of components, primarily the PEM and the catalytic layers, (2) the rate of electrochemical reactions at the electrodes, (3) the efficiency of reagent supply and reaction product removal, and (4) the efficiency of separating the anode and cathode gas spaces. At the same time, each of the parameters is determined by the properties of several components of the PEMFC, and the properties of one material can affect several characteristics simultaneously. The relationship between the characteristics and properties of the components of the considered PEMFC is complex and multi-parametric. It is important to note that an improvement in one material property can lead to an antibate effect on other parameters. For instance, a reduction in the membrane thickness results in a decline in ohmic losses in the PEMFC, but concurrently, an increase in crossover. Consequently, the optimum PEM thickness is that at which, with all other characteristics remaining constant, the maximum PEMFC power is achieved.

In order to systematise the data in the review the following should be noted:

One of the most important materials in a PEMFC is the polymer from which the PEM and the ionomer in the catalytic layer are made. The properties of this polymer have a significant impact on the gas permeability and proton conductivity of the PEM, the proton conductivity of the catalytic layers, and the lifetime of the PEMFC. Consequently, the polymer properties influence three of the four parameters that determine the efficiency of PEMFC operation: (1), (2) and (4). The target polymer conductivity characteristic is 0.1 S cm⁻¹ over the full range of operating conditions and without degradation under the influence of hydrogen peroxide.

The next key component is the catalyst. Its electrocatalytic activity determines the maximum possible electric currents achievable during the PEMFC operation. However, these currents are determined not only by the activity of the catalyst, but also by the spectrum of other properties of the catalytic layer: the proton and electronic components of conductivity, gas permeability, and the ratio of hydrophilicity-hydrophobicity parameters. In terms of catalytic activity, platinum-containing catalysts with a particle size of 2-2.5 nm are optimal. The overall efficiency of PEMFC operation is primarily determined by the cathode catalytic layer, since the rate of oxygen electroreduction is several orders of magnitude lower than the rate of hydrogen electrooxidation. For the cathode catalytic layer, the optimum thickness is $10-15 \,\mu\text{m}$. The properties of the catalytic layers primarily determine parameter (2) — the rate of electrochemical reactions at the electrodes. They also indirectly affect parameters (1) and (3), namely the balance of water transport in the electrodes. This affects both the overall conductivity of the MEA and the efficiency of reagent supply and reaction product removal.

From the point of view of the catalytic layer efficiency, one of the most crucial factors is the efficiency of reagent supply and reaction product removal. These characteristics are determined not only by the properties of the catalytic layers, but also by the complex properties of a number of other PEMFC components. The GDLs, BPs and the gas supply system are also important factors to consider. It is important to note that a significant step in increasing the specific capacity of the PEMFC has been achieved precisely by optimising the GDLs and BPs. Over the last 15 years, the thickness of the BPs has been reduced by almost 10 times (from 5-8 to 0.7-1.5 mm), resulting in a 3-5 times reduction in the volume and mass of the PEMFC, while maintaining the specific power.

The optimisation of the properties of the main components has led to a significant increase in the specific parameters of FCS. A number of FCS manufacturers claim to achieve specific power of MEAs in excess of 1.5 W cm^{-2} , specific power of FCSs (excluding service equipment and coolant) in excess of 4 kW kg⁻¹ and lifetime of up to 30 000 hours.⁴²⁸ These characteristics enable power plants based on PEMFCs to compete with internal combustion engines in certain vehicle types. However, for a number of applications, the achieved characteristics of FCS are not yet sufficient. In particular, the specific power is insufficient for aviation applications, and the lifetime is insufficient for railway transport. The required values for the specific power of FCS are above 5 kW kg⁻¹, and the lifetime is at least 50 000 hours. Furthermore, the cost of the power plants based on FCSs is still high, which poses a challenge to their mass introduction. A wide range of research is needed to achieve the required performance of the power plants based on PEMFCs.

It is clear that in order to achieve the best FCS performance, it is necessary to search for stable components of with specific composition and properties, including technologies for their integration into the PEMFC. In addition, it is essential to optimise a large number of operating parameters of the final device for each specific type of design and its specific operation conditions.

The main trends of the modern research in the field of the PEMFC can be divided into two main directions:

1) Optimisation of existing PEMFC developments (shortterm perspective): increase in activity and stability of the platinum-containing catalysts; comprehensive improvement of the PEM characteristics by doping and reinforcement of existing perfluorinated sulphocationic polymer systems to increase specific capacity and lifetime; optimisation of materials and geometry of the BPs to improve mass-size indicators; improvement of manufacturability and mass production of FCS to reduce production costs.

2) Search for fundamentally new PEMFC materials and technologies (long-term perspective): development of new types of low-temperature ion-conducting materials with a focus on anion-conducting membranes, which will allow the use of platinum-free catalysts on both the cathode and anode of PEMFCs; development of fully solid-state, including polymeric, medium-temperature proton-conducting membranes; search for new free of charge catalytic systems (including biocatalytic systems) capable of providing efficient oxidation of organic fuels at low temperature.

The work was performed in accordance with the state task of Federal Research Center of Problems of Chemical Physics and Medicinal Chemistry Russian Academy of Sciences (state registration numbers 122112100037-4 and 124013000692-4).

7. List of abbreviations and symbols

BP — bipolar plate,

DL — doping level,

DOE — United States Department of Energy,

ECSA — electrochemically active surface area,

- FC fuel cell,
- FCS fuel cell stack,

GDL — gas diffusion layer,

HOR — hydrogen electrooxidation reaction,

HT-PEMFC — high temperature proton exchange membrane fuel cell,

ICE — internal combustion engine,

LT-PEMFC — low temperature proton exchange membrane fuel cell,

MEA — membrane electrode assembly,

MPL — microporous layer,

NHE — normal hydrogen electrode,

ORR — oxygen electroreduction reaction,

PEM — proton exchange membrane,

PEMFC — proton exchange membrane fuel cell,

PBI — polybenzimidazole,

PTFE — polytetrafluoroethylene,

RH — relative humidity,

TUI — temperature uniform index,

A — surface area,

 ΔH — enthalpy of reaction,

28 of 36

 ΔS — entropy change,

 ΔG^0 — Gibbs free energy change under standard conditions, E^0 — standard electrode reaction potential,

 $E_{\rm ORR}^0$ — standard potential for oxygen electroreduction reaction,

 $E_{\rm HOR}^{\,0}$ — standard potential for hydrogen electrooxidation reaction,

 ΔE_L — voltage loss due to leaks through the electrolyte, *F* — Faraday's constant,

 ΔH^0 — change in enthalpy of the ongoing reaction under standard conditions,

i — electric current density,

 i_0 — exchange current density of the reactions of electroreduction of oxygen and electrooxidation of hydrogen,

k — reaction rate constant,

 λ_{opt} — optimal stoichiometry of input into fuel cell gases,

 $\lambda_{\rm H_2}$ — stoichiometry of input into fuel cell hydrogen,

 λ_{O_2} — stoichiometry of input into fuel cell air (calculated using oxygen),

 $\eta_{\rm act}$ — activation polarization,

 $\eta_{\rm Ohm}$ — ohmic polarization,

 $\eta_{\rm conc}$ — concentration polarization,

P — specific electrical power,

 $p(H_2)$ — partial pressure of hydrogen,

 $p(O_2)$ — partial pressure of oxygen,

 $p(H_2O)$ — partial pressure of water vapor,

 ΔQ — heat change,

 σ — specific ionic conductivity,

T — absolute temperature,

 \overline{T} — average temperature,

V — electrical voltage,

 V_0 — equilibrium electrical voltage,

 V_N — electrical voltage under non-standard environmental conditions,

 $V_{\rm t}$ — thermoneutral electrical voltage,

 $V_{\rm OC}$ — open circuit voltage,

 ΔW — net electrical energy,

z — number of electrons involved in reaction.

8. References

- I.Stenina, A.Yaroslavtsev. *Processes*, 11, 56 (2022); https://doi.org/10.3390/pr11010056
- A.Hassanpouryouzband, M.Wilkinson, R.S.Haszeldine. *Chem. Soc. Rev.*, **53**, 2258 (2024); https://doi.org/10.1039/D3CS00723E
- Y.Xu, Y.Deng, W.Liu, X.Zhao, J.Xu, Z.Yuan. Sustain. Energy Technol. Assessments, 55, 102974 (2023); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.seta.2022.102974
- T.T.Le, P.Sharma, B.J.Bora, V.D.Tran, T.H.Truong, H.C.Le, P.Q.P.Nguyen. *Int. J. Hydrogen Energy*, 54, 791 (2024); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2023.08.044
- S.P.Filippov, A.B.Yaroslavtsev. *Russ. Chem. Rev.*, **90**, 627 (2021); https://doi.org/10.1070/RCR5014
- M.A.Abdelkareem, K.Elsaid, T.Wilberforce, M.Kamil, E.T.Sayed, A.Olabi. *Sci. Total Environ.*, **752**, 141803 (2021); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.141803
- M.Hemmat Esfe, M.Afrand. J. Therm. Anal. Calorim., 140, 1633 (2020); https://doi.org/10.1007/s10973-019-08837-x
- S.Y.Istomin, N.V.Lyskov, G.N.Mazo, E.V.Antipov. *Russ. Chem. Rev.*, **90**, 644 (2021); https://doi.org/10.1070/RCR4979
- M.V.Erpalov, A.P.Tarutin, N.A.Danilov, D.A.Osinkin, D.A.Medvedev. *Russ. Chem. Rev.*, 92 (10), RCR5097 (2023); https://doi.org/10.59761/RCR5097
- A.M.Mehdi, A.Hussain, M.Z.Khan, M.B.Hanif, R.-H.Song, W.W.Kazmi, M.M.Ali, S.Rauf, Y.Zhang, M.M.Baig,

D.A.Medvedev, M.Motola. Russ. Chem. Rev., 92 (11), RCR5098 (2023); https://doi.org/10.59761/RCR5098

- R.A.Voloshin, A.M.Bozieva, B.D.Bruce, S.I.Allakhverdiev. *Russ. Chem. Rev.*, **92** (5), RCR5073 (2023); https://doi.org/10.57634/RCR5073
- B.Liu, C.Liu, X.Zou, D.Yan, J.Li, L.Jia. *Russ. Chem. Rev.*, 91 (11), RCR5063 (2022); https://doi.org/10.57634/RCR5063
- E.Y.Pikalova, E.G.Kalinina. *Russ. Chem. Rev.*, **90**, 703 (2021); https://doi.org/10.1070/RCR4966
- I.A.Stenina, E.Y.Safronova, A.V.Levchenko, Y.A.Dobrovolsky, A.B.Yaroslavtsev. *Therm. Eng.*, 63, 385 (2016); https://doi.org/10.1134/S0040601516060070
- N.Sazali, W.N.Wan Salleh, A.S.Jamaludin, M.N.Mhd Razali. Membranes, 10, 99 (2020); https://doi.org/10.3390/membranes10050099
- S.Maddalwar, K.Kumar Nayak, M.Kumar, L.Singh. *Bioresour. Technol.*, **341**, 125772 (2021);
- https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2021.125772 17. N.H.Jawad, A.A.Yahya, A.R.Al-Shathr, H.G.Salih,
- K.T.Rashid, S.Al-Saadi, A.A.AbdulRazak, I.K.Salih, A.Zrelli, Q.F.Alsalhy. *Sustainability*, **14**, 14653 (2022); https://doi.org/10.3390/su142114653
- S.Ghosh, S.Subudhi. *Energy Storage*, 4, e288 (2022); https://doi.org/10.1002/est2.288
- M.A.Aminudin, S.K.Kamarudin, B.H.Lim, E.H.Majilan, M.S.Masdar, N.Shaari. *Int. J. Hydrogen Energy*, 48, 4371 (2023); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2022.10.156
- S.G.A.Flimban, I.M.I.Ismail, T.Kim, S.-E.Oh. *Energies*, 12, 3390 (2019); https://doi.org/10.3390/en12173390
- 21. P.Sharma, O.P.Pandey. In *PEM Fuel Cells*. (Elsevier, 2022). P. 1
- R.-A.Felseghi, E.Carcadea, M.S.Raboaca, C.N.Trufin, C.Filote. *Energies*, **12**, 4593 (2019); https://doi.org/10.3390/en12234593
- 23. V.Cigolotti, M.Genovese, P.Fragiacomo. *Energies*, **14**, 4963 (2021); https://doi.org/10.3390/en14164963
- A.G.Olabi, T.Wilberforce, E.T.Sayed, K.Elsaid, M.A.Abdelkareem. *Energies*, **13**, 4104 (2020); https://doi.org/10.3390/en13164104
- L.Fan, Z.Tu, S.H.Chan. *Int. J. Hydrogen Energy*, 48, 7828 (2023); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2022.11.212
- A.Baroutaji, T.Wilberforce, M.Ramadan, A.G.Olabi. *Renew.* Sustain. Energy Rev., 106, 31 (2019); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2019.02.022
- M.A.Baba, M.Labbadi, M.Cherkaoui, M.Maaroufi. *IOP Conf.* Ser. Earth Environ. Sci., 952, 012011 (2021); https://doi.org/10.1088/1755-1315/785/1/012011
- R.Wei, H.Chang, S.Huang, L.Huang. Int. J. Hydrogen Energy, 48, 12861 (2023);
 H. L. 2022 12 211
- https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2022.12.211
- S.Dirkes, J.Leidig, P.Fisch, S.Pischinger. *Energy Convers.* Manag., 277, 116598 (2023); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enconman.2022.116598
- L.Zakhvatkin, A.Schechter, I.Avrahami. *Energies*, 15, 6848 (2022); https://doi.org/10.3390/en15186848
- S.I.Nefedkin, A.V.Ivanenko, V.I.Pavlov, S.V.Panov, S.V.Shubenkov, M.A.Klimova, A.V.Ryabukhin. *Russ. J. Electrochem.*, 58, 151 (2022); https://doi.org/10.1134/S1023193522020082
- Y.Wang, D.F.Ruiz Diaz, K.S.Chen, Z.Wang, X.C.Adroher. *Mater. Today*, **32**, 178 (2020); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mattod.2019.06.005
- M.İnci. Sustain. Energy Technol. Assessments, 53, 102739 (2022); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.seta.2022.102739
- 34. S.Mo, L.Du, Z.Huang, J.Chen, Y.Zhou, P.Wu, L.Meng, N.Wang, L.Xing, M.Zhao, Y.Yang, J.Tang, Y.Zou, S.Ye. *Electrochem. Energy Rev.*, 6, 28 (2023); https://doi.org/10.1007/s41918-023-00190-w
- M.Tawalbeh, S.Alarab, A.Al-Othman, R.M.N.Javed. *Fuels*, 3, 449 (2022); https://doi.org/10.3390/fuels3030028

- G.Athanasaki, A.Jayakumar, A.M.Kannan. *Int. J. Hydrogen Energy*, 48, 2294 (2023); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2022.10.058
- 37. J.Zhao, H.Liu, X.Li. *Electrochem. Energy Rev.*, **6**, 13 (2023); https://doi.org/10.1007/s41918-022-00175-1
- V.Patil, P.V.Reshmi, S.Prajna, Yashaswi, Yashaswini, D.Haleshappa, A.Jayarama, R.Pinto. *Mater. Today Proc.*, (2023); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.matpr.2023.03.603
- X.R.Wang, Y.Ma, J.Gao, T.Li, G.Z.Jiang, Z.Y.Sun. Int. J. Hydrogen Energy, 46, 12206 (2021); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2020.06.211
- B.Yang, J.Li, Y.Li, Z.Guo, K.Zeng, H.Shu, P.Cao, Y.Ren. Int. J. Hydrogen Energy, 47, 9986 (2022);
- https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2022.01.065
 41. D.Wu, C.Peng, C.Yin, H.Tang. *Electrochem. Energy Rev.*, 3, 466 (2020); https://doi.org/10.1007/s41918-020-00068-1
- J.Li, T.Wu, C.Cheng, J.Li, K.Zhou. Processes, 12, 249 (2024); https://doi.org/10.3390/pr12020249
- S.Zhou, L.Fan, G.Zhang, J.Gao, Y.Lu, P.Zhao, C.Wen, L.Shi, Z.Hu. *Appl. Energy*, **310**, 118555 (2022); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apenergy.2022.118555
- 44. Q.Ju, G.Chao, Y.Wang, Z.Lv, K.Geng, N.Li. J. Membr. Sci., 686, 121970 (2023);
- https://doi.org/10.1016/j.memsci.2023.121970
- M.Bayat, M.Özalp, H.Gürbüz. Sustain. Energy Technol. Assessments, 52, 102232 (2022); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.seta.2022.102232
- Y.Wang, Y.Pang, H.Xu, A.Martinez, K.S.Chen. *Energy Environ. Sci.*, **15**, 2288 (2022); https://doi.org/10.1039/D2EE00790H
- A.Parekh. Front. Energy Res., 10, 956132 (2022); https://doi.org/10.3389/fenrg.2022.956132
- P.Pei, H.Chen. *Appl. Energy*, **125**, 60 (2014); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apenergy.2014.03.048
- J.Zhang, Y.Tang, C.Song, Z.Xia, H.Li, H.Wang, J.Zhang. *Electrochim. Acta*, 53, 5315 (2008); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.electacta.2008.02.074
- F.Van Der Linden, E.Pahon, S.Morando, D.Bouquain. *Int. J. Hydrogen Energy*, 47, 21803 (2022); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2022.05.012
- Y.M.Volfkovich, V.E.Sosenkin. *Russ. Chem. Rev.*, 81, 936 (2012); https://doi.org/10.1070/RC2012v081n10ABEH004281
- H.Chen, Z.Liu, X.Ye, L.Yi, S.Xu, T.Zhang. *Energy*, 238, 121949 (2022); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.energy.2021.121949
- J.Hoeflinger, P.Hofmann. *Int. J. Hydrogen Energy*, 45, 29246 (2020); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2020.07.176
- 54. T.Donateo. *Energies*, **16**, 7676 (2023); https://doi.org/10.3390/en16227676
- W.Dai, H.Wang, X.-Z.Yuan, J.J.Martin, D.Yang, J.Qiao, J.Ma. Int. J. Hydrogen Energy, 34, 9461 (2009); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2009.09.017
- E. Wallnöfer-Ogris, F.Poimer, R.Köll, M.-G.Macherhammer, A.Trattner. *Int. J. Hydrogen Energy*, **50**, 1159 (2024); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2023.06.215
- H.Chen, X.Zhao, T.Zhang, P.Pei. *Energy Convers. Manag.*, 182, 282 (2019);
- https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enconman.2018.12.049 58. F.A.de Bruijn, V.A.T.Dam, G.J.M.Janssen. *Fuel Cells*, **8**, 3
- (2008); https://doi.org/10.1002/fuce.200700053
- Fuel Cell Technical Team Roadmap, November 2017, P. 34.
 A.B.Yaroslavtsev, I.A.Stenina, D.V.Golubenko. *Pure Appl.*
- *Chem.*, **92**, 1147 (2020); https://doi.org/10.1515/pac-2019-1208
- Fuel Cell Technologies Overview, URL; https://www.hydrogen.energy.gov/docs/ hydrogenprogramlibraries/pdfs/review23/fc000_ papageorgopoulos_2023_o.pdf (Last access 08.05.2024)
- M.Inaba, T.Kinumoto, M.Kiriake, R.Umebayashi, A.Tasaka, Z.Ogumi. *Electrochim. Acta*, **51**, 5746 (2006); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.electacta.2006.03.008

- J.Hussain, D.-K.Kim, S.Park, M.-W.Khalid, S.-S.Hussain, B.Lee, M.Song, T.-S.Kim. *Materials*, 16, 4515 (2023); https://doi.org/10.3390/ma16134515
- Q.Chen, Z.Niu, H.Li, K.Jiao, Y.Wang. Int. J. Hydrogen Energy, 46, 8640 (2021); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2020.12.076
- F.Cai, S.Cai, Z.Tu. *Energy Convers. Manag.*, **307**, 118348 (2024); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enconman.2024.118348
- K.Xiong, W.Wu, S.Wang, L.Zhang. *Appl. Energy*, **301**, 117443 (2021);
- https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apenergy.2021.117443
 67. Y.Duan, H.Liu, W.Zhang, L.Khotseng, Q.Xu, H.Su. *J. Power Sources*, 555, 232369 (2023);
- https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpowsour.2022.232369
 68. C.Mathew, S.Naina Mohamed, L.S.Devanathan. *Polym. Compos.*, 43, 4100 (2022);
- https://doi.org/10.1002/pc.26691
 Y.Song, C.Zhang, C.-Y.Ling, M.Han, R.-Y.Yong, D.Sun, J.Chen. *Int. J. Hydrogen Energy*, 45, 29832 (2020);
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2019.07.231
- J.Chen, R.Fan, Y.Peng, N.Qin, L.Jin, J.Zheng, P.Ming, C.Zhang, J.P.Zheng. J. Power Sources, 582, 233566 (2023); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpowsour.2023.233566
- X.Gao, J.Chen, R.Xu, Z.Zhen, X.Zeng, X.Chen, L.Cui. Int. J. Hydrogen Energy, 50, 711 (2024); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2023.09.005
- 72. D.A.Schiraldi. J. Macromol. Sci., Part C, 46, 315 (2006); https://doi.org/10.1080/15583720600796458
- T.-C.Xu, C.-S.Wang, Z.-Y.Hu, J.-J.Zheng, S.-H.Jiang, S.-J.He, H.-Q.Hou. *Chinese J. Polym. Sci.*, 40, 764 (2022); https://doi.org/10.1007/s10118-022-2708-2
- R.E.Rosli, A.B.Sulong, W.R.W.Daud, M.A.Zulkifley, T.Husaini, M.I.Rosli, E.H.Majlan, M.A.Haque. *Int. J. Hydrogen Energy*, 42, 9293 (2017); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2016.06.211
- Q.Meyer, C.Yang, Y.Cheng, C.Zhao. *Electrochem. Energy Rev.*, 6, 16 (2023); https://doi.org/10.1007/s41918-023-00180-y
- 76. W.W.Ng, H.S.Thiam, Y.L.Pang, K.C.Chong, S.O.Lai. *Membranes*, 12, 506 (2022); https://doi.org/10.3390/membranes12050506
- L.Zhang, M.Liu, D.Zhu, M.Tang, T.Zhu, C.Gao, F.Huang, L.Xue. Nat. Commun., 15, 3409 (2024); https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-024-47627-4
- K.-S.Lee, S.Maurya, Y.S.Kim, C.R.Kreller, M.S.Wilson, D.Larsen, S.E.Elangovan, R.Mukundan. *Energy Environ. Sci.*, 11, 979 (2018); https://doi.org/10.1039/C7EE03595K
- S.Ahmad, T.Nawaz, A.Ali, M.F.Orhan, A.Samreen, A.M.Kannan. *Int. J. Hydrogen Energy*, **47**, 19086 (2022); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2022.04.099
- A.Alaswad, A.Omran, J.R.Sodre, T.Wilberforce, G.Pignatelli, M.Dassisti, A.Baroutaji, A.G.Olabi. *Energies*, 14, 144 (2020); https://doi.org/10.3390/en14010144
- M.B.Karimi, F.Mohammadi, K.Hooshyari. *Int. J. Hydrogen Energy*, 44, 28919 (2019); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2019.09.096
- R.Kumar, C.Xu, K.Scott. *RSC Adv.*, 2, 8777 (2012); https://doi.org/10.1039/c2ra20225e
- W.Nimir, A.Al-Othman, M.Tawalbeh, A.Al Makky, A.Ali, H.Karimi-Maleh, F.Karimi, C.Karaman. *Int. J. Hydrogen Energy*, 48, 6638 (2023); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2021.11.174
- A.Siu, J.Schmeisser, S.Holdcroft. J. Phys. Chem. B, 110, 6072 (2006); https://doi.org/10.1021/jp0531208
- T.Yoshida, K.Kojima. *Interface Mag.*, 24, 45 (2015); https://doi.org/10.1149/2.F03152if
- A.A.Belmesov, A.A.Baranov, A.V.Levchenko. *Russ. J. Electrochem.*, 54, 493 (2018); https://doi.org/10.1134/S1023193518060046

- V.F.Valdés-López, T.Mason, P.R.Shearing, D.J.L.Brett. *Prog. Energy Combust. Sci.*, **79**, 100842 (2020); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pecs.2020.100842
- E.Qu, X.Hao, M.Xiao, D.Han, S.Huang, Z.Huang, S.Wang, Y.Meng. J. Power Sources, 533, 231386 (2022); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpowsour.2022.231386
- A.Zucconi, J.Hack, R.Stocker, T.A.M.Suter, A.J.E.Rettie, D.J.L.Brett. J. Mater. Chem. A, 12, 8014 (2024); https://doi.org/10.1039/D3TA06895A
- M.Boaventura, H.Sander, K.A.Friedrich, A.Mendes. *Electrochim. Acta*, **56**, 9467 (2011); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.electacta.2011.08.039
- H.-F.Oetjen, V.M.Schmidt, U.Stimming, F.Trila. J. Electrochem. Soc., 143, 3838 (1996); https://doi.org/10.1149/1.1837305
- J.Zhang, Z.Xie, J.Zhang, Y.Tang, C.Song, T.Navessin, Z.Shi, D.Song, H.Wang, D.P.Wilkinson, Z.-S.Liu, S.Holdcroft. J. Power Sources, 160, 872 (2006); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpowsour.2006.05.034
- Y.Budak, Y.Devrim. Int. J. Hydrogen Energy, 45, 35198 (2020); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2019.11.173
- G.Lei, H.Zheng, J.Zhang, C.Siong Chin, X.Xu, W.Zhou, C.Zhang. *Energy*, **282**, 128305 (2023); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.energy.2023.128305
- J.Zhang, C.Zhang, J.Li, B.Deng, M.Fan, M.Ni, Z.Mao, H.Yuan. *Renew. Energy*, 180, 313 (2021); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.renene.2021.08.089
- A.Kusoglu, A.Z.Weber. Chem. Rev., 117, 987 (2017); https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.chemrev.6b00159
- B.Wang, R.Lin, D.Liu, J.Xu, B.Feng. Int. J. Hydrogen Energy, 44, 13737 (2019);
- https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2019.03.139 98. R.Singh, A.S.Oberoi, T.Singh. *Int. J. Energy Res.*, **46**, 3810
- K.Singh, A.S.Oberol, I.Singh. Int. J. Energy Res., 40, 3810 (2022); https://doi.org/10.1002/er.7437
- A.B.Yaroslavtsev, I.A.Stenina. *Mendeleev Commun.*, **31**, 423 (2021); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mencom.2021.07.001
- M.A.Haque, A.B.Sulong, K.S.Loh, E.H.Majlan, T.Husaini, R.E.Rosli. *Int. J. Hydrogen Energy*, **42**, 9156 (2017); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2016.03.086
- F.T.Chikumba, M.Tamer, L.Akyalçın, S.Kaytakoğlu. Int. J. Hydrogen Energy, 48, 14038 (2023);
- https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2022.12.293 102. G.Li, W.Kujawski, E.Rynkowska. *Rev. Chem. Eng.*, **38**, 327 (2022); https://doi.org/10.1515/revce-2019-0079
- 103. K.S.Novikova, E.F.Abdrashitov, D.A.Kritskaya, A.N.Ponomarev, E.A.Sanginov, Y.A.Dobrovol'skii. *Russ. J. Electrochem.*, **57**, 1047 (2021); https://doi.org/10.1134/S1023193521100116
- 104. Y.A.Dobrovolsky, E.A.Sanginov, N.G.Bukun, A.N.Ponomarev, D.A.Kritskaya, E.F.Abdrashitov. *Nanotechnol. Russ.*, **15**, 319 (2020); https://doi.org/10.1134/S1995078020030039
- S.H.Mirfarsi, A.Kumar, J.Jeong, M.Adamski, S.McDermid, B.Britton, E.Kjeang. *Int. J. Hydrogen Energy*, 50, 1507 (2024); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2023.07.236
- S.Singh, T.Taketsugu, R.K.Singh. ACS Omega, 6, 32739 (2021); https://doi.org/10.1021/acsomega.1c04484
- D.V.Golubenko, E.V.Gerasimova, A.B.Yaroslavtsev. Int. J. Hydrogen Energy, 46, 16999 (2021); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2021.01.102
- D.A.Kritskaya, E.F.Abdrashitov, V.C.Bokun, A.N.Ponomarev, E.A.Sanginov, Y.A.Dobrovolsky. *Pet. Chem.*, 58, 496 (2018); https://doi.org/10.1134/S0965544118060063
- L.Yu, F.Lin, L.Xu, J.Xi. RSC Adv., 7, 31164 (2017); https://doi.org/10.1039/C7RA04996J
- D.Qiu, L.Peng, X.Lai, M.Ni, W.Lehnert. *Renew. Sustain.* Energy Rev., **113**, 109289 (2019);
- https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2019.109289
- 111. H.H.Gibbs, R.N.Griffin. US Patent 3041317A (1962)
- 112. D.J.Connolly, W.F.Gresham. US Patent 3282875 (1966)

- 113. S.P.F.Bordín, J.de los Angeles Chinellato Díaz, M.R.Romero. In Proton Exchange Membrane Fuel Cells: Electrochemical Methods and Computational Fluid Dynamics. (Wiley, 2023). Ch. 11. P. 299
- S.D.Knights, K.M.Colbow, J.St-Pierre, D.P.Wilkinson. J. Power Sources, **127**, 127 (2004); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpowsour.2003.09.033
- K.Kreuer. Solid State Ionics, 136–137, 149 (2000); https://doi.org/10.1016/S0167-2738(00)00301-5
- 116. P.C.Okonkwo, I.Ben Belgacem, W.Emori, P.C.Uzoma. Int. J. Hydrogen Energy, 46, 27956 (2021); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2021.06.032
- K.Meng, B.Chen, H.Zhou, J.Shen, Z.Shen, Z.Tu. *Energy*, 242, 123045 (2022); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.energy.2021.123045
- S.Chen, M.Hao, Y.Hu, K.Liu, Y.Li. J. Power Sources, 599, 234238 (2024);
- https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpowsour.2024.234238 119. S.Bose, T.Kuila, T.X.H.Nguyen, N.H.Kim, K.Lau, J.H.Lee.
 - *Prog. Polym. Sci.*, **36**, 813 (2011); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.progpolymsci.2011.01.003
- A.B.Yaroslavtsev, Y.A.Dobrovolsky, N.S.Shaglaeva, L.A.Frolova, E.V Gerasimova, E.A.Sanginov. *Russ. Chem. Rev.*, 81, 191 (2012); https://doi.org/10.1070/RC2012v081n03ABEH004290
- 121. A.Bazylak. *Int. J. Hydrogen Energy*, **34**, 3845 (2009); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2009.02.084
- B.Xiao, J.Zhao, L.Fan, Y.Liu, S.H.Chan, Z.Tu. *Energy*, 245, 123298 (2022); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.energy.2022.123298
- A.Ferrara, S.Jakubek, C.Hametner. *Energy Convers. Manag.*, 232, 113795 (2021); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enconman.2020.113795
- 124. I.Gatto, A.Stassi, V.Baglio, A.Carbone, E.Passalacqua, A.S.Aricò, M.Schuster, B.Bauer. *Electrochim. Acta*, 165, 450 (2015); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.electacta.2015.03.068
- 125. Y.Prykhodko, K.Fatyeyeva, L.Hespel, S.Marais. *Chem. Eng. J.*, **409**, 127329 (2021); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cej.2020.127329
- 126. P.A.Yurova, V.R.Malakhova, E.V.Gerasimova, I.A.Stenina, A.B.Yaroslavtsev. *Polymers*, **13**, 2513 (2021); https://doi.org/10.3390/polym13152513
- E.V.Gerasimova, E.Y.Safronova, A.A.Volodin, A.E.Ukshe, Y.A.Dobrovolsky, A.B.Yaroslavtsev. *Catal. Today*, **193**, 81 (2012); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cattod.2012.06.018
- D.Voropaeva, A.Merkel, A.Yaroslavtsev. Solid State Ionics, 386, 116055 (2022); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ssi.2022.116055
- Y.Devrim, A.Albostan. *Int. J. Hydrogen Energy*, 40, 15328 (2015); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2015.02.078
- S.H.Mirfarsi, M.J.Parnian, S.Rowshanzamir. Processes, 8, 1069 (2020); https://doi.org/10.3390/pr8091069
- J.Liu, J.Li, J.Bai, Z.Jin, J.Ge, C.Liu, W.Xing. J. Power Sources, 557, 232526 (2023); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpowsour.2022.232526
- A.A.Lysova, I.I.Ponomarev, A.B.Yaroslavtsev. *Mendeleev Commun.*, 29, 403 (2019); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mencom.2019.07.015
- 133. I.A.Stenina, P.A.Yurova, T.S.Titova, M.A.Polovkova, O.V.Korchagin, V.A.Bogdanovskaya, A.B.Yaroslavtsev. *J. Appl. Polym. Sci.*, **138**, (2021); https://doi.org/10.1002/app.50644
- E.Y.Safronova, G.Pourcelly, A.B.Yaroslavtsev. *Polym.* Degrad. Stabil., **178**, 109229 (2020); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.polymdegradstab.2020.109229
- 135. R.R.Kayumov, L.V.Shmygleva, Y.A.Dobrovolsky. *Russ. J. Electrochem.*, **51**, (2015); https://doi.org/10.1134/S1023193515060099
- E.Gerasimova, E.Safronova, A.Ukshe, Y.Dobrovolsky, A.Yaroslavtsev. *Chem. Eng. J.*, **305**, 121 (2016); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cej.2015.11.079
- E.F.Abdrashitov, V.C.Bokun, Y.A.Dobrovolsky,
 D.A.Kritskaya, E.A.Sanginov, A.N.Ponomarev. *Solid State*

Ionics, 188, 140 (2011);

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ssi.2010.09.026

- E.A.Sanginov, K.S.Novikova, N.N.Dremova, Y.A.Dobrovolskii. *Polym. Sci. Ser. B*, 61, 98 (2019); https://doi.org/10.1134/S1560090419010093
- E.Y.Safronova, A.A.Lysova, D.Y.Voropaeva, A.B.Yaroslavtsev. *Membranes*, 13, 721 (2023); https://doi.org/10.3390/membranes13080721
- 140. T.K.Maiti, J.Singh, P.Dixit, J.Majhi, S.Bhushan, A.Bandyopadhyay, S.Chattopadhyay. *Chem. Eng. J. Adv.*, **12**, 100372 (2022); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ceja.2022.100372
- 141. L.Y.Zhu, Y.C.Li, J.Liu, J.He, L.Y.Wang, J.Du Lei. *Petrol. Sci.*, **19**, 1371 (2021);
- https://doi.org/10.1016/j.petsci.2021.11.004
 142. F.C.Teixeira, A.I.de Sá, A.P.S.Teixeira, V.M.Ortiz-Martínez, A.Ortiz, I.Ortiz, C.M.Rangel. *Int. J. Hydrogen Energy*, 46, 17562 (2021); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2020.01.212
- I.Song, W.Zhao, L.Zhou, H.Meng, H.Wang, P.Guan, M.Li, Y.Zou, W.Feng, M.Zhang, L.Zhu, P.He, F.Liu, Y.Zhang. *Adv. Sci.*, **10**, 2303969 (2023); https://doi.org/10.1002/advs.202303969
- 144. M.Vinothkannan, A.R.Kim, D.J.Yoo. *RSC Adv.*, **11**, 18351 (2021); https://doi.org/10.1039/D1RA00685A
- 145. H.Nguyen, F.Lombeck, C.Schwarz, P.A.Heizmann, M.Adamski, H.-F.Lee, B.Britton, S.Holdcroft, S.Vierrath, M.Breitwieser. *Sustain. Energy Fuels*, 5, 3687 (2021); https://doi.org/10.1039/D1SE00556A
- 146. T.J.G.Skalski, M.Adamski, B.Britton, E.M.Schibli, T.J.Peckham, T.Weissbach, T.Moshisuki, S.Lyonnard, B.J.Frisken, S.Holdcroft. *ChemSusChem*, **11**, 4033 (2018); https://doi.org/10.1002/cssc.201801965
- R.Haider, Y.Wen, Z.-F.Ma, D.P.Wilkinson, L.Zhang, X.Yuan, S.Song, J.Zhang. *Chem. Soc. Rev.*, **50**, 1138 (2021); https://doi.org/10.1039/D0CS00296H
- 148. A.Das, K.S.Im, M.M.Kabir, H.K.Shon, S.Y.Nam. Desalination, 579, 117500 (2024); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.desal.2024.117500
- I.I.Ponomarev, D.Y.Razorenov, I.I.Ponomarev, Y.A.Volkova, K.M.Skupov, A.A.Lysova, A.B.Yaroslavtsev, A.D.Modestov, M.I.Buzin, Z.S.Klemenkova. *Eur. Polym. J.*, **156**, 110613 (2021); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eurpolymj.2021.110613
- T.K.Maiti, J.Singh, J.Majhi, A.Ahuja, S.Maiti, P.Dixit, S.Bhushan, A.Bandyopadhyay, S.Chattopadhyay. *Polymer*, 255, 125151 (2022); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.polymer.2022.125151
- Y.Devrim, C.O.Colpan. *Int. J. Hydrogen Energy*, 58, 470 (2024); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2024.01.184
- A.Javed, P.Palafox Gonzalez, V.Thangadurai. ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces, 15, 29674 (2023); https://doi.org/10.1021/acsami.3c02635
- 153. Q.Li, R.He, J.O.Jensen, N.J.Bjerrum. Fuel Cells, 4, 147 (2004); https://doi.org/10.1002/fuce.200400020
- J.Chen, J.Cao, R.Zhang, J.Zhou, S.Wang, X.Liu, T.Zhang, X.Tao, Y.Zhang. *Membranes*, **11**, 826 (2021); https://doi.org/10.3390/membranes11110826
- J.S.Yang, L.N.Cleemann, T.Steenberg, C.Terkelsen, Q.F.Li, J.O.Jensen, H.A.Hjuler, N.J.Bjerrum, R.H.He. *Fuel Cells*, 14, 7 (2014); https://doi.org/10.1002/fuce.201300070
- J.Dai, Y.Zhang, C.Gong, Y.Wan, Y.Zhuang. Chem. Eng. J., 466, 143151 (2023);
- https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cej.2023.143151 157. J.Ji, Y.Han, F.Xu, F.Chu, Y.Li, B.Lin. ACS Appl. Energy Mater., 6, 11754 (2023); https://doi.org/10.1021/acsaem.3c02471
- A.Gao, W.Wang, P.Wang, H.Wu, C.Gong, A.Wu, G.Wei, L.Wang. Adv. Funct. Mater., 33, (2023); https://doi.org/10.1002/adfm.202305948
- 159. K.Maegawa, H.Nagai, R.Kumar, M.M.Abdel-Galeil, W.K.Tan, A.Matsuda. *Mater: Chem. Phys.*, **294**, 126994 (2023); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.matchemphys.2022.126994

- S.Moorthy, G.Sivasubramanian, D.Kannaiyan,
 P.Deivanayagam. *Int. J. Hydrogen Energy*, 48, 28103 (2023); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2023.04.005
- 161. Y.Dong, S.Zhong, Y.He, Z.Liu, S.Zhou, Q.Li, Y.Pang, H.Xie, Y.Ji, Y.Liu, J.Han, W.He. *Chinese Chem. Lett.*, **35**, 109261 (2023); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cclet.2023.109261
- M.Janssen, P.Weber, M.Oezaslan. *Curr. Opin. Electrochem.*, 40, 101337 (2023); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.coelec.2023.101337
- 163. X.Zhao, K.Sasaki. Acc. Chem. Res., 55, 1226 (2022); https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.accounts.2c00057
- 164. H.Liu, J.Zhao, X.Li. *Electrochem. Energy Rev.*, **5**, 13 (2022); https://doi.org/10.1007/s41918-022-00173-3
- 165. J.D.Sinniah, W.Y.Wong, K.S.Loh, R.M.Yunus, S.N.Timmiati. J. Power Sources, 534, 231422 (2022); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpowsour.2022.231422
- D.Banham, S.Ye. ACS Energy Lett., 2, 629 (2017); https://doi.org/10.1021/acsenergylett.6b00644
- S.I.Nefedkin, V.E.Guterman, A.A.Alekseenko, S.V.Belenov, A.V.Ivanenko, M.A.Klimova, V.I.Pavlov, S.V.Panov, K.O.Paperzh, S.V.Shubenkov. *Nanotechnol. Russ.*, 15, 370 (2020); https://doi.org/10.1134/S1992722320030097
- L.Huang, S.Zaman, X.Tian, Z.Wang, W.Fang, B.Y.Xia. Acc. Chem. Res., 54, 311 (2021); https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.accounts.0c00488
- 169. N.Ramaswamy, W.Gu, J.M.Ziegelbauer, S.Kumaraguru. J. Electrochem. Soc., 167, 064515 (2020); https://doi.org/10.1149/1945-7111/ab819c
- D.Banham, J.Zou, S.Mukerjee, Z.Liu, D.Yang, Y.Zhang, Y.Peng, A.Dong. J. Power Sources, 490, 229515 (2021); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpowsour.2021.229515
- B.P.Tarasov, V.E.Muradyan, A.A.Volodin. *Russ. Chem. Bull.*, 60, 1261 (2011); https://doi.org/10.1007/s11172-011-0194-8
- N.V.Smirnova, A.B.Kuriganova, K.S.Novikova, E.V.Gerasimova. *Russ. J. Electrochem.*, **50**, 899 (2014); https://doi.org/10.1134/S1023193514070143
- 173. K.Yu, C.Li, J.Xie, P.J.Ferreira. *Nano Lett.*, **23**, 1858 (2023); https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.nanolett.2c04764
- 174. S.Zhang, M.Chen, X.Zhao, J.Cai, W.Yan, J.C.Yen, S.Chen, Y.Yu, J.Zhang. *Electrochem. Energy Rev.*, 4, 336 (2021); https://doi.org/10.1007/s41918-020-00085-0
- 175. L.Liu, M.Tan, H.Liu, W.Zhang, Q.Xu, K.Hooshyari, J.Yu, H.Su. *Int. J. Hydrogen Energy*, **48**, 35744 (2023); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2023.05.332
- A.A.Volodin, A.A.Belmesov, V.B.Murzin, P.V.Fursikov, A.D.Zolotarenko, B.P.Tarasov. *Inorg. Mater.*, 49, 656 (2013); https://doi.org/10.1134/S0020168513060174
- 177. A.A.Glukhov, B.Belmesov, G.V.Nechaev, A.E.Ukshe, O.G.Reznitskikh, N.G.Bukun, L.V.Shmygleva, Y.A.Dobrovolsky. *Mater. Sci. Eng. B*, **278**, (2022); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mseb.2022.115617
- A.A.Belmesov, A.V.Levchenko, A.A.Baranov, S.E.Nadkhina, A.P.Melnikov. *Nanotechnol. Russ.*, 15, 701 (2020); https://doi.org/10.1134/S199507802006004X
- K.Vikrant, S.Weon, K.-H.Kim, M.Sillanpää. *Appl. Mater*. *Today*, 23, 100993 (2021); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apmt.2021.100993
- 180. X.Wu, C.Liu, H.Wang, Q.Ge, X.Zhu. J. Catal., 418, 203 (2023); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcat.2023.01.023
- 181. M.Wang, M.Chen, Z.Yang, G.Liu, J.Kee Lee, W.Yang, X.Wang, *Energy Convers. Manag.*, **191**, 132 (2019); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enconman.2019.04.014
- Z.Li, Y.Wang, Y.Mu, B.Wu, Y.Jiang, L.Zeng, T.Zhao. *Renew.* Sustain. Energy Rev., **176**, 113182 (2023); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2023.113182
- 183. H.Li, H.Zhao, B.Tao, G.Xu, S.Gu, G.Wang, H.Chang. *Nanomaterials*, **12**, 4173 (2022); https://doi.org/10.3390/nano12234173
- T.A.M.Suter, K.Smith, J.Hack, L.Rasha, Z.Rana, G.M.A.Angel, P.R.Shearing, T.S.Miller, D.J.L.Brett.

Adv. Energy Mater., **11**, 202101025 (2021); https://doi.org/10.1002/aenm.202101025

- 185. Y.Guo, F.Pan, W.Chen, Z.Ding, D.Yang, B.Li, P.Ming, C.Zhang. *Electrochem. Energy Rev.*, 4, 67 (2021); https://doi.org/10.1007/s41918-020-00083-2
- 186. P.C.Okonkwo, O.O.Ige, E.M.Barhoumi, P.C.Uzoma, W.Emori, A.Benamor, A.M.Abdullah. *Int. J. Hydrogen Energy*, 46, 15850 (2021); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2021.02.078
- 187. S.Mukerjee, R.C.Urian, S.J.Lee, E.A.Ticianelli, J.McBreen. J. Electrochem. Soc., 151, A1094 (2004);
- https://doi.org/10.1149/1.1759363 188. G.Xing, L.Wang, H.Fu. *Energy Technol.*, **9**, 2100227 (2021); https://doi.org/10.1002/ente.202100227
- V.I.Pavlov, E.V.Gerasimova, E.V.Zolotukhina, G.M.Don, Y.A.Dobrovolsky, A.B.Yaroslavtsev. *Nanotechnol. Russ.*, 11, 743 (2016); https://doi.org/10.1134/S199507801606015X
- 190. Y.Wang, F.Chu, J.Zeng, Q.Wang, T.Naren, Y.Li, Y.Cheng, Y.Lei, F.Wu. ACS Nano, 15, 210 (2021); https://doi.org/10.1021/acsnano.0c08652
- Q.Zhang, J.Guan. Adv. Funct. Mater., 30, 2000768 (2020); https://doi.org/10.1002/adfm.202000768
- C.Wan, X.Duan, Y.Huang. Adv. Energy Mater., 10, 1903815 (2020); https://doi.org/10.1002/aenm.201903815
- 193. B.Singh, V.Sharma, R.P.Gaikwad, P.Fornasiero, R.Zbořil, M.B.Gawande. *Small*, **17**, 2006473 (2021); https://doi.org/10.1002/smll.202006473
- 194. Q.Liu, Y.Li, L.Zheng, J.Shang, X.Liu, R.Yu, J.Shui. *Adv. Energy Mater.*, **10**, 2000689 (2020); https://doi.org/10.1002/aenm.202000689
- 195. Y.Kim, H.E.Bae, D.Lee, J.Kim, E.Lee, S.Oh, J.-H.Jang, Y.-H.Cho, M.Karuppannan, Y.-E.Sung, T.Lim, O.J.Kwon. *J. Power Sources*, **533**, 231378 (2022); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpowsour.2022.231378
- 196. K.C.Neyerlin, W.Gu, J.Jorne, H.A.Gasteiger. J. Electrochem. Soc., 154, B631 (2007); https://doi.org/10.1149/1.2733987
- 197. J.Durst, C.Simon, F.Hasché, H.A.Gasteiger. J. Electrochem. Soc., 162, F190 (2015); https://doi.org/10.1149/2.0981501jes
- S.Rosini, E.Siebert. *Electrochim. Acta*, **50**, 2943 (2005); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.electacta.2004.11.044
- 199. B.Wang. J. Power Sources, **152**, 1 (2005); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpowsour.2005.05.098
- X.Zhang, D.Xue, S.Jiang, H.Xia, Y.Yang, W.Yan, J.Hu, J.Zhang. *InfoMat*, 4, e12257 (2022); https://doi.org/10.1002/inf2.12257
- 201. K.Xu, S.Pei, W.Zhang, Z.Han, P.Guan, L.Wang, Y.Zou, H.Ding, X.Ma, C.Xu, F.Liu, Y.Zhang. *Mater. Today Energy*, **31**, 101195 (2023); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mtener.2022.101195
- 202. Q.T.Phan, K.C.Poon, H.Sato. *Int. J. Hydrogen Energy*, **46**, 14190 (2021);
- https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2021.02.006
 203. X.Hu, B.Yang, S.Ke, Y.Liu, M.Fang, Z.Huang, X.Min. *Energy Fuels*, 37, 11532 (2023);
- https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.energyfuels.3c01265
- 204. S.Belenov, A.Pavlets, K.Paperzh, D.Mauer, V.Menshikov, A.Alekseenko, I.Pankov, M.Tolstunov, V.Guterman. *Catalysts*, 13, 243 (2023); https://doi.org/10.3390/catal13020243
- 205. S.Kolluru, G.Mahnot Jain, D.Gollapudi, L.Eswaraditya Reddy, G.V.Ramesh. *Mater. Today Proc.*, **92**, 764 (2023); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.matpr.2023.04.320
- W.Luo, Y.Jiang, M.Wang, D.Lu, X.Sun, H.Zhang. *RSC Adv.*, 13, 4803 (2023); https://doi.org/10.1039/D2RA07644F
- C.Li, N.Clament Sagaya Selvam, J.Fang. *Nano-Micro Lett.*, 15, 83 (2023); https://doi.org/10.1007/s40820-023-01060-2
- 208. S.J.Kim, B.G.Seo, H.J.Jeong, J.H.Shim. Int. J. Energy Res., 46, 17180 (2022); https://doi.org/10.1002/er.8381

- 209. S.Belenov, A.Nevelskaya, A.Nikulin, M.Tolstunov. Int. J. Mol. Sci., 24, 2177 (2023); https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms24032177
- T.Tang, L.Ding, Z.Jiang, J.-S.Hu, L.-J.Wan. Sci. China Chem., 63, 1517 (2020); https://doi.org/10.1007/s11426-020-9835-8
- 211. Y.Chen, S.Zhang, J.Chung-Yen Jung, J.Zhang. Prog. Energy Combust. Sci., 98, 101101 (2023); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pecs.2023.101101
- Z.Hao, Y.Ma, Y.Chen, P.Fu, P.Wang. *Nanomaterials*, 12, 3331 (2022); https://doi.org/10.3390/nano12193331
- 213. K.Mishra, N.Devi, S.S.Siwal, V.K.Thakur. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.*, **334**, 122820 (2023); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apcatb.2023.122820
- 214. Q.Chen, Z.Zhang, R.Zhang, M.Hu, L.Shi, Z.Yao. *Processes*, **11**, 361 (2023); https://doi.org/10.3390/pr11020361
- 215. J.Hou, S.Qu, M.Yang, J.Zhang. J. Power Sources, **450**, 227697 (2020); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpowsour.2019.227697
- V.Briega-Martos, A.Ferre-Vilaplana, E.Herrero, J.M.Feliu. *Electrochim. Acta*, 354, 136620 (2020); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.electacta.2020.136620
- C.Gerling, M.Hanauer, U.Berner, K.Andreas Friedrich. J. Electrochem. Soc., 169, 014503 (2022); https://doi.org/10.1149/1945-7111/ac44ba
- M.V.Dmitrieva, E.V.Zolotukhina, E.V.Gerasimova, A.A.Terent'ev, Y.A.Dobrovol'skii. *Appl. Biochem. Microbiol.*, 53, 458 (2017); https://doi.org/10.1134/S0003683817040032
- A.S.Freiman, N.V.Talagaeva, K.V.Gor'kov, E.V.Zolotukhina. Biocatal. Agric. Biotechnol., 55, 103002 (2024); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bcab.2023.103002
- 220. K.-I.Ota, Y.Nakagawa, M.Takahashi. J. Electroanal. Chem. Interfacial Electrochem., **179**, 179 (1984); https://doi.org/10.1016/S0022-0728(84)80286-7
- S.Gilman. J. Phys. Chem., 67, 1898 (1963); https://doi.org/10.1021/j100803a041
- 222. S.Gilman. J. Phys. Chem., 68, 70 (1964); https://doi.org/10.1021/j100783a013
- 223. M.W.Breiter. J. Phys. Chem., 72, 1305 (1968); https://doi.org/10.1021/j100850a041
- 224. N.P.Lebedeva, M.T.M.Koper, J.M.Feliu, R.A.van Santen. J. Phys. Chem. B, 106, 12938 (2002); https://doi.org/10.1021/jp0204105
- 225. J.Mitzel, Q.Zhang, P.Gazdzicki, K.A.Friedrich. J. Power Sources, 488, 229375 (2021); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpowsour.2020.229375
- E.A.Permyakov, V.M.Kogan. *Russ. Chem. Rev.*, 92 (10), RCR5094 (2023); https://doi.org/10.59761/RCR5094
- 227. M.W.Breiter. J. Electroanal. Chem. Interfacial Electrochem., 101, 329 (1979);
- https://doi.org/10.1016/S0022-0728(79)80044-3 228. A.B.Anderson, N.M.Neshev. J. Electrochem. Soc., **149**, E383 (2002); https://doi.org/10.1149/1.1506934
- M.Arenz, K.J.J.Mayrhofer, V.Stamenkovic, B.B.Blizanac, T.Tomoyuki, P.N.Ross, N.M.Markovic. J. Am. Chem. Soc., 127, 6819 (2005); https://doi.org/10.1021/ja043602h
- Q.Li, G.Zhang, B.Yuan, S.Zhong, Y.Ji, Y.Liu, X.Wu, Q.Kong, J.Han, W.He. *Nano Select*, 3, 1459 (2022); https://doi.org/10.1002/nano.202200111
- Y.A.Titova, O.V Fedorova, G.L.Rusinov, V.N.Charushin. *Russ. Chem. Rev.*, 84, 1294 (2015); https://doi.org/10.1070/RCR4450
- 232. M.Watanabe, M.Uchida, S.Motoo. J. Electroanal. Chem. Interfacial Electrochem., **229**, 395 (1987); https://doi.org/10.1016/0022-0728(87)85156-2
- 233. D.C.Papageorgopoulos, M.Keijzer, F.A.de Bruijn. *Electrochim. Acta*, **48**, 197 (2002); https://doi.org/10.1016/S0013-4686(02)00602-3
- 234. M.Goetz, H.Wendt. J. Appl. Electrochem., **31**, 811 (2001); https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1017598219719
- M.Arenz, V.Stamenkovic, B.Blizanac, K.Mayrhofer, N.Markovic, P.Ross. J. Catal., 232, 402 (2005); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcat.2005.03.022

- 236. S.Mukerjee. *Electrochem. Solid-State Lett.*, **2**, 12 (1999); https://doi.org/10.1149/1.1390718
- 237. K.Lee, I.Park, Y.Cho, D.Jung, N.Jung, H.Park, Y.Sung. J. Catal., **258**, 143 (2008);
- https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcat.2008.06.007
 238. S.Ye. In *PEM Fuel Cell Electrocatalysts and Catalyst Layers*. (Ed. J.Zhang). (London; Springer, 2008). P. 759
- 239. C.Molochas, P.Tsiakaras. *Catalysts*, **11**, 1127 (2021); https://doi.org/10.3390/catal11091127
- 240. G.Blyholder. J. Phys. Chem., 68, 2772 (1964); https://doi.org/10.1021/j100792a006
- 241. M.Gajdo, A.Eichler, J.Hafner. J. Phys. Condens. Matter, 16, 1141 (2004); https://doi.org/10.1088/0953-8984/16/8/001
- 242. N.K.Ray, A.B.Anderson. *Surf. Sci.*, **119**, 35 (1982); https://doi.org/10.1016/0039-6028(82)90185-6
- L.G.M.Pettersson, A.Nilsson. Top. Catal., 57, 2 (2014); https://doi.org/10.1007/s11244-013-0157-4
- 244. E.Christoffersen, P.Liu, A.Ruban, H.Skriver, J.Nørskov. J. Catal., 199, 123 (2001); https://doi.org/10.1006/jcat.2000.3136
- 245. P.P.Lopes, E.A.Ticianelli. J. Electroanal. Chem., 644, 110 (2010); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jelechem.2009.06.011
- 246. Z.Liu, G.S.Jackson, B.W.Eichhorn. *Angew. Chem.*, **122**, 3241 (2010); https://doi.org/10.1002/ange.200907019
- 247. H.Guo, L.Chen, S.A.Ismail, L.Jiang, S.Guo, J.Gu, X.Zhang, Y.Li, Y.Zhu, Z.Zhang, D.Han. *Materials*, **15**, 8800 (2022); https://doi.org/10.3390/ma15248800
- C.Luo, H.L.Choo, H.Ahmad, P.N.Sivasankaran. Proceedings of the Institution of Mechanical Engineers, Part B: Journal of Engineering Manufacture, 238, 785 (2023); https://doi.org/10.1177/09544054231187675
- 249. R.Omrani, B.Shabani. *Int. J. Hydrogen Energy*, **44**, 3834 (2019); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2018.12.120
- 250. H.Li, H.Zhao, S.Jian, B.Tao, S.Gu, G.Xu, G.Wang, H.Chang. J. Mater. Chem. A, 11, 17373 (2023); https://doi.org/10.1039/D3TA02545D
- D.K.Madheswaran, P.Thangavelu, R.Krishna, M.Thangamuthu, A.Joseph Chandran, I.Colak. *Carbon Lett.*, 33, 1495 (2023); https://doi.org/10.1007/s42823-023-00526-y
- 252. A.J.Navarro, M.A.Gómez, L.Daza, J.J.López-Cascales. Sci. Rep., 12, 4219 (2022); https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-022-08124-0
- V.Radhakrishnan, P.Haridoss. *Mater. Des.*, **32**, 861 (2011); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.matdes.2010.07.009
- 254. K.-Q.Zhu, Q.Ding, J.-H.Xu, Y.-R.Yang, C.Yang, J.Zhang, Y.Zhang, T.-M.Huang, W.-M.Yan, Z.-M.Wan, X.-D.Wang. *Energy Convers. Manag.*, 267, 115915 (2022); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enconman.2022.115915
- R.Omrani, B.Shabani. Int. J. Hydrogen Energy, 42, 28515 (2017); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2017.09.132
- T.Chen, S.Liu, J.Zhang, M.Tang. Int. J. Heat Mass Transf., 128, 1168 (2019);
- https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijheatmasstransfer.2018.09.097
 257. X.Ma, X.Zhang, J.Yang, W.Zhuge, S.Shuai. *Energy Convers. Manag.*, 227, 113579 (2021);
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enconman.2020.113579
- Z.Niu, J.Wu, Z.Bao, Y.Wang, Y.Yin, K.Jiao. *Int. J. Heat Mass Transf.*, **139**, 58 (2019);
- https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijheatmasstransfer.2019.05.008
 259. X.Zhang, X.Ma, S.Shuai, Y.Qin, J.Yang. Int. J. Heat Mass Transf., 178, 121592 (2021);
- https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijheatmasstransfer.2021.121592 260. M.Chen, C.Zhao, F.Sun, J.Fan, H.Li, H.Wang.
- *eTransportation*, **5**, 100075 (2020); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.etran.2020.100075 261 K Bozburt L Abyalon S Kialetrup *Int. J. Hud*
- K.Bozkurt, L.Akyalçın, S.Kjelstrup. Int. J. Hydrogen Energy, 48, 1501 (2023); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2022.09.302

- 262. X.Shi, D.Jiao, Z.Bao, K.Jiao, W.Chen, Z.Liu. *Int. J. Hydrogen Energy*, **47**, 6247 (2022);
- https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2021.11.248
 263. T.Wilberforce, Z.El Hassan, E.Ogungbemi, O.Ijaodola, F.N.Khatib, A.Durrant, J.Thompson, A.Baroutaji, A.G.Olabi. *Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev.*, 111, 236 (2019); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2019.04.081
- 264. S.Zhang, S.Liu, H.Xu, G.Liu, K.Wang. *Energy*, **239**, 122102 (2022); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.energy.2021.122102
- 265. F.Yan, X.Pei, J.Yao. *Ionics*, **29**, 695 (2023); https://doi.org/10.1007/s11581-022-04849-0
- 266. Y.Wang, C.Si, Y.Qin, X.Wang, Y.Fan, Y.Gao. *Energy Convers. Manag.*, **227**, 113588 (2021); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enconman.2020.113588
- 267. Y.Wang, X.Wang, Y.Fan, W.He, J.Guan, X.Wang. Appl. Energy, 306, 118021 (2022);
- https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apenergy.2021.118021
 268. H.Hazar, M.Yilmaz, H.Sevinc. *Energy Convers. Manag.*, 248, 114818 (2021);
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enconman.2021.114818
- Y.Zhang, Z.Tu. Appl. Energy Combust. Sci., 17, 100244
- (2024); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaecs.2023.100244270. A.Tang, L.Crisci, L.Bonville, J.Jankovic. *J. Renew. Sustain.*
- *Energy*, **13**, 022701 (2021); https://doi.org/10.1063/5.0031447 271. Q.Liu, F.Lan, C.Zeng, J.Chen, J.Wang. *J. Power Sources*, **538**,
- 231543 (2022); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpowsour.2022.231543 272. Y.Zhang, Y.Tao, J.Shao. *J. Power Sources*, **492**, 229664
- (2021); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpowsour.2021.229664
- 273. Q.Li, Z.Liu, Y.Sun, S.Yang, C.Deng. *Processes*, **9**, 235 (2021); https://doi.org/10.3390/pr9020235
- V.P.Kashparova, D.V.Chernysheva, V.A.Klushin,
 V.E.Andreeva, O.A.Kravchenko, N.V.Smirnova. *Russ. Chem. Rev.*, 90, 750 (2021); https://doi.org/10.1070/RCR5018
- 275. D.K.Madheswaran, A.Jayakumar, R.Velu, R.Raj, E.G.Varuvel. *Int. J. Energy Res.*, **46**, 19737 (2022); https://doi.org/10.1002/er.8645
- 276. X.Zhang, H.Huang, J.Fan, Y.Niu, L.Fan, S.Xu, H.Li. ACS Sustain. Chem. Eng., 10, 15846 (2022); https://doi.org/10.1021/acssuschemeng.2c04793
- S.M.S.Al-Mufti, S.J.A.Rizvi. In Proton Exchange Membrane Fuel Cells: Electrochemical Methods and Computational Fluid Dynamics. (Wiley, 2023). Ch. 7. P. 137
- 278. M.Hala, J.Mališ, M.Paidar, K.Bouzek. *Membranes*, **12**, 1050 (2022); https://doi.org/10.3390/membranes12111050
- O.A.Alo, I.O.Otunniyi, E.R.Sadiku. *Fuel Cells*, 23, 136 (2023); https://doi.org/10.1002/fuce.202100157
- G.Liu, F.Hou, S.Peng, X.Wang, B.Fang. Int. J. Miner. Metall. Mater., 29, 1099 (2022); https://doi.org/10.1007/s12613-022-2485-5
- F.-B.Weng, M.M.Dlamini, C.-H.Chen. Int. J. Electrochem. Sci., 17, 22052 (2022); https://doi.org/10.20964/2022.05.53
- Q.Shu, J.Shi, Z.Li, D.Xing, X.Sun, Y.Zhang, S.Song, Y.Tang, S.Yang, H.Gao, C.Xia, M.Zhao, X.Li, H.Zhao. *Appl. Energy*, 355, 122208 (2024);
- https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apenergy.2023.122208
 283. D.D.Papadias, R.K.Ahluwalia, J.K.Thomson, H.M.Meyer, M.P.Brady, H.Wang, J.A.Turner, R.Mukundan, R.Borup. *J. Power Sources*, 273, 1237 (2015);
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpowsour.2014.02.053
- 284. L.Yu, L.Shang, G.Zhang, X.Li, Q.Meng. Int. J. Hydrogen Energy, 48, 34055 (2023); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2023.05.197
- R.Liu, Q.Jia, B.Zhang, Z.Lai, L.Chen. Int. J. Hydrogen Energy, 47, 22915 (2022);
- https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2022.05.078 286. W.Tang, S.Wang, S.Li, S.Yu, X.Yuan, C.Yang, W.Li. *Next Mater.*, **4**, 100062 (2023); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nxmate.2023.100062

- 287. S.Wu, W.Yang, H.Yan, X.Zuo, Z.Cao, H.Li, M.Shi, H.Chen. Int. J. Hydrogen Energy, 46, 8672 (2021); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2020.12.074
- 288. S.H.Lee, V.E.Pukha, V.E.Vinogradov, N.Kakati, S.H.Jee, S.B.Cho, Y.S.Yoon. *Int. J. Hydrogen Energy*, **38**, 14284 (2013); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2013.08.013
- V.E.Pukha, A.A.Glukhov, A.A.Belmesov, E.N.Kabachkov, I.I.Khodos, M.Khadem, D.-E.Kim, P.A.Karaseov. *Vacuum*, 218, 112643 (2023);
- https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vacuum.2023.112643
 290. Z.Chen, W.Zuo, K.Zhou, Q.Li, Y.Huang, J.E. *Energy Convers. Manag.*, 277, 116691 (2023);
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enconman.2023.116691
- 291. H.Askaripour. *Int. J. Heat Mass Transf.*, 144, 118705 (2019); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijheatmasstransfer.2019.118705
- Q.Yan, H.Toghiani, H.Causey. J. Power Sources, 161, 492 (2006); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpowsour.2006.03.077
- 293. D.Chen, P.Pei, Y.Li, P.Ren, Y.Meng, X.Song, Z.Wu. *Energy Convers. Manag.*, 261, 115651 (2022); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enconman.2022.115651
- 294. Y.Lian, C.You, Z.Zhu, X.Zhu, X.Li, W.Zhou. J. Power Sources, **536**, 231513 (2022);
- https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpowsour.2022.231513
 295. S.A.Atyabi, E.Afshari, S.Wongwises, W.-M.Yan, A.Hadjadj, M.S.Shadloo. *Energy*, **179**, 490 (2019);
- https://doi.org/10.1016/j.energy.2019.05.031
 296. A.Uzundurukan, M.Bilgili, Y.Devrim. Int. J. Hydrogen Energy, 45, 35085 (2020);
- https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2020.04.275 297. I.A.Stenina, A.B.Yaroslavtsev. *Membranes*, **11**, 198 (2021);
- https://doi.org/10.3390/membranes11030198
 298. E.Y.Safronova, D.Y.Voropaeva, S.A.Novikova, A.B.Yaroslavtsev. *Membr. Membr. Technol.*, 4, 39 (2022);
- A.B. Faloslavisov. *Memor. Memor. Technol.*, **4**, 39 (2022), https://doi.org/10.1134/S2517751622010073
 299. Y.Jin, T.Wang, X.Che, J.Dong, R.Liu, J.Yang. *J. Membr. Sci.*,
- **641**, 119884 (2022); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.memsci.2021.119884
- F.C. Teixeira, A.P.S. Teixeira, C.M.Rangel. *Renew. Energy*, 196, 1187 (2022);
- https://doi.org/10.1016/j.renene.2022.07.054 301. A.Alashkar, A.Al-Othman, M.Tawalbeh, M.Qasim. *Membranes*, **12**, 178 (2022); https://doi.org/10.3390/membranes12020178
- 302. S.Xing, C.Zhao, J.Zou, S.Zaman, Y.Yu, H.Gong, Y.Wang, M.Chen, M.Wang, M.Lin, H.Wang. *Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev.*, 165, 112558 (2022); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2022.112558
- N.Thmaini, K.Charradi, Z.Ahmed, P.Aranda, R.Chtourou. J. Appl. Polym. Sci., 139, 52208 (2022); https://doi.org/10.1002/app.52208
- F.Wolfenstetter, M.Kreitmeir, L.Schoenfeld, H.Klein, M.Becker, S.Rehfeldt. Int. J. Hydrogen Energy, 47, 23381 (2022); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2022.05.114
- 305. T.Chu, Q.Tang, Q.Wang, Y.Wang, H.Du, Y.Guo, B.Li, D.Yang, P.Ming, C.Zhang. *Energy*, **264**, 126286 (2023); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.energy.2022.126286
- 306. T.-T.Nguyen, K.Fushinobu. Sustain. Energy Technol. Assessments, 37, 100584 (2020); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.seta.2019.100584
- M.Butori, B.Eriksson, C.Lagergren, G.Lindbergh, R.Lindstrom. ECS Meet. Abstr., MA2023-02, 1909 (2023); https://doi.org/10.1149/MA2023-02391909mtgabs
- 308. S.M.Nawale, M.M.Dlamini, F.-B.Weng. *Membranes*, **13**, 12 (2022); https://doi.org/10.3390/membranes13010012
- 309. Y.Li, Z.Zhou, X.Liu, W.-T.Wu. Appl. Energy, 242, 1513 (2019); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apenergy.2019.03.189
- A.Kongkanand, M.F.Mathias. J. Phys. Chem. Lett., 7, 1127 (2016); https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jpclett.6b00216
- 311. M.Xie, T.Chu, T.Wang, K.Wan, D.Yang, B.Li, P.Ming, C.Zhang. *Membranes*, **11**, 879 (2021); https://doi.org/10.3390/membranes11110879

- H.Liu, L.Ney, N.Zamel, X.Li. *Appl. Sci.*, **12**, 3776 (2022); https://doi.org/10.3390/app12083776
- W.Gao, Q.Yin, X.Zhang, C.Zhang, Y.Lei, C.Wang. J. Power Sources, 547, 232013 (2022);
- https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpowsour.2022.232013 314. J.P.Owejan, J.E.Owejan, W.Gu. *J. Electrochem. Soc.*, **160**, F824 (2013); https://doi.org/10.1149/2.072308jes
- 315. A.Ganesan, M.Narayanasamy. *Mater. Renew. Sustain. Energy*, **8**, 18 (2019); https://doi.org/10.1007/s40243-019-0156-x
- 316. M.S.Saha, A.F.Gullá, R.J.Allen, S.Mukerjee. *Electrochim. Acta*, **51**, 4680 (2006);
- https://doi.org/10.1016/j.electacta.2006.01.006 317. M.V.Williams, H.R.Kunz, J.M.Fenton. J. Power Sources, **135**,
- 122 (2004); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpowsour.2004.04.010
 318. X.Liu, H.Guo, F.Ye, C.Ma. *Int. J. Hydrogen Energy*, **33**, 1040 (2008); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2007.11.018
- S.-Y.Fang, L.G.Teoh, R.-H.Huang, K.-L.Hsueh, K.-H.Yang, W.-K.Chao, F.-S.Shieu. *Int. J. Hydrogen Energy*, **39**, 21177 (2014); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2014.10.055
- D.Dang, H.Zou, Z.Xiong, S.Hou, T.Shu, H.Nan, X.Zeng, J.Zeng, S.Liao. ACS Catal., 5, 4318 (2015); https://doi.org/10.1021/acscatal.5b00030
- 321. R.Lin, H.Wang, Y.Zhu. *Energy*, **221**, 119909 (2021); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.energy.2021.119909
- 322. A.Kumar, H.-C.Su, Y.-S.Chen, A.Arpornwichanop. Int. J. Hydrogen Energy, 46, 15878 (2021); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2021.02.033
- 323. Y.Garsany, R.W.Atkinson, B.D.Gould, R.Martin, L.Dubau, M.Chatenet, K.E.Swider-Lyons. J. Power Sources, 514, 230574 (2021); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpowsour.2021.230574
- 324. G.-Y.Chen, C.Wang, Y.-J.Lei, J.Zhang, Z.Mao, Z.-Q.Mao, J.-W.Guo, J.Li, M.Ouyang. *Int. J. Hydrogen Energy*, **42**, 29960 (2017); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2017.06.229
- 325. T.Li, J.Shen, G.Chen, S.Guo, G.Xie. ACS Omega, 5, 17628 (2020); https://doi.org/10.1021/acsomega.0c02110
- 326. F.Zhou, S.J.Andreasen, S.K.Kær, D.Yu. Int. J. Hydrogen Energy, 40, 2833 (2015); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2014.12.082
- 327. K.Sasiwimonrit, W.-C.Chang. Int. J. Hydrogen Energy, 45, 14491 (2020);
- https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2020.03.179
 328. D.Yao, W.Zhang, Q.Ma, Q.Xu, S.Pasupathi, H.Su. J. Power Sources, 426, 124 (2019);
- https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpowsour.2019.04.045
- 329. M.G.H.Al-Tememy, Y.Devrim. *Int. J. Energy Res.*, **45**, 3343 (2021); https://doi.org/10.1002/er.6032
- 330. W.Zhang, D.Yao, L.Tian, Z.Xie, Q.Ma, Q.Xu, S.Pasupathi, L.Xing, H.Su. J. Taiwan Inst. Chem. Eng., **125**, 285 (2021); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtice.2021.06.037
- Y.Devrim, E.D.Arıca. Int. J. Hydrogen Energy, 45, 3609 (2020); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2019.01.111
- O.Barron, H.Su, V.Linkov, B.G.Pollet, S.Pasupathi. J. Power Sources, 278, 718 (2015); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpowsour.2014.12.139
- D.-H.Kim, C.-M.Min, E.Lee, J.-S.Lee, C.Pak. *Catal. Today*, 358, 333 (2020); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cattod.2019.07.046
- 334. J.Zhang, H.Wang, W.Li, J.Zhang, D.Lu, W.Yan, Y.Xiang,
 S.Lu. J. Power Sources, 505, 230059 (2021); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpowsour.2021.230059
- 335. Z.An, H.Li, X.Zhang, Z.Xia, H.Zhang, W.Chu, S.Yu, S.Wang, G.Sun. ACS Catal., 14, 2572 (2024); https://doi.org/10.1021/acscatal.3c04488
- 336. G.Li, C.Deng, F.Ji, B.Zheng, X.Wang, T.Wang. J. Power Sources, 593, 233807 (2024); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpowsour.2023.233807
- 337. O.Kwon, S.Yang, B.Kang, J.Park, G.Park, J.Baek, H.Oh, Y.So, S.Park, Y.Jeong, T.Park. *Adv. Funct. Mater.*, 34, 2309865 (2024); https://doi.org/10.1002/adfm.202309865

- F.Arslan, J.Dirsch, M.Wagner, A.T.S.Freiberg, M.Komma, J.Kerres, S.Thiele, T.Böhm. J. Power Sources, 553, 232297 (2023); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpowsour.2022.232297
- 339. E.Antolini. Appl. Catal. B: Environ., 181, 298 (2016); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apcatb.2015.08.007
- E.A.Ticianelli, C.R.Derouin, S.Srinivasan. J. Electroanal. Chem. Interfacial Electrochem., 251, 275 (1988); https://doi.org/10.1016/0022-0728(88)85190-8
- T.-F.Yang, L.-W.Hourng, T.L.Yu, P.-H.Chi, A.Su. J. Power Sources, 195, 7359 (2010); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpowsour.2010.04.063
- 342. M.A.Derendyaev, D.V.Koryakin, E.M.Filalova, A.B.Yalmaev, M.Z.Galin, E.V.Gerasimova, A.E.Antipov, A.V.Levchenko, Y.A.Dobrovolsky. *Nanotechnol. Russ.*, **15**, 797 (2020); https://doi.org/10.1134/S1995078020060087
- 343. T.Schuler, A.Chowdhury, A.T.Freiberg, B.Sneed, F.B.Spingler, M.C.Tucker, K.L.More, C.J.Radke, A.Z.Weber. *J. Electrochem. Soc.*, **166**, F3020 (2019); https://doi.org/10.1149/2.0031907jes
- 344. S.Li, J.Yuan, G.Xie, B.Sundén. *Int. J. Hydrogen Energy*, **43**, 8451 (2018); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2018.03.106
- 345. N.A.Ivanova, D.D.Spasov, A.A.Zasypkina, O.K.Alekseeva, E.V.Kukueva, E.A.Vorobyeva, E.S.Kudinova, R.G.Chumakov, P.Millet, S.A.Grigoriev. *Int. J. Hydrogen Energy*, 46, 18093 (2021); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2020.08.234
- 346. P.A.García-Salaberri, A.Sánchez-Ramos, P.K.Das. Front. Energy Res., 10, 1058913 (2022); https://doi.org/10.3389/fenrg.2022.1058913
- 347. X.Deng, C.Huang, X.Pei, B.Hu, W.Zhou. *Int. J. Hydrogen Energy*, 47, 1529 (2022);
- https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2021.10.141 348. D.Banham, J.Choi, T.Kishimoto, S.Ye. *Adv. Mater.*, **31**,
- 1804846 (2019); https://doi.org/10.1002/adma.201804846 349. P.C.Okonkwo, C.Otor. *Int. J. Energy Res.*, **45**, 3780 (2021); https://doi.org/10.1002/er.6227
- X.Fu, Q.Wen, J.Han, J.Wei, Y.Li, F.Ning, X.Zhou. Int. J. Hydrogen Energy, 47, 25769 (2022); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2022.06.014
- K.Zhou, T.Li, Y.Han, J.Wang, J.Chen, K.Wang. *RSC Adv.*, 11, 2010 (2021); https://doi.org/10.1039/D0RA09658J
- L.Chen, R.Lin, X.Chen, Z.Hao, X.Diao, D.Froning, S.Tang. ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces, 12, 24048 (2020); https://doi.org/10.1021/acsami.0c05416
- C.-J.Tseng, S.-K.Lo. *Energy Convers. Manag.*, 51, 677 (2010); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enconman.2009.11.011
- A.Thomas, G.Maranzana, S.Didierjean, J.Dillet, O.Lottin. Int. J. Hydrogen Energy, 39, 2649 (2014); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2013.11.105
- 355. H.Sun, C.Xie, H.Chen, S.Almheiri. *Appl. Energy*, **160**, 937 (2015); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apenergy.2015.02.053
- 356. G.H.Kim, D.Kim, J.Kim, H.Kim, T.Park. J. Ind. Eng. Chem., 91, 311 (2020);https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jiec.2020.08.014
- 357. C.W.Wu, W.Zhang, X.Han, Y.X.Zhang, G.J.Ma. J. Power Sources, 476, 228724 (2020); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpowsour.2020.228724
- B.Qiang, L.Shaobo, C.-Y.Hsieh, F.-B.Weng, H.-M.Ou. *Int. J. Electrochem. Sci.*, 14, 10469 (2019); https://doi.org/10.20964/2019.11.54
- D.N.Ozen, B.Timurkutluk, K.Altinisik. *Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev.*, 59, 1298 (2016);
- https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2016.01.040 360. J.Zhao, X.Li, C.Shum, J.McPhee. *Energy*, **266**, 126488 (2023); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.energy.2022.126488
- 361. M.M.Saleh, T.Okajima, M.Hayase, F.Kitamura, T.Ohsaka. J. Power Sources, 164, 503 (2007); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpowsour.2006.11.065
- 362. H.-S.Kim, K.Min. J. Mech. Sci. Technol., 22, 2274 (2008); https://doi.org/10.1007/s12206-008-0702-4
- D.Natarajan, T.Van Nguyen. AIChE J., 51, 2599 (2005); https://doi.org/10.1002/aic.10577

- Y.Oono, T.Fukuda, A.Sounai, M.Hori. J. Power Sources, 195, 1007 (2010); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpowsour.2009.08.097
- 365. C.Zhang, W.Zhou, M.M.Ehteshami, Y.Wang, S.H.Chan. *Energy Convers. Manag.*, **105**, 433 (2015); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enconman.2015.08.011
- Z.Xia, H.Chen, T.Zhang, P.Pei. Int. J. Hydrogen Energy, 47, 13076 (2022); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2022.02.047
- 367. H.Choi, J.Kim, O.Kwon, H.Yoo, H.Kim, H.Cha, T.Park. Int. J. Hydrogen Energy, 47, 6259 (2022); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2021.11.234
- 368. J.Zhao, Z.Tu, S.H.Chan. *Energy*, 239, 122270 (2022); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.energy.2021.122270
- T.Falagüerra, P.Muñoz, G.Correa. J. Electroanal. Chem., 880, 114820 (2021);
- https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jelechem.2020.114820
- 370. J.Zhang, C.Wang, A.Zhang. *Appl. Energy*, **311**, 118646 (2022); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apenergy.2022.118646
- 371. P.K.Thiyagarajan, K.Jeganathan, M.Kumar P. *Fuel Cells*, **22**, 71 (2022); https://doi.org/10.1002/fuce.202200022
- 372. J.Zhang, Y.Tang, C.Song, X.Cheng, J.Zhang, H.Wang. *Electrochim. Acta*, **52**, 5095 (2007); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.electacta.2007.02.002
- J.Cho, H.-S.Kim, K.Min. J. Power Sources, 185, 118 (2008); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpowsour.2008.06.073
- E.Chalkova, M.V.Fedkin, D.J.Wesolowski, S.N.Lvov. J. Electrochem. Soc., 152, A1742 (2005); https://doi.org/10.1149/1.1971216
- 375. F.Urbani, O.Barbera, G.Giacoppo, G.Squadrito, E.Passalacqua. Int. J. Hydrogen Energy, 33, 3137 (2008); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2007.11.014
- L.Jin, X.-J.Wang, J.-W.Zhu, C.-F.Wang, T.-T.Zhou, X.-W.Zhang. *Energy Convers. Manag.*, 228, 113727 (2021); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enconman.2020.113727
- 377. S.Kim, I.Hong. J. Ind. Eng. Chem., 14, 357 (2008); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jiec.2008.01.007
- C.Wang, X.Chen, X.Xiang, H.Zhang, Z.Huang, X.Huang, Z.Zhan. *Polymers*, **15**, 4589 (2023); https://doi.org/10.3390/polym15234589
- 379. X.Yan, M.Hou, L.Sun, D.Liang, Q.Shen, H.Xu, P.Ming, B.Yi. Int. J. Hydrogen Energy, **32**, 4358 (2007); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2007.06.024
- N.Baharlou Houreh, M.Ghaedamini, H.Shokouhmand,
 E.Afshari, A.H.Ahmaditaba. *Int. J. Hydrogen Energy*, 45, 4841 (2020); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2019.12.017
- F.Zhou, D.Singdeo, S.K.Kær. Fuel Cells, 19, 2 (2019); https://doi.org/10.1002/fuce.201700144
- J.Santana-Villamar, M.Espinoza-Andaluz, S.Echeverria, G.Cedeño, M.Andersson. *Electrochim. Acta*, 464, 142963 (2023); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.electacta.2023.142963
- E.E.Kahveci, I.Taymaz. *Int. J. Hydrogen Energy*, 47, 12293 (2022); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2021.09.119
- S.Dou, L.Hao, Q.Wang, H.Liu. *Appl. Energy*, **355**, 122211 (2024); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apenergy.2023.122211
- S.Li, B.Sundén. Int. J. Hydrogen Energy, 42, 27323 (2017); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2017.09.014
- E.Ogungbemi, T.Wilberforce, O.Ijaodola, J.Thompson, A.G.Olabi. Int. J. Energy Res., 45, 1227 (2021); https://doi.org/10.1002/er.5810
- 387. G.Karanfil. Int. J. Energy Res., 44, 4 (2020); https://doi.org/10.1002/er.4815
- 388. Y.Zhao, Y.Liu, G.Liu, Q.Yang, L.Li, Z.Gao. Int. J. Green Energy, **19**, 331 (2022);
- https://doi.org/10.1080/15435075.2021.1946812 389. K.Saka, M.F.Orhan. *Energy*, **258**, 124858 (2022); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.energy.2022.124858
- 390. Z.Tang, Q.-A.Huang, Y.-J.Wang, F.Zhang, W.Li, A.Li, L.Zhang, J.Zhang. J. Power Sources, 468, 228361 (2020); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpowsour.2020.228361
- 391. Y.H.Yang, Q.Lin, C.F.Zhang, G.Q.Li. Process Saf. Environ. Prot., 177, 1027 (2023); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psep.2023.07.044

- H.Q.Nguyen, B.Shabani. *Energy Convers. Manag.*, 204, 112328 (2020);
- https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enconman.2019.112328
 393. J.Xu, C.Zhang, Z.Wan, X.Chen, S.H.Chan, Z.Tu. *Renew.* Sustain. Energy Rev., 155, 111908 (2022); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2021.111908
- 394. J.Xu, C.Zhang, R.Fan, H.Bao, Y.Wang, S.Huang, C.S.Chin, C.Li. *Energy*, **199**, 117495 (2020); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.energy.2020.117495
- 395. M.Sajid Hossain, B.Shabani. J. Power Sources, 295, 275 (2015); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpowsour.2015.07.022
- 396. M.Ramezanizadeh, M.Alhuyi Nazari, M.Hossein Ahmadi, L.Chen. Int. J. Heat Mass Transf., 139, 517 (2019); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijheatmasstransfer.2019.05.032
- 397. R.Singh, A.Singh Oberoi, T.Singh. *Mater. Today Proc.*, (2023) (in the press); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.matpr.2023.01.135
- E.Alizadeh, S.M.Rahgoshov, M.Rahimi-Esbo, M.Khorshidian, S.H.M.Saadat. *Int. J. Hydrogen Energy*, 41, 8525 (2016); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2016.03.187
- 399. X.Xu, L.Zhang, S.Wang, D.Han, S.You, J.Zhou. Int. J. Hydrogen Energy, 49, 652 (2024); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2023.08.355
- S.M.Miri Joibary, S.M.Rahgoshay, M.Rahimi-Esbo, K.D.Firouzjaee. Int. J. Hydrogen Energy, 48, 2762 (2023); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2022.09.260
- 401. C.Zhao, B.Li, L.Zhang, Y.Han, X.Wu. *Renew. Energy*, **215**, 118899 (2023);
- https://doi.org/10.1016/j.renene.2023.06.020 402. J.C.Kurnia, B.A.Chaedir, A.P.Sasmito, T.Shamim. *Appl. Energy*, **283**, 116359 (2021);
- https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apenergy.2020.116359
 403. C.Zhao, S.Xing, W.Liu, M.Chen, H.Wang. *Renew. Energy*, 178, 1250 (2021);
- https://doi.org/10.1016/j.renene.2021.06.131
- 404. M.Peng, L.Chen, K.Gong, W.Tao. Appl. Therm. Eng., 236, 121614 (2024); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.applthermaleng.2023.121614
- 405. P.-L.Le, B.Singh, Y.-S.Chen, A.Arpornwichanop. *Int. J. Hydrogen Energy*, 46, 26507 (2021);
- https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2021.05.135
 406. A.De las Heras, F.J.Vivas, F.Segura, M.J.Redondo, J.M.Andújar. *Renew. Energy*, **125**, 1 (2018); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.renene.2018.02.077
- 407. C.D'Souza, M.Apicella, A.El-kharouf, E.Stamatakis, M.Khzouz, A.Stubos, E.I.Gkanas. *Int. J. Energy Res.*, 44, 11597 (2020); https://doi.org/10.1002/er.5785
- 408. J.Hou, M.Yang, C.Ke, J.Zhang. Appl. Energy, 269, 115059 (2020); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apenergy.2020.115059
- 409. P.Barnoon. Int. J. Thermofluids, 20, 100422 (2023); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijft.2023.100422
- 410. Y.Liu, Y.Zhao, Q.Yang, G.Liu, L.Li, Z.Gao. *Energy Sci. Eng.*, 10, 208 (2022); https://doi.org/10.1002/ese3.1023
- S.A.Atyabi, E.Afshari, C.Udemu. *Energy Convers. Manag.*, 268, 115970 (2022);
- https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enconman.2022.115970
 412. J.Lee, M.H.Gundu, N.Lee, K.Lim, S.W.Lee, S.S.Jang, J.Y.Kim, H.Ju. *Int. J. Hydrogen Energy*, 45, 11704 (2020); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2019.07.128
- A.Baroutaji, A.Arjunan, M.Ramadan, J.Robinson, A.Alaswad, M.A.Abdelkareem, A.-G.Olabi. *Int. J. Thermofluids*, 9, 100064 (2021); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijft.2021.100064
- 414. T.Salameh, M.Alkasrawi, A.G.Olabi, A.Al Makky, M.A.Abdelkareem. *Int. J. Thermofluids*, **20**, 100432 (2023); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijft.2023.100432
- 415. Q.Chen, G.Zhang, X.Zhang, C.Sun, K.Jiao, Y.Wang. *Appl. Energy*, **286**, 116496 (2021); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apenergy.2021.116496
- 416. L.Wang, Z.Quan, Y.Zhao, M.Yang, J.Zhang. *Appl. Therm. Eng.*, **214**, 118831 (2022); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.applthermaleng.2022.118831

 L.Wang, Z.Quan, Y.Zhao, M.Yang, H.Jing. *Appl. Therm. Eng.*, 219, 119531 (2023);

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.applthermaleng.2022.119531 418. J.Zhao, Q.Jian, Z.Huang. *Appl. Therm. Eng.*, **180**, 115847

- (2020); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.applthermaleng.2020.115847 419. A.Fly, R.H.Thring. *Int. J. Hydrogen Energy*, **41**, 14217 (2016);
- https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2016.06.089 420. R.Herrendörfer, M.Cochet, J.O.Schumacher. *Energies*, **15**, 2734 (2022); https://doi.org/10.3390/en15082734
- 421. E.J.Choi, J.Y.Park, M.S.Kim. *Appl. Therm. Eng.*, 148, 868 (2019); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.applthermaleng.2018.11.103
- 422. Q.Li, C.Wang, C.Wang, T.Zhou, X.Zhang, Y.Zhang, W.Zhuge, L.Sun. *Energy*, **266**, 126342 (2023); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.energy.2022.126342
- 423. M.H.S.Bargal, M.A.A.Abdelkareem, Q.Tao, J.Li, J.Shi, Y.Wang. *Alexandria Eng. J.*, **59**, 635 (2020); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aej.2020.02.005
- 424. T.L.Kösters, X.Liu, D.Kožulović, S.Wang, J.Friedrichs, X.Gao. Int. J. Hydrogen Energy, 47, 29399 (2022); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2022.06.235
- 425. A.Rafiq, K.Rishikesh, K.Vignarooban, A.M.Kannan. Int. J. Hydrogen Energy, 50, 1302 (2024); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2023.10.267
- 426. M.R.Islam, B.Shabani, G.Rosengarten. *Appl. Energy*, **178**, 660 (2016); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apenergy.2016.06.090
- 427. I.Zakaria, W.A.N.W.Mohamed, W.H.Azmi, A.M.I.Mamat, R.Mamat, W.R.W.Daud. *Int. J. Heat Mass Transf.*, **119**, 460 (2018);
- https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijheatmasstransfer.2017.11.137
- 428. T.Yoshizumi, H.Kubo, M.Okumura. Development of High-Performance FC Stack for the new MIRAI. SAE Technical Paper No. 2021-01-0740 (2021); https://doi.org/10.4271/2021-01-0740